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�

2019/20

Key events and performance overview

Rent uplift on renewals and relettings

10.5% 
 
Change in property value over calendar  
year 2020

-3.8% 
 
Loan to value ratio (LTV) at year end

43.8%
Cost savings in calendar year 2020  
compared to calendar year 2019

€8 million
EPRA sBPR Gold Award for the  
seventh year in a row

Gold Award
 
Direct investment result per depositary  
receipt for the calendar year 2020

€2.21

Vacancies at year end

1.6%
Disposals over past 18 months at  
around latest valuation

€300 million*

EPRA Net Tangible Assets per  
depositary receipt

€42.55
Reduction in deferred taxes due to  
fiscal step up in Italy

€100 million
Green Star status for the fifth consecutive  
year upgraded to 

four GRESB stars
 
Proposed dividend per depositary receipt

€0.50 + 1:18 scrip

*	 Includes the sale of Les Trois Dauphins.
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Eurocommercial Properties

We own and manage retail properties in Belgium, 
France, Italy and Sweden valued at €4 billion, attracting 
over 130 million visitors annually and confirming their 
importance to the communities they serve.

Belgium

Read more in country report Belgium

€589.8m
Property value

1
Property

p52

15%
of portfolio

France

€965.3m
Property value

11*

Properties

Read more in country report France p56

24%
of portfolio

*	 Before the sale of Les Trois Dauphins in March 2021.
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Italy

€1,580.2m
Property value

8
Properties

Read more in country report Italy p62

39%
of portfolio

Sweden

€901.3m
Property value

7
Properties

Read more in country report Sweden p68

22%
of portfolio
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Board of Management review

Eurocommercial endured an unprecedented  
year marked by the global COVID-19 pandemic  
and the retirement on 1 November 2020 of its 
founder and CEO, Mr Jeremy Lewis, yet both 
events highlighted the resilient characteristics  
and solid foundations of the Company. 

Jeremy’s passion, energy and commitment to 
Eurocommercial and its employees over the past 
three decades will be greatly missed by all but we 
are grateful for his legacy: a portfolio of 26* prime 
retail assets and 92 talented employees, without 
which the Company’s solid results during this  
health crisis would not have been possible.  
Our four countries and its broad range of high 
quality shopping centres are a reflection of  
Jeremy’s approach to investment diversification  
and property selection founded on sound 
economic research and market judgement.  
His professional and collegiate working practice 
was based on mutual trust and rewarded by  
long-serving and dedicated colleagues.

During the past year, our teams’ professionalism 
and hard work enabled us to reach high rent 
collection rates while keeping vacancies to minimal 
levels. In 2020, we signed a higher number of 
leases than in 2019 and relettings and renewals 
showed solid uplifts in rents (10.5%), in line with  
our long-term average. These strengths, together 
with our history of affordable rental levels have been 
recognised by our valuers through only a modest 
decline in our asset values.

Over the past 18 months, we have sold around 
€300 million of properties representing 8% of our 
portfolio at or close to book value, demonstrating 
that there remains a market for good retail assets. 
We are progressing with other sales with the aim of 
achieving a loan to value (LTV) ratio of under 40% in 
due course as part of our commitment to maintain 
a solid and healthy financial position. Most of our 
debt is in the form of straightforward individual 
mortgage loans with a wide range of banks with 
whom we have established long-term relationships. 

Ensuring rent 
sustainability while 

monitoring costs  
will be pivotal to  

our success.

*	 Excludes Les Trois Dauphins which was sold in March 2021.

Woluwe Shopping gallery.
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As a new management team, our priorities are 
clear. In a changing retail landscape, we want to 
accompany retailers’ portfolio transformation by 
working closely with them to our mutual benefit. 
Change is an opportunity to innovate and we 
constantly engage with our consumers to tailor 
our offer to their expectations. Ensuring rent 
sustainability while monitoring costs will be pivotal 
to our success. Building a sustainable and resilient 
business is the foundation of our long-term strategy. 
Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
strategy is fully aligned with these objectives, 
from our roadmap to reduce our footprint to our 
proposed improvements to our governance. 

Government lockdowns and trading restrictions 
continue to affect our business and retail sales 
during the first half of 2021 although there are 
various governmental rent support initiatives  
under consideration and expected to be 
announced shortly. Looking beyond the short-term 
uncertainties, we see the reopening of the economy 
in sight as vaccination continues to progress.  
Our fundamentals are still strong and we are 
confident that our business is well-prepared to  
re-emerge and will continue to create long-term 
value for our stakeholders.

Evert Jan van Garderen 
Peter Mills 
Roberto Fraticelli  

Board of Management

Evert Jan van Garderen 
Chief Executive Officer

Roberto Fraticelli 
Chief Financial Officer

Peter Mills  
Chief Investment Officer
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Strategy

Portfolio strategy

Eurocommercial is one of Europe’s most 
experienced owners and managers of retail 
property with a portfolio of around €4 billion 
comprising 26* prime assets in Belgium, France, 
Italy and Sweden. These countries have substantial 
depth to their markets providing portfolio diversity, 
while the reasons they were initially selected 
still stand: sound economic fundamentals, an 
established institutional property market, a broad 
retail tenant base, transparency, including tenant 
sales data and a reliable planning and legal 
framework. These countries also continue to 
provide opportunities for future expansion and 
growth so that our experienced country teams can 
leverage our historic market position, knowledge, 
contacts and our professional reputation among 
retailers, financing institutions and market operators.

Property selection
Eurocommercial has always employed a rigorous, 
research-led approach to its acquisitions which 
are focused on easily accessible, well-located retail 
properties that dominate their catchment areas.  
Our economic and research teams conduct detailed  
catchment studies concentrating on their current 
and prospective demographic and economic 
profiles. At the same time, care is taken to analyse 
and assess the current and future provision of retail 
space and competition in the catchment to ensure 
that the retail density is appropriate.

Rental levels are carefully reviewed to check they 
match tenant sales turnover which is declared 
monthly in all our centres. This allows the acquisition 
team to verify that the occupancy cost ratio (OCR) 
is at a level that will enable tenants to be profitable 
thereby not only underwriting a centre’s long-term, 
sustainable rental income, but also important 
in maintaining Eurocommercial’s historically low 
vacancy levels.

Our existing property portfolio reflects our approach 
to investment diversification. Our five “flagship” 
assets representing around half of the portfolio by 
value are located in three of our four countries:

•	Woluwe Shopping, Brussels

•	Passage du Havre, Paris

•	Carosello, Milan

•	Fiordaliso, Milan

•	 I Gigli, Florence

Above
Woluwe Shopping’s excellent transport links.

Left
The Carosello shopping centre in Carugate, Milan.

Eurocommercial’s strategy 
is based on rigorous 

economic and market 
research with country 
and property selection 

providing diversification.
Evert Jan van Garderen 

Chief Executive Officer

*	 Excludes Les Trois Dauphins which was sold in March 2021.
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tenants in difficulty at a moment when remedies 
can still be applied, thereby avoiding bankruptcy. 
Further information comes from our research  
and marketing teams who measure and analyse 
customer and tenant experience from regular 
surveys. Our centre management teams  
use these surveys and their local expertise as 
a reliable tool in order to constantly improve 
the shopping centres in terms of their outlook, 
environment, services, marketing and tenant mix. 
Our treasury and finance teams provide efficient 
management of the cash flow and financial needs 
of the properties, while our accounting teams are 
providers of timely information to improve returns 
and the financial management of the Company.

With most of our tenants operating omnichannel, 
we work with our retailers to customise their stores 
and our centres to improve the overall physical 
and digital experience for customers. As retailers 
rationalise their online administration, click & collect, 
logistics and returns, the efficient use of the store 
has become an integral part of the process. We have  
improved storage and drive-through stations for our 
hypermarkets which generally do not offer home 
delivery. Inside the centres we have installed click 
& collect facilities such as Amazon Lockers, InPost 
and Instabox delivery points.

Disposals
An important component of our asset management 
strategy are decisions on disposals of mature assets  
where value has been maximised and further growth  
potential may be limited compared to alternative  
investment opportunities. Since 2004, Eurocommercial’s  
active asset rotation programme has resulted in over  
€900 million of sales in Italy, France and Sweden, 
always achieved at or around their valuation.

These five “flagships” are all very well known and 
established regional shopping centres in their city 
catchments. They are also important destinations  
for an international tenant base (e.g. Primark, Inditex,  
H&M, Apple, Nike) as well as the largest national 
brands (e.g. Fnac, OVS, Inno).

The remainder of the portfolio are predominantly 
suburban shopping centres with more than half of 
their floor space devoted to everyday and essential 
retail providing consistent and regular footfall during 
the whole week. These centres are mainly located 
in important provincial cities in their countries and are  
characterised by their wealthy primary catchments 
and strategic road locations providing easy access  
and parking. These shopping centres are sufficiently  
large to be well represented by national and regional 
tenants in most retail sectors. They also provide their  
local communities with important amenities and an 
increasing range of services including health care 
and dentistry, fitness, hair and beauty salons etc. 

Portfolio management
Our asset management teams work to ensure 
that our centres remain fresh, modern and relevant 
through regular refurbishments, extensions and 
tenant rotation that are designed to increase footfall  
and add further value to the property. Extensions 
have enabled us to generate enhanced returns while  
also improving the shopping centre’s competitive 
position in its catchment and upgrading the offer 
and experience for our tenants and customers. 
Experienced development and technical 
expertise has been established in each of the local 
offices, allowing us to initiate, analyse and manage 
these projects in-house while also providing high 
standards of maintenance and presentation.  
They also help improve capital expenditure  
planning and identify ESG improvement targets.

Our leasing teams are in constant dialogue with 
the most important international, national and local 
retail and non-retail (i.e. health care, gyms and other 
services) groups, monitoring emerging trends and 
innovations in the retail world and often assisting 
and providing advice to new market entrants. 
Careful analysis of monthly sales turnover prepared 
by our rent collection teams provides information 
on which the teams are able to judge when and 
how to adjust tenant mix and identify potential 

Regular surveys are carried out to improve our customers’ shopping 
experience.
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Strategy continued

ESG strategy 

Eurocommercial believes that building a sustainable 
and resilient business is the foundation for long-term 
success. Our ESG and business strategies are 
carefully aligned and each business decision is 
approached with a long-term view supported 
by detailed research in order to evaluate its 
environmental and socio-economic impact. 

Each of our shopping centres offers its individual 
set of challenges and opportunities, yet we have 
developed a broad ESG vision and strategy to 
ensure that we can meet global challenges and 
future demands from our customers, tenants and 
employees, while creating sustainable centres. 
Our approach is articulated around three strategic 
pillars: Be green, Be engaged, Be responsible.

       
 

 

       

Be green  
     

Be green
Being green is the basis of our operations as we 
work to synchronise the mindset of all stakeholders 
in our communities, providing us with the opportunity 
to make changes to significantly reduce both our 
imprint and operational costs as we focus on the 
transition to a low carbon economy.

Eurocommercial aims to improve the environmental 
quality of its shopping centres by implementing 
standards and technologies to increase energy and 
water efficiency and waste recycling. We focus on 
gathering robust baseline energy data, ensuring we 
are compliant with regulations concerning building 
environmental management, while delivering 
reductions in service charge costs for our tenants 
through energy-efficient measures. Through our 
green leases documentation, we exchange ESG 
ambitions with our tenants. Wherever possible, 
we also prioritise the use of construction materials 
that are locally sourced, recycled and have a low 
environmental impact.

       
 

 

       
 

       B
e engaged    

Be engaged
We believe that engaging with our tenants, 
customers and local communities is essential for 
long-term success. We are in constant dialogue 
with our customers and tenants, carrying out 
regular surveys, and we listen and respond to their 
feedback to ensure that our centres evolve with the 
changing retail landscape. We have established  
and are expanding the Eurocommercial Retail 
Academy® working together with our tenants to 
improve sales technique and customer service, 
thereby improving the overall shopping experience.  
Our shopping centres form an integral part of 
their local communities, enhancing social and 
environmental values including the promotion of 
local employment, procurement, the improvement 
of local transport infrastructure, education, new 
services and the provision of green spaces  
and amenities.

       
 

 

       
 

     

    Be r
es

po
ns

ib
le

Be responsible
Our aim is to be an attractive and responsible 
employer while creating a workplace where our 
employees can thrive and develop professionally by 
providing them with a broad corporate and property 
experience and education supported by carefully 
targeted training programmes. We pride ourselves 
on our diversity and collegiate culture with our country 
teams fully engaged and working together, sharing 
best practices to achieve our common goals. 

A successful strategy recognised by many 
external awards
Eurocommercial is committed to report on its ESG 
performance every year and was recently awarded 
the EPRA Gold Award for sustainability reporting 
for a seventh consecutive year. Eurocommercial 
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However, we have also been monitoring the 
(convertible) bond market, which we could use 
to further diversify our debt structure. To date,  
bond market financing conditions have been  
less attractive than those offered by standard 
mortgage loans.

Financial discipline
The average committed unexpired term of our  
bank loans is nearly five years and the interest 
rate on the majority of our debt is fixed or hedged 
(75.8% at 31 December 2020). The loan to value 
ratio at year end on the basis of the proportionally 
consolidated balance sheet of the Company 
reduced to 43.8%, significantly below the 60% 
loan to value covenant agreed with banks at Group 
level. We aim at maintaining this rigorous financial 
discipline and are committed to reduce our loan to 
value ratio to below 40% in due course. Over the 
past ten years our LTV ratio has ranged between 
34.1% (2015) and 46.4% (2019). 

achieved its highest ever score of 83 in the 2020 
GRESB Assessment, a significant improvement 
from last year (+6 points). This result is both above 
the GRESB average and our peer group average. 
As a result Eurocommercial maintained its Green 
Star status for the fifth consecutive year, receiving 
four GRESB stars in 2020.

A transparent business aiming for  
improved governance
We recently surveyed our major shareholders 
and were reassured by their support for our 
investment strategy, our proposed management 
changes and our response to the COVID-19 crisis. 
A matter that attracted less enthusiasm, though, 
was our Stichting Administratiekantoor (STAK), 
which stems from our original dual listing in Sydney 
and Amsterdam. We are always sensitive to 
shareholders’ views and see this as an opportunity 
to further modernise our corporate governance. 
We therefore prepared a proposal for a change to 
the Company’s Articles of Association to include 
the abolishment of the depositary receipts and the 
winding up of STAK and will allow all shareholders 
and holders of depositary receipts to decide on the 
matter at the 2021 Annual General Meeting.

Financial strategy

Eurocommercial’s loan portfolio is primarily 
composed of mortgage loans secured against 
individual or groups of assets. These loans are 
mostly bilateral, allowing for a direct and long-term 
professional dialogue with the financing banks 
ensuring the necessary financing flexibility  
needed for a proactive management of the assets  
(i.e. extensions, refurbishments, unforeseen events). 
Our long-term financing contracts are secured  
by mortgages in favour of a group of more than  
15 different banks, with whom we have strong and 
long-standing lending relationships. This financing 
structure presents several advantages as it enables 
the Company to raise debt without exposing it 
to the volatility linked to the fixed income capital 
markets or to a possible rating downgrade. 

Loan to value and average interest rate 
of borrowings % 
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Property performance

Uplift on renewals and relettings 

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, leasing activity 
remained robust over 2020 with 277 leases renewed 
or re-let compared to 245 in 2019. Of these 277 deals,  
79 were relettings highlighting solid demand from 
new retailers to open in our centres. Leasing activity 
remained robust at the end of the year with 95 leases 
signed in Q4. Overall we achieved a 10.5% uplift on  
these relettings and renewals, demonstrating the strong 
demand from retailers to be represented in our centres. 

In Woluwe Shopping, Belgium, eight new leases were 
signed and three tenants renewed over the past  
12 months with an average uplift of 2.1%. Among these  
deals, we have succeeded in attracting premium 
brands which are usually not represented in shopping  
centres such as Maje, K-Way and Jott. The beauty 
sector has also been strengthened by the transfer of 
Rituals to a larger unit, allowing the brand to set up  
its new flagship store format in Brussels. 

Valuers recognised the low 
vacancy levels and robust 
tenant demand across the 
portfolio providing solid 

foundations for stable 
rental income. There was 
selective retail investment 

appetite in France and 
Sweden where  

we successfully completed  
€100 million of disposals 
over the last six months.

Peter Mills 
Chief Investment Officer

In France, the leasing team completed 32 lease 
renewals and re-lettings over the last 12 months with 
an average uplift of 6.0%. We signed a lease with  
a medical practice in MoDo and with Blackstore,  
a new Intersport group brand who have opened in  
Les Atlantes. 

In Italy, relettings and renewals of 131 leases together 
produced an average increase in rent of 16.6%. 
Several new international brands were established in 
our centres including The North Face, Nike, Adidas 
and Starbucks, while we also saw an increased 
presence of existing international tenants including 
Primark, Inditex, H&M, Hollister and JD Sports. 

In Sweden, we completed 103 lease renewals and 
re-lettings producing an overall average uplift in rent 
of 4.2%. At Valbo, H&M, New Yorker and Hemtex 
opened new stores. At Elins Esplanad, following the 
re-location of Cassels last year there were new store 
openings for H&M and Nordic Wellness, a major gym 
operator who have also opened in Bergvik. Clas Ohlson  
is an important addition to Ingelsta Shopping and 
opened its new store in February 2021. 

Renewals and relettings, 12 months to  
31 December 2020

Number of 
relettings and 

renewals

Average rental 
uplift on relettings 

and renewals

Percentage of 
leases relet and 
renewed (MGR)

Overall 277 10.5% 15%

Belgium 11 2.1% 8%

France 32 6.0% 6%

Italy 131 16.6% 18%

Sweden 103 4.2% 23%

Uplift on renewals/relettings

5%

0%
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25%

20%

15%
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Property valuations 

Eurocommercial’s properties were independently 
valued at 31 December 2020 by major international 
firms in accordance with the standards set out in 
the “Red Book” of The Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors. The change in values of the properties 
since June 2020 and December 2019 are set out in 
the table below, together with their net yields. The net  
yield figures are derived by dividing expected net 
income for the coming year by the valuation figure, 
to which has been added the relevant standardised 
market allowance for deemed purchaser’s costs 
(usually notional transfer taxes) in the particular 
country. The objective is to replicate the calculations 
of a professional institutional investor. 

Overall the valuations declined by 3.8% over the 
year and by 0.9% since the properties were last 
independently valued on 30 June 2020. The overall 
decline in values resulted from higher initial yields or 
exit yields (depending on valuation methodology) and 
more conservative estimated rental values (ERVs). 
The valuers generally recognised the low vacancy 
levels in the portfolio and future income security 
supported by steady tenant demand and rent 
affordability. 

In France, excluding the prime, mixed use central 
Paris asset, Passage du Havre (initial yield 3.75%),  
the overall initial yield on the remaining, predominantly 
suburban and provincial shopping centre portfolio  
was 5.3%. 

In Italy, the exit yields used by the valuers in their 
cashflow models increased by over 20 basis 
points to 5.7%. The initial yield of 5.2% reflects the 
temporary lower net operating income before the 
rents from the projects at I Gigli and Fiordaliso come 
on stream. 

In Sweden, the valuers identified relevant comparable 
transactions in all segments of the retail market 
including shopping centres (Farsta Centre). With normal  
market conditions prevailing in the transactional and 
occupational markets, and with shopping centres 
open and trading well, the Swedish valuers removed 
the material valuation uncertainty clauses which they 
had inserted in their June valuations. 

The valuation of Woluwe Shopping in Belgium was 
down by 6% over the year, mainly the result of an 
increase in yield and a downward adjustment in ERVs.

Property valuation change and yields

Net value* Valuation change Net initial yield

31 December 2020
€ million

From
31 December 2019

From
30 June 2020 31 December 2020

Overall 4,037 -3.8%   -0.9% 5.0%

Belgium 590 -6.0% -1.2% 4.2%

France 965 -4.4% -1.3% 5.0%

Italy 1,580 -3.7% -0.5% 5.2%

Sweden 901 -1.6% -1.1% 5.0%

*	 Values may not add up due to rounding.
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Property performance continued

Vacancy levels and disposals 

EPRA vacancy levels
Our strong leasing activity during this unprecedented 
difficult time allowed us to keep our vacancy rate 
down at very low levels as they have been over the 
last 20 years. EPRA vacancy for the portfolio at 
31 December 2020 represented 1.6%. Vacancy by 
lettable area was 1.3%.

31 Dec 2019 30 June 2020 31 Dec 2020

Overall 1.0% 1.4% 1.6%

Belgium 0.4% 1.1% 1.0%

France 1.8% 2.1% 2.3%

Italy 0.5% 0.8% 1.3%

Sweden 0.6% 1.7% 1.7%

Moraberg retail park sold in September 2020. Bronsen retail park sold in December 2020. The sale of Les Trois Dauphins was completed on 
25 March 2021.

SOLD SOLD SOLD

Vacancy rate

0.5%

0%
Dec-11

2.0%

1.5%

1.0%

Dec-12 Dec-13 Dec-14 Dec-15 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19Dec-16
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Dec-20

footfall Sales

Long term vacancy levels

Disposals
Over the past 18 months we sold around €300 million of assets amounting to 8% of our portfolio at prices at or 
close to their latest valuation. In September 2019, we disposed of 50% of Passage du Havre. In September 2020, 
we sold the Moraberg retail park and in December 2020, we sold the Bronsen retail park in Sweden and signed 
an agreement to sell Les Trois Dauphins in France. The sale of this French property was completed on 25 March 
2021 and the proceeds were used to repay the bank loan on the property of €20 million with the remaining cash 
to be used for working capital purposes.
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Our response to the COVID-19 pandemic 

We responded quickly and fairly to the pandemic 
providing appropriate financial assistance to our  
tenants on a case-by-case basis.

The operations of Eurocommercial’s shopping 
centres were severely impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic which spread throughout Europe 
from early 2020. Measures to contain the virus 
comprised a series of lockdowns and government 
restrictions including the closure or partial closure  
of the Group’s retail assets.

Government restrictions and closures  
in 2020

The first lockdown occurred during spring 2020 
when our shopping centres were closed for 
around two months from mid-March in Belgium, 
France and Italy. During this period non-essential 
retail was closed while everyday shops including 
hypermarkets and pharmacies remained open. The 
only country which was not affected by lockdowns 
was Sweden where all shopping centres remained 
open throughout 2020, although footfall was initially 
reduced in response to health authority guidelines 
on social distancing and public gatherings. 

Retail fully reopened in our markets by mid-May 
with the exception of some food & beverage and 
entertainment.

After the summer, a second round of closures 
started following an increase in cases of COVID-19 
that spread throughout Europe from September.  
In Belgium and France, the closure of restaurants 
in late October was followed by national lockdowns 
during November which were slightly more flexible 
than the first one with more stores able to stay open 
and click & collect activities permitted. Reopenings 
occurred in time for the busy Christmas trade. 

The Italian government put in place a colour-coded 
restriction scheme which was reviewed weekly.  
This put more restrictions on shopping centres  
and restaurants than on city centre retail, with 
limitations on openings at weekends and around 
public holidays.

In 2020, our shopping centres were closed for  
2.4 months on average.

Health and safety first priority

During the pandemic period our first priority was 
to ensure the health and safety of employees, 
customers, retailers and suppliers in all our assets 
and Group offices. Working together with our 
tenants and the authorities, we made sure that  
our shopping centres were and remain safe 
places for our visitors to shop, providing regular 
cleaning and disinfection of public areas and 
installing alcohol-based hand sanitiser dispensers 
at the entrances and throughout the centres. 
The communication and signage in the shopping 
centres focused on clear guidance for visitors to 
illustrate the latest regulations on social distancing, 
routing of pedestrian flows and queuing.

Free COVID-19 screening at Il Castello.
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Footfall and sales

Retail sales and footfall suffered during both 
lockdown periods when our shopping centres 
only remained open for essential shopping, 
principally hypermarkets and pharmacies. The 
period in between the lockdowns saw a rapid 
rebound in both footfall and sales supported by the 
summer staycations. During this period retail sales 
reached pre-pandemic levels and while fashion, 
shoes and restaurants generally suffered, other 
sectors recovered well including health & beauty, 
household, consumer electronics and sport. 

With a shopping centre portfolio heavily anchored 
on food outlets (31 units representing 32% of 
gross lettable area (GLA)) and other everyday 
necessities, the strong recovery in turnover was 
most pronounced in our suburban and provincial 
shopping centres, where people were both living 
and working with easy access and free parking 
being important factors. Public transport makes 
an important contribution to footfall at Passage du 
Havre (Paris) and Woluwe (Brussels), and these 
assets therefore took slightly longer to recover.

The Swedish portfolio performed more consistently 
throughout the whole of 2020, being fully open and 
trading, and their strong provision of daily goods, 
particularly hypermarkets and Systembolaget 
(the state liquor monopoly) helped keep footfall 
consistently high, dropping by only 10% year-on-year.  
Retail sales were also strong, reaching comparable 
levels to 2019 between July and October. 

Value and discount retailers have also generally 
flourished during the pandemic and were 
responsible for the positive sales growth in our  
retail parks at Chasse-sur-Rhône, Moraberg  
and Bronsen.

Tenant support

Rent support was provided on a case-by-case 
basis and within frameworks set by governments 
or agreed between the country organisations 
representing shopping centre owners and retailers. 
The general principle we adopted was to be fair 
and reasonable and to share the financial burden. 
We initiated discussions early, and this assisted 
the process, and we reached agreements quickly 
with most tenants, helping their liquidity position 
and ensuring steady and full rates of rent collection 
during the year.

Footfall and sales fully recovered when stores reopened in 2020 

40%

20%

0%
Jan

100%

80%

60%

Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

40%

20%

0%

100%

80%

60%

% of open stores Footfall Sales

Note: footfall and sales as a % of 2019 excluding food & beverage and entertainment.

Stores reopening with restrictionsPre-COVID First lockdown Second lockdown

Our response to the COVID-19 pandemic continued
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The Swedish government introduced a rent 
support initiative for Q2 which provided that if a 
landlord offered a qualifying tenant a rent discount 
of up to 50%, then within certain parameters the 
government would refund the landlord half the 
discount. The Italian government put in place 
a tax credit system to assist tenants during the 
lockdowns, while the French government provided 
different levels of rent support depending on a 
retailer’s number of employees. The agreements 
reached with our tenants were limited to rent 
support and monthly payments. There was no 
revision to the lease terms which have remained 
intact, in particular the minimum guaranteed 
rents (MGRs), thereby providing income security 
going forward. In our negotiations for the second 
lockdown we managed to negotiate some 
important improvements to the leases, including 
extending the term, removing break options or 
increasing the turnover rent percentage. By the  
end of 2020, we had collected 87% of invoiced  
rent and 95% of rent excluding discounts. 

Governments also heavily supported their 
economies with various stimulus packages, 
while our retailers benefited directly from specific 
government measures including tax relief, partial 
work schemes, grants and loans.

We will come out of the pandemic period with 
our long-term, professional relationships with our 
tenants still intact. We have assisted them where 
appropriate not only financially, but by being 
receptive to their views and requests on issues 
including monthly payment of rent, shorter and 
more flexible opening hours and general support 
and advice on health and safety in the shopping 
centres to protect their staff and customers.  
Where possible we also helped to reduce their 
outgoings by limiting marketing expenses and 
service charge costs. 

Rent collection after discounts reached 95%
Total rent 

concessions 
2020 

(€ million)

% of invoiced  
rent collection 

2020

% of due and 
collectable

rent collected
2020*

Belgium 3.7 87% 97%

France 6.6 87% 92%

Italy 10.9 83% 95%

Sweden 2.8 94% 98%

Total 24.0 87% 95%

*	 Due and collectable rent: invoiced rent excluding concessions granted.

A COVID-safe environment for our customers.

Hand sanitising station at Passage du Havre.
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Financial review

Our balance sheet has 
shown good resilience 

to the effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Further property 
sales, all of them at or 

around book value, 
helped keep the loan 

to value ratio at a 
reasonable 43.8%.  
We are considering 
more sales to reduce 

the current loan  
to value ratio  
even further.

Roberto Fraticelli  
Chief Financial Officer

Financial – Results Summary 2020
Includes joint ventures 2019/20** 2018/19

Rental income (€m)* 320.2 217.5

Net rental income (€m)* 252.9 178.6

Direct investment result (€m) 167.6 120.2

Direct investment result per 
depositary receipt (€) 3.40 2.42

Dividend per depositary  
receipt (€)

0.50 + 
1:18 scrip 2.18

IFRS profit after taxation (€m) 108.6 74.6

Adjusted net asset value  
per depositary receipt (€) 42.84 44.83

IFRS net asset value per 
depositary receipt (€) 38.17 38.49

Net loan to property value* 43.8% 46.4%

Average interest cost,  
including margins 2.1% 2.1%

*	 Based on proportional consolidation.

**	 The figures are based on an 18 month reporting period.

I Gigli gallery.
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Overview

In a period when the COVID-19 pandemic had 
a significant impact on economies all over the 
world, Eurocommercial continued with its policy 
of strengthening its balance sheet and securing 
resources for the active management of its  
retail portfolio. 

During this financial reporting period Eurocommercial 
sold assets at or around book value for a total 
amount of around €300 million, representing 8% 
of its portfolio. €150 million of these proceeds were 
used to repay existing loans. This helped to reduce 
the Company’s loan to value (LTV) ratio from 46.4% 
in June 2019 to 43.8% in December 2020, with 
more disposals planned in the coming period. 

The other focus area for this financial reporting 
period was cost reductions both for the Company, 
to partially compensate for the loss of income 
derived from the COVID-19 rent concessions, and 
to support our tenants through the reduction of 
service charge expenses.

As at March 2021 the situation around the COVID-19  
pandemic was still uncertain, with governments  
all over Europe still adopting restrictive measures.  
Therefore in our press release of 26 March 2021, 
we proposed a combined dividend of €0.50 cash 
per depositary receipt and one new depositary 
receipt for each 18 depositary receipts held.

Funding

Eurocommercial’s loan portfolio is primarily 
composed of mortgage loans secured against 
individual or groups of assets, which are usually 
entered into by the Company’s local subsidiaries 
directly owning the properties in the various 
countries, under contracts governed by local laws. 
In some jurisdictions, mortgage loans also allow 
for the full fiscal deductibility of interest expenses. 
Some of these mortgage loans are entered at a 
fixed rate, while others are at a variable rate, but are 
mostly covered by interest rate swaps to hedge the 
risk related to changes in the interest rate.

Our long-term financing contracts are secured 
by mortgages in favour of a group of more than 
15 Belgian, Dutch, French, German, Italian and 
Nordic specialist real estate financing banks, with 
whom we have strong and long-standing lending 
relationships, ensuring diversity of access to  
finance among lenders and across different 
geographies. Bank covenants for all long-term 
financing arrangements have been agreed, also  
at local asset level, which can be a LTV ratio, 
interest cover ratio or a debt service ratio 
or a combination thereof, all related to the 
performance of the local property. 

Lenders’ share by country (%) 

Netherlands

Germany

Italy

Nordics

France

28%

6%

29%

27%

19%

Eurocommercial’s bank loans have an average 
committed unexpired term of nearly five years.  
76% of our interest expenses are fixed or hedged, 
with an average hedging period of just over six 
years. The average interest rate decreased slightly 
to 1.9% as per 31 December 2020 from 2.0% 
reported as per 30 June 2020. The Company’s 
interest expenses are expected to remain stable  
for the coming period.

The LTV ratio decreased to 43.8% at 31 December 
2020 compared to 45.5% as per 30 June 2020 and 
44.0% as per 31 December 2019, mainly thanks 
to the proceeds from the sales of Moraberg and 
Bronsen in Sweden and the collected rent, and is 
well below the 60% Group’s LTV ratio covenant 
agreed with the financing banks. The LTV ratio 
is calculated on the basis of the proportionally 
consolidated balance sheet of the Company  
as per 31 December 2020 (after deducting 
purchaser’s costs).
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Financial review continued

 
Loan to value (LTV) (%)

40.0

41.0

42.0

43.0

44.0

45.0

46.0 45.7

43.3

44.0

41.8

43.8

41.5

31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2020

Proportional consolidation
Including purchaser costs and using IFRS balance sheet

For comparison purposes, the Group’s loan to  
value ratio as per 31 December 2020 calculated 
adding back purchaser’s costs is 42.6% on a 
proportional consolidation basis and is 41.5%  
on an IFRS consolidation basis including the fair 
value of the investments in joint ventures.

Funding activities in this financial  
reporting period

In November 2019, holders of depositary receipts 
(DRs) representing 12.1% of the issued share capital 
opted to take up 395,442 bonus DRs at an issue 
price of €32.70 from the Company’s share premium 
reserve, instead of a cash dividend of €2.18  
(2018: €2.15) per depositary receipt for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2019. Accordingly, of the 
possible dividend of €106.6 million, an amount of 
€12.9 million was not paid out in cash. The total 
number of depositary receipts outstanding at the 
end of November 2019 rose to 49,402,758 with  
a further 506,924 depositary receipts held in 
treasury. This position is unchanged as per  
31 December 2020.

In the first quarter of 2020, the Company entered 
into three new loan agreements. In Italy, the existing 
bank loan with Monte dei Paschi di Siena financing 
the shopping centre Collestrada in Perugia was 
extended for nine years and the principal of the 
loan was increased from €40 million to €72 million. 

Furthermore, two new short-term loans were 
concluded, one with ING for an amount of  
€35 million and another one with BNP Paribas  
for an amount of €30 million. 

In July 2020, the Italian subsidiaries of the Company 
entered into two new state guaranteed bank loans, 
one for €5.5 million with Banca Popolare di Milano 
for the 50/50 joint venture in Fiordaliso and one for 
€21.5 million with Banca Intesa Sanpaolo, both for a 
term of three years and at market price conditions. 
The drawn down funds have to be used for working 
capital purposes within the Italian group companies.

In December 2020, Eurocommercial renewed two 
loans for a combined €60 million. A €39 million loan, 
financing the Samarkand shopping centre in Växjö, 
Sweden, was renewed with Nordea by way of  
a green loan expiring in July 2023. A €21 million 
loan with UBI Banca, financing the retail park  
of the Fiordaliso shopping centre in Milan, Italy  
(owned in a 50/50 joint venture) was extended  
until 2024.

In April 2021, the Company extended three  
existing loans with ABN AMRO for a total amount 
of €100 million expiring in July 2021 for a period of 
three years.

 
Non-current borrowings maturity and 
amortisation schedule at year end (€m)
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Notwithstanding the difficult environment due to  
COVID-19, the Company has been able to reduce  
its net debt by €150 million in this financial reporting 
period, with a positive effect on its interest 
expense. In the calendar year 2020, in fact, the 

total interest expenses, on the basis of proportional 
consolidation, were €42.6 million, a decrease of 
€1.7 million compared to the previous calendar year 
(€44.3 million).

Direct investment result, EPRA earnings and IFRS profit after taxation

Comparative table of direct investment result* and EPRA earnings**

(€’000)

18 months 
ended 

12/31/2020

12 months 
ended 

31/12/2020

12 months  
ended 

31/12/2019

12 months 
ended 

30/06/2019

Rental income  303,627  200,736  207,859  206,343 

Service charge income  43,654  27,059  28,826  27,934 

Service charge expenses  (50,023)  (30,778)  (32,706)  (31,085)

Property expenses  (59,627)  (42,358)  (34,543)  (34,764)

Interest income  35  20  37  32 

Interest expenses  (63,920)  (42,608)  (44,361)  (44,318)

Company expenses  (18,042)  (11,384)  (13,633)  (13,766)

Other income  5,155  3,628  3,068  2,877 

Current tax  (793)  340  (882)  118 

Direct investment result including  
non-controlling interest  160,066  104,655  113,665  113,371 

Direct investment result joint ventures  11,059  7,238  7,324  6,837 

Direct investment result non-controlling interests  (3,525)  (2,747)  (778) –

Direct investment result attributable  
to owners of the Company  167,600  109,146  120,211  120,208 

Per depositary receipt (€)***

Direct investment result per depositary receipt  3.40  2.21  2.43  2.42 

Adjustment to calculate EPRA earnings:

Investment expenses – pension costs  162  403  (774)  (1,389)

Investment expenses – JV  (13)  (9)  (8)  (8)

EPRA earnings  167,749  109,540  119,429  118,811 

Per depositary receipt (€)***

EPRA Earnings per depositary receipt  3.40 2.22 2.42 2.40

*	� The direct investment result is defined as net property income less net interest expenses and company expenses after taxation. In the view of the Board 
this more accurately represents the underlying profitability of the Company than IFRS “profit after tax”, which must include unrealised capital gains  
and losses.

**	� EPRA earnings is a measure of the underlying operating performance of an investment property company excluding fair value gains, investment property 
disposals, and limited other items considered as non-core activities for an investment property company.

***	�The Company’s shares are listed in the form of depositary receipts on Euronext Amsterdam and Brussels. One depositary receipt represents ten shares. 
The average number of depositary receipts on issue during the 18 month period was 49,302,982 compared with 49,402,758 for the 12 months to  
31 December 2020, 49,420,414 for the 12 months to 31 December 2019 and 49,585,907 for the 12 months to 30 June 2019.
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Financial review continued

The direct investment result attributable to the 
owners of the Company for the 18 month reporting 
period to 31 December 2020 was €167.6 million. 
For the calendar year 2020, the direct investment 
result was €109.1 million compared to €120.2 million 
for the calendar year 2019. 

The direct investment result per depositary receipt 
for the 18 month reporting period to 31 December 
2020 was €3.40. The direct investment result  
per depositary receipt for the 12 months to  
31 December 2020 declined to €2.21 from  
€2.43 for the 12 months to 31 December 2019. 

The EPRA earnings result for the 18 month 
reporting period to 31 December 2020 was  
€167.7 million, or €3.40 per depositary receipt.  
For the calendar year 2020, the EPRA earnings 
result was €109.5 million compared to €119.4 million 
for the calendar year 2019.

These lower results were mainly due to discounts 
granted to retailers related to the COVID-19 
pandemic, to a higher provision for bad debts as a 
result of tenant insolvencies and, to a lesser extent, 
to the sales of properties in France and Sweden. 
Altogether we granted rent concessions related to 

the COVID-19 pandemic for €24.0 million, of which 
€16.1 million was included as a reduction of net 
property income in 2020 with the remaining amount 
to be amortised in accordance with IFRS 16 over 
the remaining terms of the leases or until the first 
tenant break option.

These negative impacts were partly offset by 
increased rental income derived from extension 
projects, from the Woluwe Shopping full contribution 
and from cost savings, including reduced interest 
expenses, lower marketing, staff and travelling 
expenses as well as lower local taxes.

The IFRS profit after taxation attributable to 
owners of the Company for the 18 month  
reporting period to 31 December 2020 was 
€115.4 million (€2.34 per depositary receipt). 
For the calendar year 2020, the IFRS profit after 
taxation was €50.3 million (€1.02 per depositary 
receipt) compared to €115.0 (€2.32 per depositary 
receipt) for the calendar year 2019. This reduction 
was largely due to a negative revaluation of the 
investment property portfolio in 2020 for an amount 
of €162.7 million (2019: €7.7 million positive) which 
was partly offset by a positive movement in deferred 
tax of €100.7 million (2019: €1.6 million positive). 

 
Direct result impacted by COVID-19 pandemic (€m)
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This positive movement is the result of a fiscal 
step up of the Company’s Italian entities’ assets, 
which implies a realignment of the fiscal values of 
the tangible and intangible assets to their market 
values. As a consequence the deferred tax liabilities 
relevant to the Italian assets have been reduced 
to zero and a deferred tax asset of €25 million has 
been recorded. This step up was made mostly at 
a 3% substitute tax rate (compared to the 24% or 
27.9% standard Italian corporate tax rates), resulting 
in a tax payable amount of €13.8 million to be paid 
in the financial year 2021 and €18.6 million to be 
paid in the next two years. It is expected to recover 
these amounts in a short period of time through the 
tax savings the Company will incur in Italy thanks to  
the increased fiscally deductible depreciation. 

The IFRS net property income for the 18 month 
reporting period to 31 December 2020, after 
deducting net service charges and direct and 
indirect property expenses (branch overheads), was 
€237.6 million, (€154.7 million for the calendar year 
2020 and €169.4 million for the calendar year 2019). 

Net asset value

The adjusted net asset value at 31 December 2020  
was €42.84 per depositary receipt compared with  
€42.73 at 30 June 2020 and €43.89 at 31 December  
2019. Adjusted net asset values do not consider 
contingent capital gains tax liabilities nor do they 
consider the fair value of financial derivatives  
(mainly interest rate swaps) which are used to 
stabilise interest costs. 

EPRA Net Tangible Assets (NTA) per depositary 
receipt at 31 December 2020 was €42.55 
compared to €41.84 at 31 December 2019, and 
€42.67 at 30 June 2019. 

The IFRS net asset value at 31 December 2020,  
after allowing for contingent capital gains tax  
liabilities if all properties were to be sold simultaneously  
and the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts, 
was €38.17 per depositary receipt compared 
with €35.41 at 30 June 2020 and €37.80 at  
31 December 2019. The increase in IFRS net asset 
value is mainly attributed to the fiscal step up in Italy.

Dividend proposal

Eurocommercial Properties N.V. is a Dutch fiscal 
investment institution (FBI) in accordance with 
section 28 of the Dutch Act on Corporate Income 
Tax. One of the conditions of the FBI status is 
the requirement to distribute the taxable result 
as a dividend to its shareholders and holders of 
depositary receipts within eight months after the 
balance sheet date. Such distribution can be made 
either in cash or in shares/depositary receipts or a 
combination thereof.

Eurocommercial Properties N.V. also has the French 
SIIC status, which means that there is no French 
corporate income tax due if the investment results 
are distributed to the shareholders and holders of 
depositary receipts. Due to capital gains resulting 
from past property sales and a small operational 
result, the Company has a dividend distribution 
obligation to maintain its SIIC status. This obligation 
can also be met either by payment of a dividend 
in cash or in shares/depositary receipts or a 
combination thereof.

For the 18 month period ended 31 December 2020, 
the dividend to be distributed by the Company prior 
to 31 August 2021 in accordance with the FBI rules 
and the SIIC rules is €107 million.

The Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board propose to pay a dividend of €0.50 per 
depositary receipt in cash and to pay a mandatory 
scrip dividend of one new depositary receipt 
per 18 existing depositary receipts in order to 
meet the fiscal distribution obligations for both 
the Company’s FBI status and the Company’s 
SIIC status. The mandatory scrip dividend will 
help the Company to preserve its strong balance 
sheet, a prudent measure especially when taking 
into account the ongoing uncertainties related to 
the COVID-19 virus pandemic and the restrictive 
measures put in place by the different European 
governments both in the years 2020 and 2021.  
The Boards believe it is appropriate to determine 
the future dividend policy once the full effects 
related to the pandemic can be better assessed.

The dividend payment date will be Friday 2 July 2021.
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Tenants and merchandising mix

Broad range of retailersMerchandising mix per sector

%

Hypermarket 31.9

Fashion 23.9

Home Goods 8.3

Food – Restaurants 6.0

Sport 5.8

Telecom & Electrical 5.4

Services 4.5

Health & Beauty 3.9

Shoes 2.8

Cinema 1.7

Non-retail Assets  
(Office/Residential/Hotel) 1.7

Department store 1.3

Gifts & Jewellery 1.3

Books & Toys 1.2

Systembolaget 0.4

 Essential Retail* +  Everyday Retail 55%

Hypermarket*

Systembolaget*

Health & Beauty

Books & Toys

Services

Home Goods

Telecom & Electrical

 Non-essential Retail 43%

Department store

Fashion

Shoes

Gifts & Jewellery

Food – Restaurants

Cinema

 Non-retail assets: 2%

Non-retail Assets  
(Office/Residential/Hotel)

Non Daily Retail  42.70%
Every Day Retail 23.30%
Essential Retail 32.40%
Non Retail 1.70%

Figures may not add up due to rounding.

NB: Also includes parts of shopping centres not owned by Eurocommercial.

Floor Area 
%

Floor Area 
%
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Top 20 retail tenants

% of total Eurocommercial rental income
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Retail landscape

We are adapting our shopping centres and stores in 
response to evolving consumer needs and technology.

Research is an integral part of our business.  
We constantly monitor market trends and conduct 
retailer and consumer surveys to gather feedback in 
order to anticipate and adapt to changing consumer 
needs. The role of stores and shopping centres 
is evolving and we are adapting and diversifying 
our offering to accompany this transformation 
and accommodate changing consumer lifestyles. 
As online sales continue to grow, we believe it is 
crucial to provide consumers with a seamless and 
enjoyable experience between their use of digital 
and physical retail.

The changing role of shopping centres

Over the past decade, new technologies have 
transformed consumer lifestyles and buying 
behaviour. Consumers are better informed (price 
comparison, customer reviews), have wider choices  
(search engines, multichannel distribution), greater 
social conscience (sourcing of materials, plastic 
use, sustainable mobility) and are more connected 

(online purchases, mobile payments and social 
media networks). As an owner of shopping centres, 
we are monitoring this evolution and are in constant 
dialogue with our tenants and consumers to 
understand how we can adapt and respond to 
these changing patterns. This means adapting the 
tenant mix, introducing more convenience products 
and services and innovative concepts. 

Retailers are also adapting and responding to these 
changes by rationalising their estate, resizing and 
reorganising stores and innovating to provide a 
broad omnichannel experience. Eurocommercial’s 
teams are in constant dialogue with them to 
understand and accompany their transformation. 
Our partnership with H&M in Sweden is a good 
illustration of how by working closely with our 
tenants, we are able to deliver new and successful 
store formats to our mutual benefit. This successful 
transformation was also implemented in three H&M 
stores in our Italian centres (Cremona Po, Fiordaliso, 
I Gigli) and in Woluwe Shopping.

We added 15 optician stores to our portfolio in 2020.
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Interview with Alexander Appelsved, Head of Leasing, Sweden

The establishment 
of five full concept 
H&M stores has 

strengthened the 
commercial appeal 

of our shopping 
centres to a broader 

catchment.

H&M Home at Elins Esplanad.

With the growth of e-commerce, omnichannel 
retailers are reviewing their store format and 
rationalising and adapting their portfolio while 
reconfiguring their supply chain. In Sweden, 
Eurocommercial worked closely with H&M in order 
to introduce their latest full-concept format in five of 
its seven centres. Since then H&M has been closing 
some of their older stores in competing locations, 
further strengthening our centres.

Why do you think H&M chose 
Eurocommercial’s shopping centres  
for their full-concept stores?

H&M understands that they still need to have  
a physical presence, but not as many shops  
as before. They also wanted to introduce their 
larger format including H&M Home which is  
more suited to current consumers’ aspirations.  
They approached us several years ago and we 
started discussions as they were already present 
in all our shopping centres, considered as the 
number one shopping destination in our cities.
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Retail landscape continued

What was your commercial rationale for 
developing the full-concept H&M stores? 

The decision was a commercial judgement on 
the strength of H&M’s leading position in the 
Swedish market and the lack of major international 
competition. We saw an opportunity to enhance the 
attractiveness of our centres by offering the latest 
concept to our customers while securing H&M as  
a long-term tenant in our centres. 

What were the challenges?

There were several challenges, but the biggest  
one was to provide the exact space required by 
H&M who were typically asking for units of between 
2,500m² and 3,000m², approximately twice  
the size of their existing stores in our centres.  
The other challenge was to create a 40 metre 
frontage. We achieved this frontage by identifying 
opportunities in projects and extensions, and in two 
instances we took space back from hypermarkets. 
This had the advantage of providing the correct 
configuration in space which was already let at low 
rents and therefore helped the financial feasibility  
of the conversion to the new H&M stores. 

What are the first results?

It is too early to have a full picture, especially with 
the current pandemic. We only opened the full-
concept stores in Elins, Hallarna and Valbo during 
2020 while Bergvik opened in 2019 and C4 in 
2018. However, the first results are encouraging. 
Customers are very excited about the opening 
of the Home section, which caters for more 
spontaneous shopping. Offering novelty and the 
latest concept provides further reasons for our 
existing customers to regularly visit the centre  
and has also brought new visitors, increasing  
our penetration in the catchment.

H&M also invested in their stores demonstrating 
their long-term commitment to the centre. 
Meanwhile H&M have been closing older store 
formats in the city centres of Kristianstad, Halmstad 
and Skövde leaving our stores in C4, Hallarna and 
Elins as their only ones in the catchment and further 
securing our shopping centre as the leading retail 
destination in the region.

Do you expect the trend to continue in  
the future?

Together with H&M we will be investigating the 
possibility to expand the remaining two H&M stores 
in our portfolio in Grand Samarkand and Ingelsta 
Shopping but it will take time because our centres 
are fully let! We will hopefully find a solution in future 
extension projects currently under investigation in 
these centres. 

Some other major brands already have a policy 
of one store per catchment, and we see other 
retailers following this same consolidation process, 
closing stores and concentrating in one location. 
We see all our seven centres as consolidation hubs, 
but it is clear that not all shopping destinations 
will be successful in the future. The polarisation 
is already very visible with increasing vacancy 
rates in secondary locations and I see this trend 
accelerating over the next few years. This is one of 
the reasons why we work closely with our retailers 
to secure their latest concept in our shopping 
centres. We want to remain the first business 
partner for our retailers in our catchment areas.

We opened three new H&M full-concept stores in 2020.
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Adjusting tenant mix to meet changing 
customer demand
Our continuous research and dialogue with tenants 
and consumers enables us to anticipate changes 
in consumer preferences and to quickly respond to 
them by adapting our offering, adjusting our tenant 
mix or remodelling our centres. We see change as 
an opportunity to innovate and over the past few 
years we have initiated a number of projects in  
our centres to make sure that they remain relevant  
and attractive. These include: 

•	We encouraged and assisted several 
hypermarkets to reduce their retail footprint and 
to focus more on groceries and daily household 
goods, providing high quality fresh products, 
while we have converted their excess space  
to broaden our retail offer.

•	We extended our food & beverage offer with, for 
example, the opening of an innovative food hall in 
our Curno shopping centre. “Le Cucine di Curno” 
provides a distinctive and modern gastronomic 
experience for all customers’ needs and tastes, 
from young students to large families. Celebrity 
Chef Andrea Mainardi opened his first restaurant 
in a shopping centre together with a temporary 
cookery school.

•	We opened three gyms in our Swedish shopping 
centres to complement the existing offer which 
has proved to be very popular, with steadily 
increasing memberships bringing new customers 
to the centres, particularly to the benefit of our 
food & beverage and sport retailers.

•	We opened some new flexible working areas 
including Regus in Les Grands Hommes in 
Bordeaux and a co-working area managed by  
Findomestic at I Gigli, Florence.

•	We have expanded the growing value retail 
sector whose business model is limited to 
physical stores only. We have recently added 
additional stores for Flying Tiger Copenhagen 
(home and gadget), Normal (health and beauty), 
Lidl (food), Pepco, New Yorker and Primark 
(fashion).

•	We have broadened our service offer with 
barber shops, opticians, beauty centres, dentists 
and medical centres. We have added 15 optician 
stores to the portfolio over the past year and now 
have a total of 52 across the portfolio.

New services in our centres 

In order to respond to the changing needs of 
our customers we have reshaped our centres, 
making them not only destinations for shopping 
and leisure but also places to fulfil life’s essentials.

Over the past few years, the number of medical 
and dental practices in our centres has steadily 
increased and are now present in 10 out of our 
26 shopping centres. The number of opticians 
has also increased from 37 in 2019 to 52 today.  
Last year, we opened three gyms in Sweden.

People of all ages are making self-care a top 
priority as shown by the resilience of the  
health & beauty sector during the pandemic.  
In response to this demand we have improved the  
offer of beauty stores and salons, hairdressers and 
nail bars, increasing the number of units by 10%. 

 

Feature

Dental Pro at Carosello (Milan).
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Retail landscape continued

Offering a seamless experience
Customers want online and offline purchases  
to be frictionless with the freedom to choose  
to buy in-store, via home delivery, or through click 
& collect. The vast majority of customers research 
their product choice online before buying in-store 
and omnichannel experiences are now the norm 
with customers jumping from mobile through digital  
to physical and back around again. 

Over the past few years, we have adapted our 
centres to provide customers with a seamless 
experience. We have installed click & collect 
stations in our centres including Amazon Lockers 
and In-Post in Italy and Instabox delivery points 
in Sweden, where we are also working with our 
hypermarket tenants to improve their click & collect 
points as they rarely deliver groceries. We have also 
made an innovative collaboration with Pasticceria 
Cre@ttiva in Cremona Po, providing a refrigerated 
locker in the food court where customers can 
collect American and vegan bakery products which 
can either be ordered online or directly at the locker. 
We are working in partnership with Alipay (part of 
the Alibaba Group) to provide its payment services 
in our malls. 

We also assist retailers introducing new in-store 
technologies which enhance the customer 
experience. For example, Bershka opened its 
first digital store at Cremona Po. Motivi provides 
live-streaming personal shopper and WhatsApp 
ordering services, while Elena Miro offers an 
online reservation service for store visits. Douglas 
perfumery offers personal shoppers and Sephora  
in Passage du Havre provides last mile delivery.

Il Castello Shopping Centre in Ferrara, launched  
“Il Castello Christmas Delivery”, a delivery service in 
partnership with Mail Boxes Etc. for the shipment of 
Christmas gifts purchased in the shopping centre. 
The service is offered free of charge to healthcare 
professionals from the Azienda Ospedaliera-
Universitaria di Ferrara as a sign of gratitude.

Offering a seamless 
experience needs 

omnichannel brand 
ownership.

l Castello’s Christmas Delivery campaign.
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Shop & Shock in I Gigli

Gigli Shop & Shock is an ambitious project, 
implemented for the first time in a shopping 
centre in Italy, to test how far a shopping centre 
can become an integral part of the omnichannel 
world. The idea is simple, but effective: sell 
targeted products provided by tenants and 
merchandising created ad-hoc for I Gigli on the 
shopping centre’s online platform. The shopping 
centre becomes an integral part of the retailer’s 
omnichannel world. Delivery is made exclusively 
inside the shopping centre, expanding the click 
& collect offer and consolidating the shopping 
centre as the most cost-efficient last-mile delivery 
system for our tenants. 

The project has been very successful at  
I Gigli helped by its market penetration with  
20 million annual visitors and one million 
internet and social media contacts. Large and 
experienced omnichannel retailers have an 
extra, and locally extremely relevant, online 
tool to contact their clients. Smaller and less 
experienced omnichannel retailers have the 
opportunity to benefit from an online offer 
which they would otherwise not enjoy due to 
high setup, maintenance and delivery costs. 
Meanwhile, I Gigli’s customers are offered the 
possibility of searching for good offers and 
special bargains that they can collect on their 
next visit to I Gigli. They are provided with an 
online shopping platform where they can find the 
bargains they want, many of which are uniquely 
local, avoiding having to surf multiple sites.

Feature

A customer collects her purchases made on I Gigli’s online platform.
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Our good relationships with retailers enabled us to 
preserve our long-term track record of low vacancies 
during the pandemic.

Building and developing long-term, professional 
relationships with our tenants has always been at 
the core of Eurocommercial’s business model. 
This partnership approach allows us to continuously 
adapt our retail mix to changing consumer behaviour 
and to accompany retailers in their store expansion 
or remodelling. During the COVID-19 pandemic 
we capitalised on this partnership approach to find 
mutually acceptable solutions with our tenants  
for the lockdown periods, resulting in both high  

numbers of contracts signed and a high rent collection  
rate. Our long-term track record of low vacancies 
and sustainable rents was therefore preserved and 
remains the foundation for our future growth.

Building strong partnerships

Our strong relationships with retailers have allowed 
us to work closely together to expand their store 
network and implement their latest concepts in  
our portfolio. 

Our partnership with Rituals started in Sweden where  
they now have stores in all our shopping centres. 
As they expanded their store format, we partnered 
with them to accommodate larger stores or 
enlarge existing ones. Building on the successful 
Swedish relationship, we opened a store in our 
Paris shopping centre, Passage du Havre and 
our Belgian shopping centre Woluwe Shopping. 
Rituals’ Woluwe Premium concept is the first one 
opened by Rituals in a Brussels shopping centre, 
highlighting the appeal of Woluwe for international 
retailers. Going forward, we are in discussions to 
accompany them into the Italian market where  
they are not yet represented.

Retailer relationships

Our partnership with 
Eurocommercial has 

allowed us to successfully 
expand our network of 
stores in Europe and 

we are looking forward 
to continuing working 

together.
Rituals

Rituals in Passage du Havre, Paris.

Valeria Di Nisio 
Group Leasing Director
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The remerchandising of I Gigli

Last year saw the completion of a four year 
redevelopment programme at I Gigli, Italy’s most 
visited shopping centre (20 million visitors in 
2019). The programme started in 2017 following 
the Company’s purchase and downsizing of 
the Pam hypermarket which allowed for the 
renovation of the mall around the southern Corte 
Tonda, including a new Primark (their second 
store in Italy), a Sephora flagship store and an  
enlarged Zara.

The next phase saw the construction of a 
north-south pedestrian link at first floor level, 
an innovative technical and commercial project 
that took 14 months to complete. The opening 
in December 2020 coincided with the 700th 
anniversary of the death of the Florentine poet, 
Dante Alighieri to whom the walkway, Il Cammin 
de’ Gigli is dedicated. This new link mall provides 
2,800m² (GLA) and comprises eight units divided 
into three thematic islands. Retailers and service 
providers include a Findomestic managed 
coworking area, a barber shop, a Unico beauty  
centre and an interactive Giglisauri theme 

park and play area. Additional restaurants 
complement the extensive food & beverage 
offer at first floor level including the successful 
gourmet food market, Ai Banchi del Mercato 
Centrale.

At first floor level, the food court has been 
extended with an outdoor terrace and the former 
market area next to the Corte dell’Oste has been 
redeveloped to provide a new lifestyle and sport 
retail destination anchored by Adidas, Nike Store 
and JD Sports. Other new international retailers 
opening in I Gigli last year include the first Dyson 
store in Tuscany, a Tesla temporary store, Pull & 
Bear, Starbucks and a relocated Hollister with a 
Gilly Hicks shop inside.

Feature

Above
The Nike store as part of the new  
lifestyle and sport retail destination.

Left
Il Cammin de’ Gigli opened in  
December 2020.
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Retailer relationships continued

During the past 18 months, we have opened a 
number of iconic shops in our portfolio:

•	 In Fiordaliso, H&M opened a 2,900m² store 
featuring its full retail range including H&M Home, 
and Primark (6,900m²) opened its second store  
in our Italian portfolio

•	 In Valbo, we opened a Hemtex store featuring 
their new concept and New Yorker 

•	 In Ingelsta Shopping, major Scandinavian retailer 
Clas Ohlson opened in February 2021

•	 In I Gigli, we opened the latest format of Nike, 
Adidas and JD Sports

•	 In Passage du Havre, we opened Normal’s first 
store in a shopping centre in France following 
successful openings in our Swedish portfolio.  
We also opened a Maisons du Monde, their first 
store in a shopping centre in France

•	 In Woluwe Shopping, we opened some new 
aspirational stores such as Maje, Jott and K-way

•	 In Les Atlantes, we opened the second biggest 
Blackstore in France (1,200m²)

•	 In I Gigli, we opened a Tesla pop-up store

Over the past 18 months, we were very active in 
the jewellery sector. We renewed nine leases and 
signed three new leases with the Thom Europe 
group (Histoire d’Or, Stroili Oro). We signed  
three new leases with Pandora and now have  
11 stores in our portfolio.

Low vacancy

The strength of our relationships with retailers 
allowed us to keep our vacancy rate to a very 
low level at 1.6% despite the pandemic, thereby 
extending our long-term low vacancy record,  
which over the past ten years has always been 
below 2%. 

The recently opened New Yorker store in Valbo.

The Normal store at Passage du Havre.
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Engaging with our customers

Customer engagement, communication and services have 
become more innovative during the pandemic.

Understanding our customers and responding 
to their changing retail behaviour is pivotal to our 
success. Today, shopping alternatives are countless 
and customers are more informed, connected 
and, therefore, more empowered. Our constant 
engagement with them through surveys and media 
ensures that we tailor our offer to their expectations, 
building trust and loyalty.

Customer research and surveys

Research has always been an integral part of our 
business and we use a variety of tools to collect 
data through desktop analysis, customer surveys 
and other touchpoints both in the centres and 
on social media platforms. This comprehensive 
analysis provides us with a more informed and 
better understanding of our catchment and the 
results assist our marketing plans, tenant mix 
choices and refurbishment projects.

During the past year, we carried out around 4,500 
face to face interviews in our centres. In Curno,  
we organised a survey with the specific objective  
to assess the relevance of the new food court.

Technology allowed us to broaden our reach and 
keep the conversation alive with our customers  
at a time when some centres were closed or  
face to face interviews were not recommended. 
Digital surveys have proved to be very effective  
and cost efficient.

•	After the spring 2020 lockdown, we organised 
and launched digital surveys simultaneously in 
France, Belgium and Italy in order to understand 
our customers’ online shopping habits during 
lockdown and their appetite to come back to our 
shopping centres post lockdown, including their 
views on safety. The questionnaire was available 
online on all our shopping centre websites, 
Facebook and Instagram pages, and was also 
sent by email to our newsletter subscribers.  
We received almost 4,000 responses which 
helped to improve initiatives.

•	Later in the year we launched another digital 
survey in Belgium as we wanted to analyse the 
food shopping behaviour of Woluwe customers 
and non-customers. The questionnaire was 
pushed through the most popular social media 
such as Facebook and Instagram and was  
also sent to the centre’s newsletter recipients.  
We received close to 2,000 responses which  
will help us in our merchandising analysis and  
for our planned extension. 

Going forward we plan to continue with a mix of 
online and offline surveys and will also consider 
some more targeted panels with our most loyal 
customers.

Finally, during this pandemic we put even more 
focus and attention on sensitive areas such as 
toilets and nurseries. Our real time feedback 
systems such as “HAPPY or NOT” produced  
nearly half a million responses guiding us on  
how to enhance customer experience. 
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Engaging with our customers continued

Tenant and customer communication 
during the pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic posed great challenges 
to our shopping centres which not only had to 
close during lockdowns in Italy, France and Belgium 
but also had to follow many new regulatory and 
health routines over the course of the pandemic. 
During this time, our marketing campaigns and 
communication with tenants and customers was 
focused on health and safety guidelines in order 
to keep our centres safe. We emphasised the 
importance of good hygiene such as washing 
hands and keeping a safe distance. We also put a 
lot of focus on internal communication and tenant 
information on opening times, options for click & 
collect, pick-up points and delivery.

Following the spring 2020 lockdown in France, we  
launched our [re}voyons-nous campaign which 
listed our health and cleaning procedures to inform 
and reassure our customers. In Italy, we launched 
“Centro Sicuro”, a dedicated website section providing  
real time information on timetables, openings and 
active delivery/take-away services and COVID-19 
measures adopted by the centres. In Sweden, 
we organised a Black Friday campaign with focus 
on safety, based on the message “shop here – 
but apart”. These successful initiatives are being 
replicated in 2021.

Unfortunately restrictions on large gatherings meant  
that we had to postpone many events in our shopping  
centres in all countries. We therefore adjusted 
by refocusing our marketing activities online. 
We supported the #stayathome campaign and 
concentrated our social media content on home 
activities such as online fitness, cooking, having a  
picnic, working in the garden and reading books, 
but also on different offers like take-aways, online 
fashion shows, gift card campaigns, digital 
contests, etc.

When our centres reopened we adapted our  
events so that they conformed to social distancing 
guidelines. For example, we celebrated the opening 
of Blackstore in Les Atlantes, Tours with a SHOES 
THE BOX event with chances to win pairs of 
sneakers, sneakers customisation, DJ sets and 
many other prizes. The successful event respected 
all COVID-19 guidance and was a great way  
to entertain our customers during the school  
half-term holiday. 

In Grand A and Woluwe Shopping, during the 
October school holidays we also organised a 
Superheroes exhibition. The event had great 
resonance on social media with more than 10,000 
reactions to the photos and messages posted on 
Instagram and Facebook.

[re}voyons-nous campaign in our French shopping centres.

Superheroes exhibition at Woluwe Shopping.
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Part of our campaigns were also dedicated to 
supporting health workers. We organized product 
delivery to hospitals, wall messages supporting key 
workers and we also donated funds to hospitals 
jointly with our tenants.

In January 2021, we organised a COVID-19 
screening campaign promoted by Lloyds Farmacia 
in our Il Castello shopping centre in Ferrara offering 
free tests with a 15 minute turnaround. At I Gigli, a 
gazebo was installed in a dedicated parking lane 
for carrying out rapid swabs in drive-in mode in 
collaboration with Farmapiana and the Misericordia 
of Campi Bisenzio.

Building trust and loyalty

In a world where consumers are bombarded with 
information and choices, building trust and loyalty is 
more important than ever. In addition to our existing 
successful loyalty programmes, for instance in 
Fiordaliso (Fiordalclub) and I Gigli (Gigli Pass), we are 
currently working on a number of innovative digital 
loyalty programmes. In France, we launched our 
Win Win programme (see case study below).

 
Win Win loyalty programme at Passage du Havre

During 2018, we re-evaluated our loyalty 
programmes to provide added value to our 
customers. As the majority of brands already 
had their own loyalty card, we needed to create 
customer loyalty at the shopping centre level.  
We chose to partner with Transaction Connect,  
a company that uses credit cards as loyalty 
cards and rewards with cash back.

The key advantages for customers are that they 
do not have to keep track of the reward scheme 
and cash back rewards are more appealing to 
them. The setup is very user friendly and secure 
having received the certification of the Banque 
de France. However, as some age groups are 
reluctant to provide their credit card details,  
it is also possible to participate by simply 
scanning receipts.

Win Win was successfully launched in November 
2019 in Passage du Havre, Paris with all stores 
participating. Such initiatives can really make a 
difference and incentivise customers to spend 
their money in our centres. 

Win Win also provided us with very useful 
information about the customer journey including 
the most visited stores, average spend and 
frequency of store visit. This data has been 
used by our marketing and leasing teams in 
their analysis and future strategy to improve the 
performance of the centre.

Following the positive results and feedback 
received from the programme in Passage du  
Havre, we are planning to roll it out in Les Atlantes.

Feature

Passage du Havre pioneered the Win Win programme in France.
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Engaging with our customers continued

Digital communication

As our world becomes more digital, we have adapted 
and improved the way we digitally communicate 
with customers including the redesign of our 
websites to improve user experience. 

In Sweden, we worked with students from 
Berghs School of Communication to develop 
new communication concepts and social media 
strategies for our social media channels with a 
clear objective of giving our centres a personality 
and tonality thereby creating a higher degree of 
commitment and interest in our communication. 
The focus was on building and strengthening 
the shopping centre brand and creating a more 
personal appeal that customers can relate to.

Examples of the way we use technology in our 
advertising campaigns are the digital screens 
in Fiordaliso and I Gigli (Ringwall) and Il Castello 
(LED walls) that convey dynamic and captivating 
multimedia content.

In I Gigli, hostesses in the gallery encourage 
visitors to publish a story on their Instagram profile 
mentioning @igigli and using the new stickers.  
Once the story is published, customers can go 
to the welcome desk to pick up a complimentary 
bracelet. These initiatives resulted in a significant 
increase in our profile views.

We also hosted an online game and a workshop 
in the mall in collaboration with the GoSoul 
Community and their official partner Go Pro.  
15 micro-influencers created a contest with photos 
and stories inside the shopping centre. The event 
was promoted together with Destination Florence.

Fiordaliso’s TikTok campaign was the first of its kind in Italy.

I Gigli’s LED ringwall.
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We organise regular games on social media with 
prizes. For example, in a number of our French 
shopping centres we introduced advent calendars 
in December with gifts to win every day. In Sweden, 
online competitions were arranged and every week 
children got the chance to have their Christmas 
wishes granted by shopping centre mascots. 

Fiordaliso and Carosello started on TikTok, the 
popular social media platform with over 30 million 
users in Italy, offering an exciting opportunity to get 
in touch with Gen Z people. 

•	Fiordaliso was the first shopping centre in Italy  
to launch a communication campaign on TikTok 
in 2019 and saw the involvement of creators/
influencers in a social responsibility project, the 
#fiordasoapchallenge, an invitation to wash your 
hands while dancing to raise awareness of 
COVID-19.

•	Carosello made its debut on the social network in 
2020, involving famous Italian influencers such as 
“Le twins” sharing videos involving many stores.

New generation of customer service
We see customer service as a key differentiator in 
a shopping centre compared to online and we pay 
close attention to what our customers demand 
and tailor our services according to their needs. 
For example, at the end of 2019 we opened a dog 
area Bau Bar in Curno and at the end of 2020 we 
opened a giant kids area in Il Cammin de’ Gigli.  
We also provide charging stations for electric cars  
in many centres.

We offer car valet services in Collestrada and 
Woluwe. Customers can drop-off and pick-up  
their car in a dedicated area with the possibility 
of having their car serviced, washed and cleaned 
while shopping.

The pandemic prompted us to innovate and in 
Sweden we launched a new shopping service for 
customers unable to visit the malls, offering them 
assistance with their shopping and delivery with 
customers able to call or send an email to order 
items from the stores. Customers are able to  
pick up all their goods the same day at a specific  
pick-up point outside the shopping centre.

In I Gigli, we have established a coworking area in 
partnership with Findomestic with the possibility to 
rent meeting rooms for a fee which is discounted 
for Gigli pass members and tenants in the shopping 
centre. We include new technologies with our 
services such as digital interactive touchables in 
Carosello and virtual mirrors or customer care 
through voice assistant at I Gigli (Amazon Alexa).

A customer collects her purchases at C4.

Gigli Sauri in Il Cammin de’ Gigli.
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Environmental, Social and Governance

As a long-term investor, Eurocommercial believes 
building a sustainable and resilient business is the 
foundation for success.

Our ESG strategy

We approach each business decision with a long-
term view and support our choices with detailed 
research in order to evaluate their environmental 
and socio-economic impact. Our ESG and 
business strategies are carefully aligned and involve 
operating more efficiently, positively engaging 
with local stakeholders and being an attractive 
and responsible employer. With our updated ESG 
strategy, we will continue to create sustainable 
centres with a clear vision and full transparency 
towards our stakeholders.

Materiality assessment
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
applies to all aspects of our business operations. 
Last year, we mapped out particular topics and 
targets that will help us develop our business 
with impact while enhancing value. These clear 
objectives underpin our current strategy. The first  

step was executing a detailed materiality assessment  
in 2019 to thoroughly assess a wide range of ESG  
facets. We then selected which topics would create  
the most value for the Company and its stakeholders  
while in line with the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals on the global agenda.

We carefully examined the core components of our 
business strategy while progressing the integration 
of ESG over the short, medium and long term.  
An analysis among peers, data collection from  
different key stakeholders and in-house workshops  
helped develop a materiality matrix to determine 
the main ESG topics and their relative importance 
corresponding to the Global Reporting Initiatives 
(GRI) materiality principles. As we develop our ESG 
programme, we will continue to evaluate and revise 
it where appropriate and be ready to respond to 
new circumstances and opportunities as they  
arise. For more details see our corporate website  
at www.eurocommercialproperties.com

Solar panel roof installation at Grand Samarkand.
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Three strategic pillars

Each of our shopping centres offers its own set of challenges and opportunities, yet we have developed a 
broad ESG vision and strategy to ensure that we can meet global challenges and the future demands from our 
customers, tenants and employees, while creating sustainable shopping centres. Our approach is articulated 
around three strategic pillars: Be green, Be engaged and Be responsible.
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Environmental, Social and Governance continued

       
 

 

       

Be green  
     

Be green

Real estate contributes up to 30% of global annual 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and consumes 
around 40% of the world’s energy annually, providing  
us with the opportunity to make a real difference. 
Changes we make can significantly reduce both 
our imprint and operational costs. We work on 
improving our understanding of climate change and 
its effects on our real estate portfolio, joining forces 
with our tenants to reduce our combined impact. 
Being green is the basis of our operations as we 
work to change the mindset of all stakeholders 
in our communities and we have set ambitious 
reduction targets for the next 10 years.

Targets
•	Operate carbon neutral by 2030 – On target

•	Zero waste to landfill by 2030 – On target

•	BREEAM certifications in place for all shopping 
centres by 2025 – On target
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Be engaged

Engaging with our tenants, customers and local 
communities is essential for success and we are  
in constant dialogue with them and we listen to  
their feedback to ensure that our centres evolve 
with the changing retail landscape and customer 
aspirations. We help our retailers invest in their 
teams through the Eurocommercial Retail 
Academy® working together to improve the overall 
shopping experience. Our shopping centres are 
valuable for the community and make a positive 
social impact on the territories in which they operate.

Targets
•	Maintain all customer satisfaction scores above 

7.5 by 2025 – On target

•	 Improve the average retailer satisfaction scores 
towards 7.0 by 2025 – On target

•	Roll out the Eurocommercial Retail Academy® at 
an additional seven shopping centres by year-end 
2023 – Due to COVID-19 limited actions taken
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Be responsible

Our aim is to create a workplace where our employees 
can thrive and develop professionally. We offer all 
employees a fair and enjoyable working environment 
ensuring they perform ethically and sustainably.  
We pride ourselves on our diversity and collegiate 
culture, working together and sharing best practices. 
We want our employees to feel engaged and 
motivated towards achieving our common goals.

Targets 
•	Zero breaches against the Code of Conduct 

annually – On target

•	Create an attractive and professional  
workplace – On target

Green wall at Fiordaliso.
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Le Cucine di Curno: a sustainable food hall

Curno shopping centre is located in an affluent 
catchment area on the western edge of the  
city of Bergamo with a population of nearly 
600,000 people. We wanted to significantly 
expand the food & beverage offer and experience  
at Curno and developed a new sustainable  
food hall which opened successfully at the  
end of 2019. 

The food hall includes a diverse range of  
17 new restaurants comprising 3,000m² of GLA 
and 2,000m² of themed dining space in an 
impressive interior plaza design. The central  
space is filled with natural light by a large stained  
glass-domed roof. Stationing areas are configured  
as individual green islands to create a multitude of 
spaces for a wide variety of dining experiences.

The aim was to design a low environmental 
impact structure, using carefully selected local 
materials and energy management systems.  
The design uses solar panels sufficient to provide 
the electricity consumption for the lighting, and 
toilet facilities flushed with recycled rainwater. 

The building is covered with a no-pillar glass 
dome to maximise natural light without increasing  
heating and cooling energy consumption. 
The new façade is made of 100% recyclable 
terracotta, a product made from clay. The whole 
production process is low emission: production 
waste is re-used, the extraction pit is located 
next to the production site to limit transport costs 
and emissions while the delivery packaging is 
re-used to avoid waste. The project received a 
BREEAM Construction Very Good certificate.

Feature

Le Cucine di Curno offers 17 new restaurants.
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Environmental, Social and Governance continued

ESG governance

We structured the Company’s ESG governance 
in January 2021 and the ESG committee includes 
members of the Board of Management. The ESG 
committee is responsible for the Company’s ESG 
strategy and reports to the Supervisory Board.  
The ESG workgroup is responsible for implementing 
the ESG strategy and directing initiatives in the  
local countries and sharing information and  
best practices.

Recognition 
Eurocommercial is committed to report on its ESG 
performance every year. In 2020, we were awarded 
the EPRA Gold Award for sustainability reporting 
for the seventh consecutive year and achieved our 
highest ever score of 83 in the GRESB assessment. 
Our ESG performance was also recognised by 
the Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark 
(GRESB) with a Green Star position in line with 
industry best practices.

       
 

 

       

Be green  
     

Be green

Eurocommercial will continue addressing 
environmental challenges and make sure our 
business activities are meeting current legislation 
and public expectations. We work closely with 
critical stakeholders on aspects like climate 
change, circularity, local biodiversity, low carbon 
transportation and pollution prevention. Through 
our green lease documentation we exchange our 
ESG ambitions with our retailers.

Climate change and carbon impact
Our aim to become carbon neutral by 2030 is 
fundamental to becoming a green company. 
Being carbon neutral means our operations in all 
our locations will not produce any carbon, so that 
our direct impact is emission-free. This includes 
all areas in which we can directly influence the 
use of energy sources through efficient energy 

management that provides for switching to 
renewable energy, generated on-site when 
possible. Our actions and targets are consistent 
with the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals and illustrate that as local and responsible 
shopping centre owners, we fully appreciate 
our global impact and how we can contribute to 
common goals. In 2020, we managed to reduce 
our carbon emissions per m2 floor area by 15% due 
to COVID-19, our environmental programme and 
lower gas consumption following a warmer winter. 
Since 2018 our carbon emissions per m2 floor area 
have reduced by 18%.

Energy management
During 2020, we continued to implement energy 
efficiency measures identified through our 
Environmental Management System (EMS).  
Our EMS structure supports local teams to provide 
uniform measures including internal data collection, 
setting clear reduction targets reported regularly 
to senior management. As we gather robust data 
we can improve the environmental performance 
of each centre. Eurocommercial’s total energy 
consumption in its shopping centres decreased by 
9% compared to the previous year on a like for like 
basis. In 2020, energy reduction action plans have 
been developed for all French shopping centres 
and will be implemented in the asset level business 
plans for 2021 onwards. In Italy, smart meters are 
being installed in all shopping centres to constantly 
and accurately monitor electricity, gas and water 
consumption online. 

We encourage customers to use public transport to come to our 
shopping centres.
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Renewable energy
As part of our objective to operate carbon neutral, 
we continue to review opportunities to install 
renewable energy on the roofs of our shopping 
centres or on parking areas. During 2020, we 
installed solar panels on the roofs of Grand 
Samarkand in Sweden and Woluwe Shopping  
in Brussels. By year end 2020, we produced  
832 MWh electricity with our own solar panels.  
This will increase as most installations have not yet 
operated for a full year. At the same time, we are 
procuring electricity from 100% renewable energy 
sources in all assets in Sweden, in Woluwe and in 
Curno, while for Il Castello, Fiordaliso, Cremona Po 
and I Portali we have an average of 20% renewable 
energy. 62% of our total electricity consumption 
comes from renewable sources.

Connectivity and accessibility
Proximity to public transport is important to the 
well-being of the community and environment. We 
want our shopping centres to integrate seamlessly 
with public transport options in our locations to 
encourage their use by our customers. 

We provide affordable and environmentally friendly 
transport options for our visitors to access our 
shopping centres such as shuttle buses and car 
sharing. We have also installed electric vehicle 
charging stations at several shopping centres and 
our centres have extensive and dedicated bicycle 
parking. All our centres are easily accessible for 
people with disabilities, and we have dedicated 
parking areas for low-emission cars, families and 
car sharing. Tesla opened its first temporary store 
at I Gigli. Customers were able to inspect one of 
the most beautiful and iconic electric cars of the 
moment, specifically the Model 3.

Zero waste aspiration
To manage waste efficiently, we are increasing 
recycling and reducing the amount of waste going 
directly to landfill. We invest in cost-effective waste 
services for our tenants and encourage them to 
have a programme to handle waste efficiently. 
Eurocommercial aims to minimise the waste it 
produces and eliminate waste to landfill by 2030. 
We are committed to working hard together with 
waste services and local authorities to meet these 
targets. During 2020, the waste directly sent to 
landfill has already decreased to 14% and the focus 
for the next two years will be to procure a detailed 
audit and qualitative information on waste streams 
so that we prioritise actions to increase recycling.

Tesla’s first temporary store in I Gigli.
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Environmental, Social and Governance continued
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Be engaged

At Eurocommercial, we design shopping centres as 
social spaces not merely shopping destinations but 
rather as cornerstones for their local communities. 
Our centres serve both our customers’ everyday 
shopping needs and the needs of the local 
communities, providing them with a safe,  
service-oriented and enjoyable experience.

We pay great attention to the changing needs of 
our tenants and customers. We continuously liaise 
with them and learn from their feedback to enhance 
the overall experience in our shopping centres. Our 
tenant engagement surveys illustrate where we can 
further improve our centres and invest for the future.

By rolling out the Eurocommercial Retail Academy®, 
we offer retailers the opportunity to invest in their 
teams and customer service which is resulting 
in higher service levels for the entire centre. This 
engagement plays a key role in making sure that 
our centres are always aligned with our tenants’ 
and customers’ needs. The ongoing pandemic has 
highlighted the importance of hygiene and security 
and we ensure that our centres have best-in-class 
cleaning procedures and health and safety policies.

Customer surveys
Customer satisfaction and engagement are 
essential to our business, and we actively seek 
to adapt our centres to the needs, desires and 
expectations of customers by researching and 
monitoring them extensively. We analyse and  
cross-check the data we collect in order to 
understand new developments and trends in 
spending habits and what customers like or dislike 
about our centres. This data also helps us analyse 
the local catchments around our centres and 
identify groups of consumers that we are possibly 
missing. In 2020, we achieved an average customer 
satisfaction score of 8.2, ranging from 7.5 to 8.8.  

Green building certifications
We continue to use green building certifications 
as part of our Environmental Management 
System (EMS). This certification process assists 
our local teams to improve their understanding 
of the objectives and create a uniform approach 
to management across the portfolio, developing 
programmes to reduce environmental impact.  
11 shopping centres already had a BREEAM 
certificate in place by year end 2020. Le Cucine 
di Curno, the recently developed sustainable 
food court has received a BREEAM Construction 
Very Good certificate and in February 2021, the 
shopping centre Les Atlantes obtained a BREEAM 
In-Use certificate with a score of Very Good. By 
year end 2020, 51% of our portfolio by value was 
certified with green building certificates (BREEAM) 
and we aim to have all of our shopping centres 
BREEAM certified by 2025. 

Water conservation
The water used in the centres is mainly for the 
benefit of the tenants and we collaborate with them 
to reduce its consumption and waste. The water 
consumed in 2020 was 2% less (like-for-like) than the 
amount used in 2019. Over the past three years, we 
have introduced green walls in five of our centres.  
Here, we use greywater to irrigate the greenery  
in and around our centres whenever possible.

Customer satisfaction and engagement are essential to our business.
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We have set a target of maintaining a minimum 
score of 7.5 for each shopping centre in our entire 
portfolio by 2025. We have also introduced the Net 
Promotor Score (NPS) in several surveys to monitor 
the loyalty of our customers. We carefully evaluate 
the scores obtained and we discuss these to set 
action plans in place to improve the percentage of 
the NPS and, ultimately, increase the positive image  
of the shopping centre.

Genuine retailer partnerships
We strongly value our business relationships 
with our retailers and actively seek feedback to 
identify areas where we can make improvements. 
The continuous exchange of data, and regular 
monitoring retailer satisfaction through anonymous 
surveys are important factors behind the success 
of our centres. In 2019, we started a pilot study on 
mystery shopping in four French shopping centres 
and extensively discussed and analysed the results 
with the centre management, asset managers 
and the leasing team and formulated action plans 
which we presented to our tenants. In some cases, 
we have organised tenant workshops to discuss 
results, expectations and possible actions. In 2020, 
we achieved an average tenant satisfaction score of 
6.7. We aim to improve these scores to achieve an 
average satisfaction score of 7.0 across our portfolio 
by 2025. We have also introduced the NPS in our 

tenant surveys alongside the Satisfaction Index, 
as we believe the two scores together are very 
transparent about tenant appreciation and 
conclusive about what actions are required in  
order to improve our professional relationship.

Eurocommercial Retail Academy®

In our Eurocommercial Retail Academy®, which is 
already well-established in all of our seven Swedish  
shopping centres, Eurocommercial organises 
sales and customer training alongside its tenants 
and employees working as a team. As a result, 
retailers come to our shopping centres knowing 
that they will be actively involved in the commercial 
operations and that their stores will be part of a 
successful shopping centre. In return, the retailers 
often respond by bringing their latest formats, 
delivering novelty to our customers. Similar 
programmes have been conducted in two of our 
Italian shopping centres with our partner, Savills 
Tenants School by Eurocommercial. Following 
the positive experience, we plan to install our 
own retail academy in these two Italian centres 
and in an additional four French centres. By the 
end of 2023, we aim to have the Eurocommercial 
Retail Academy® established in at least 15 of our 
shopping centres. During 2020, limited activities 
have been undertaken due to COVID-19, however 
in one shopping centre, Il Castello, we managed to 
organise a Retail Academy through virtual workshops. 

Responsible partners
Working alongside trusted partners, Eurocommercial 
has a number of sustainable procurement policies 
and procedures in place for each country that meets  
local regulations and standards. Our procurement 
process includes clear guidelines with a focus on 
quality, innovation and creativity. We actively search 
for improved efficiencies in the use of energy, 
choosing low consumption and renewable energy 
options. We favour local businesses in order to 
help local employment and reduce transportation 
and packaging. In France, we are introducing 
green clauses in our shopping centre management 
contracts to encourage best sustainability practices.

A Retail Academy seminar at Grand Samarkand.
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Environmental, Social and Governance continued

Our workforce
We aim to create a fair work environment where 
all employees receive the same experience 
and opportunities and where they can express 
themselves and feel included in order to function 
at their best. People must feel appreciated and 
included which helps build stronger teams that 
perform better. We strive to create an environment 
where everyone gets the same chances and 
opportunities and focus on making sure our 
methods and systems are fair for all.

We are based in different locations across Europe 
and our local teams in Belgium, France, Italy 
and Sweden carry out all property and asset 
management functions including leasing, rent 
collection, technical supervision and administration. 
Eurocommercial has a diverse culture with 
differences in nationality, age and gender. In 2020, 
we employed 92 people in Belgium, France, Italy, 
Sweden, United Kingdom and The Netherlands.  
Of our workforce, 57% are female and 43% are 
male, 11% of all employees are under the age of  
30, 68% of employees are aged between 30  
and 50 and 21% are over the age of 50.

We are proud of our open and collegiate culture, 
and we encourage Eurocommercial colleagues 
to share their ideas for the improvement of the 
business. We organise regular group meetings 
for employees from different offices to share best 
practices, in particular with our leasing, marketing 
and sustainability teams. We are committed to 
our employees, and as a result, we experience 
commitment in return and benefit from very loyal 
and engaged employees. Our low employee 
turnover at 3.3% and low sickness ratio at 0.5% 
illustrate that we have motivated and dedicated 
teams. Furthermore, we maintain a gender balance 
within the Company that strengthens our positive 
internal culture and is in line with the gender balance 
of our customers.

We carefully select building materials and 
maintenance products, using those with 
sustainability labels and certificates. Waste 
reduction and pollution risk management are 
also focus points. Chemicals and other materials 
that could harm the environment are identified 
and handled with care and taken to appropriate 
recycling or disposal facilities in compliance with 
regulations. We train staff who process these 
products, equip them with the right tools to handle 
them safely and have emergency procedures in 
place in case of an accident posing a risk to them 
or the environment. Suppliers have to ensure that 
their employees comply with safety rules and 
working conditions that respect the health, comfort 
and hygiene regulations applicable to their sector  
as part of our social and societal commitments.
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Be responsible

Eurocommercial is a pan-European owner of 
shopping centres. We want to be an attractive 
employer, now and in the future, and therefore 
provide a competitive work environment where 
people can develop, learn and fulfil their potential. 
We aim at creating a work environment where 
employees can express themselves and feel 
valued as part of a collegiate team. We believe this 
provides circumstances in which employees can 
function at their best and develop professionally.

At Eurocommercial, we build strong teams 
which perform at their best because people feel 
appreciated and engaged. We strive to create an 
environment where everyone receives the same 
opportunities and ensure that our methods and 
systems are fair for all and train staff on corporate 
ethics. We benefit from having multiple experienced 
local teams which work together and share  
best practices.
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Business ethics 
We promote clear and open communication 
and responsibility that represent our values of 
transparency, reporting and accountability. We set 
and maintain high standards of ethical business 
practice and expect our colleagues to respect them 
as being fundamental to long-term value creation. 
Good relationships with tenants, local communities 
and governments require dedicated and professional 
staff who understand good business practice  
and ethics and will respect and build on our  
long-standing reputation.

Our Code of Conduct sets out our procedures, 
guidelines and core values. All employees receive 
ethics training and review the Code of Conduct 
regularly to keep updated with business standards. 
Full transparency is provided to stakeholders 
concerning any breaches against the Code of 
Conduct. In 2020, no breaches of the Code 
occurred, in line with our target to have zero 

breaches every year. We will update our Code 
of Conduct in 2021 and inform and educate our 
employees on this policy.

Professional development and  
alignment of interests
We invest in the professional development of 
our staff by encouraging them to participate in 
various training courses. Our staff have regular 
review meetings with management to monitor 
performance and provide employee feedback.  
All employees under a permanent labour contract 
are entitled to participate in the Group’s long-term 
Performance Share Plan, which aims at linking 
remuneration to a long-term commitment of the 
individual employee and the performance of the 
Company. In 2020, employees received 11 training 
hours on average and all employees received 
professional and ESG training. All employees 
received a performance appraisal in 2020.

The new terrace at I Gigli.
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Key Performance Indicators

The following pages provide more detailed information about the ESG performance over 2020 compared to 2019. 
Eurocommercial provides transparency on its ESG performance towards all stakeholders. In 2020, we were awarded 
the EPRA Gold Award again for sustainability reporting, a reporting standard for listed real estate companies in Europe. 
Please note that 2020 was in all aspects a different year due to COVID-19. 

EPRA sustainability performance measures*
Absolute measure 

(Abs)
Like-for-like measure  

(LfL)

Total Belgium France Italy Sweden Total

Impact area 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020

Energy  
(MWh)

Total electricity  84,675  77,528  3,386  2,920  18,656  17,624  21,171  19,508  32,282  29,759  75,495  69,811 
Proportion of electricity from  
renewable sources 58% 62% 100% 100% 7% 7% 14% 32% 100% 100% 53% 58%
Total district heating and cooling  21,217  18,450  5,735  4,314  1,224  1,191 – –  10,190  9,381  17,149  14,886 
Proportion of heating and  
cooling from renewable sources 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Total fuels  17,477  16,027  3,444  2,583  3,739  3,236  10,294  10,208 – –  17,477  16,027 
Proportion of fuels  
from renewable sources 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Total energy  123,369  112,006  12,565  9,817  23,618  22,051  31,465  29,716  42,472  39,139  110,121  100,724 

Greenhouse 
gas emissions 
(tonnes CO2e)

Total direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)  1,613  1,416  294  221  610  505  709  690 – –  1,613  1,416 
Total indirect GHG emissions  
(Scope 2 and 3)  8,744  7,231  462  347  1,638  1,561  6,039  4,776  555  505  8,693  7,189 
Energy and associated GHG  
disclosure coverage (if applicable)

 32 of 32 1 of 1 12 of 12 11 of 11 6 of 1 30 of 30

Proportion of energy and  
associated GHG estimated 3% 0% 0% 0% 13% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 3% 0%

Water 
(cubic metres) 
(m3)

Total water withdrawal  712,448 665,757  23,245  20,492  90,619  71,224 498,590  480,148  80,369  75,322  692,823  647,185 
Water disclosure coverage  
(if applicable)

31 of 31  1 of 1  11 of 11  11 of 11  6 of 6  29 of 29 

Proportion of water disclosure 
estimated 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Waste (landlord-
handled)  
(metric tonnes) 

Disposal routes  
(by weight %)

Total weight of non-hazardous waste  11,346  8,516  561  413  4,005  3,666  4,713  2,767  1,577  1,250  10,856  8,096 
Total weight of hazardous waste  14  25 – – – –  2  4  6  9  8  13 
Reuse 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Recycling 49% 45% 35% 34% 31% 39% 68% 53% 48% 46% 50% 45%
Composting 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Material recovery facility 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Incineration 30% 40% 65% 66% 47% 41% 6% 33% 36% 43% 29% 40%
Landfill 8% 7% 0% 0% 9% 7% 12% 12% 0% 0% 8% 7%
Other 13% 8% 0% 0% 14% 13% 14% 2% 15% 12% 13% 8%

Waste disclosure coverage 28 of 29	 1 of 1 11 of 11 8 of 9 6 of 6 26 of 27

Proportion of waste 
disclosure estimated 17% 1% 0% 0% 48% 0% 0% 2% 1% 0% 18% 1%

*	 All data relates to two years: Q4 2018–Q3 2019 and Q4 2019–Q3 2020, the comparative figures for both years have been restated as explained below. 

EPRA sustainability intensity measures
Impact area 2019 2020
Energy (kWh/m2/year) Building energy intensity (like-for-like)  188.1 170.1
Greenhouse gas 
emissions  
(kg CO2e/m2/year)

GHG intensity from building energy 

(like-for-like)
 11.6 9.9

Water (m3/m2/year) Building water intensity (like-for-like)  14.9 13.9

Building certification
Building certifications  
– BREEAM  
(% of floor area ) 2019 2020
Excellent 4% 11%
Very Good 26% 32%
Good 14% 11%
Not certified 56% 46%

Energy Performance 
Certificates (EU EPC)  
(% of floor area) 2019 2020
A 0% 0%
B 6% 6%
C 22% 29%
D 10% 13%
E 20% 26%
F 7% 0%
G 15% 9%
No Label 20% 17%
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Qualifying notes environmental indicators

Organisational boundaries, reporting period 
and coverage
All retail assets included in this report are within 
Eurocommercial’s operational control; corporate 
offices and sold assets were excluded from the 
tables. Eurocommercial provided performance 
data for all indicators. For the first time, data was 
collected and reported for an updated reporting 
period due to the new timeline of the annual report. 
Data is collected for two years Q4 2018–Q3 2019 
v.s. Q4 2019–Q3 2020. Please note that data that 
is reported in previous reports was based on full 
calendar years. Two assets are excluded from 
the like-for-like comparisons: Elins Esplanad and 
Valbo in Sweden, due to major renovations which 
impacted on at least 50% of the asset.

Energy consumptions
All electricity, fuel, district heating and cooling 
consumptions are landlord-obtained for common 
parts and services provided to tenants. For Woluwe 
Shopping, MoDo and Valbo, district heating, cooling 
or electricity consumption that is sub-metered and  
n control of tenants was included in the report.  
Like-for-like energy consumption decreased (8.5%)  
in 2020 compared to 2019, mainly due to COVID-19,  
retrofits, improved operational management and 
weather conditions. The proportion of electricity 
from renewable sources increased due to the 
installation of on-site solar panels and renewed 
contracts with electricity suppliers.

Greenhouse gases (GHG)
GHG emissions are reported as tonnes of CO2 
equivalent (t CO2e). The Scope 3 emissions include 
landlord-obtained consumption sub-metered 
to tenants as well as tenant-obtained energy 
consumption. These tables do not include any 
business travel or supply chain emissions.

Emissions were calculated using market-based 
emission factors provided by local energy suppliers 
for 20 out of 32 assets. For the remaining 12 assets, 
local energy suppliers were not able to report 
conversion factors, hence DEFRA conversion 
factors were applied to convert energy consumption  

into carbon emissions. Emissions were reported 
using the Greenhouse Gas Protocol and EPRA 
Sustainability Best Practices guidelines.

Water consumption
Water consumption represents water that is 
landlord-obtained and used for common areas 
and tenants. Water consumption for shopping 
centres Carosello and Fiordaliso was relatively high, 
due to watering needs of green roofs and walls 
in dry summers. Like-for-like water consumption 
decreased by 7% in 2020 compared to 2019.  
Water consumption within the Eurocommercial 
portfolio is obtained via municipal supplies. 

Waste management
All waste figures are reported by mass (metric tonnes),  
in line with EPRA Sustainability Best Practice 
Recommendations. Waste disposal companies 
provided waste data for 28 assets in 2020. 
Waste data for 2019 were estimated for Chasse 
Sud Gallery, Les Grands Hommes, MoDo and 
Moraberg based on 2018 information. In 2020, 
waste data was not provided for I Gigli Retail Park, 
data is estimated based on reported 2019 data.

Intensity calculations
Data quality has improved since 2019. The match 
between nominators and denominators is now more  
accurate, and provides a better overview of the  
actual intensities. The numerators and denominators 
were determined asset-by-asset. For most assets, 
data was provided for whole building level (common 
areas and tenant consumptions) both tenant and 
landlord controlled. For these assets, the whole 
building size was used as a denominator. A few 
assets only reported common area consumptions; 
for these assets, the size of common parts was 
used as the denominator.

Eurocommercial acknowledges, as recommended 
on page 19 of the EPRA Sustainability Best Practices  
recommendations, that the intensity indicators 
may still be affected due to a mismatch between 
numerator and denominator in the methodology for 
calculating intensities. Please note that percentage 
figures may not add up to 100% due to rounding.
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Key Performance Indicators continued

EPRA Social & Governance indicators 
All employees 2020 2019

Diversity – Emp 405-1 Employee gender diversity (based on headcount) Total Male Female Total Male Female

Board  3  3 –  4  4 –

Management 9 7  2  6  4  2 

Staff  80  30  50  82  33  49 

Total number of employees  92  40  52 92  41  51 

Age group distribution (percentage)

Under 30 years old 11% 10%

Between 30 and 50 years old 68% 69%

Over 50 years old 21% 21%

Diversity – Pay 405-2  Gender pay ratio Male Female Male Female

Board 100% 0% 100% 0%

Management 48% 52% 55% 45%

Staff 58% 42% 64% 36%

Emp – Training 404-1 Employee training and development (based on headcount) Male Female Male Female

Training hours per employee 11 11 15 17

% of employees who received professional training 100% 100% 91% 78%

% of employees who received ESG training 100% 100% 91% 78%

Emp – Dev 404-3 Employee performance appraisals 

% of employees 100% 100%

Emp – Turnover 401-1 New hires and turnover New hires Departures New hires Departures

Male 1 2 2 1

Female 2 1 3 1

Total 3 3 5 2

Employee turnover 3.3% 2.2%

H&S – Emp 403-2 Employee health & safety 97% 97%

Workstation and/or workplace checks (%) 0.5% 1.7%

Absentee rate (%) 0.0% 0.0%

Injury rate (%) 0 0

Work-related fatalities (number) 0 0

H&S – Asset 416-1 Asset health & safety assessments

Health & Safety – assessments (in % of assets) 100% 100%

H&S – Comp 416-2 Asset health & safety compliance

Health & Safety – incidents 0 0

Comty – Eng 413-1 Community engagement, impact assessments  
and development programmes

Community engagement programmes in place  
(in % of assets) 100% 100%

Gov – Board 102-22 Composition of highest governance body

Number of executive board members 3 4

Number of independent board members  
(Supervisory Board) 5 6

Average tenure of all board members 10 12

Number of independent board members with 
competencies relating to environmental and social topics 2 1

Gov – Selec 102-25 Process for nominating and selecting the highest 
governance body

The members of the Supervisory Board are appointed by the General Meeting 
of Shareholders from a binding nomination to be drawn up by the Supervisory 

Board. Relevant information is reported in this Annual Report see page 74.

Gov – Col 102-25 Process for managing conflicts of interest For Eurocommercial Properties it is very important that members  
of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board act independently.  

There have been no conflicts of interest with rules, regulations or the  
Dutch Corporate Governance Code in this reporting year. 

Relevant information is reported in this Annual Report page 89.  
The process for managing conflicts is included in the Rules and Regulations  

of the Supervisory Board and the Code of Conduct which can be found within  
the governance section on the corporate website. 
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Qualifying notes environmental indicators

Organisational boundaries, reporting period 
and coverage
All employees who work directly for Eurocommercial 
Properties in The Netherlands, United Kingdom, 
Sweden, Italy, France and Belgium were included 
in these figures. Eurocommercial provided 
performance data for the calendar years 2019  
and 2020 for all social and governance indicators.

Gender pay ratio
The gender pay ratio as reported in the table is 
the ratio of the base salary and remuneration 
of men to women in the mentioned employee 
categories. Base salary represents the salary 
excluding additional remuneration such as bonuses, 
share options or overtime pay. Please note that 
Eurocommercial only employed 92 persons at the 
end of 2020. Therefore, it is not possible to disclose 
more detailed information on gender pay ratio, due 
to the limited number of employees with the same 
function and experience within the organisation.

City bikes outside Woluwe Shopping.

C4’s electric car charging points.
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Belgium country report

€589.8m
Property value 

-6.0%
Valuation change  
(12 months) 

2.1%
Average uplift from 
relettings & renewals 

1
Number of properties

130
Number of shops 

6.2m
Number of visitors 
 

47,000m2

Gross lettable area 

Airport

Atomium

Woluwe Shopping, Brussels, Belgium

Woluwe ShoppingGrand Place

M

M

M

M

Tram station

Metro station

Bus stop

Train station

Last year we submitted the planning 
application for the northern extension 

comprising 7,800m2 of retail and  
100 apartments and expect to receive 

planning consent during the first half of 
2022. There is already significant tenant 
interest from international brands not  
yet represented at Woluwe Shopping.

Benjamin Frois 
Asset Manager, Eurocommercial Belgium
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COVID-19 and retail performance

Following on the positive trend of the second half of 
2019, the first two months of 2020 were strong with 
our retailers continuing to produce positive sales 
growth. Unfortunately, this positive trend ended 
abruptly with the outbreak of the COVID-19 crisis 
in Belgium and the announcement of the closure 
of all cafés, bars and restaurants on 12 March. 
This first set of restrictions was rapidly reinforced 
by the government with the implementation of a 
strict lockdown policy on 17 March, resulting in 
the closure of all non-essential stores. Throughout 
this period, Woluwe Shopping remained open and 
accessible only for essential shopping, principally 
the Match supermarket. This restriction obviously 
had a detrimental impact on footfall and retail 
turnover. After nearly two months of closure, all 
stores were able to gradually reopen between  
11 May and 8 June.

Soon after the full reopening of Woluwe Shopping, 
there was a steady improvement in visitor numbers 
and retail turnover, reaching a peak during the 
summer sales period in August. The recovery lasted 
until the end of October with retail sales and footfall 
reaching levels close to 2019 despite ongoing 
restrictions including shopping alone, with visits 
limited to 30 minutes. In November, with the arrival 
of the second wave of the pandemic, the Belgian 
government ordered a second lockdown which 
was slightly more flexible than the first one with 
more stores able to stay open and click & collect 
activities permitted. In early December, all stores 
reopened (with exception of hairdressers  
and restaurants) in time for the busy Christmas 
sales period. 

Retail sector performance varied during 2020 
with fashion, shoes and restaurants the most 
significantly impacted. Restaurants had more than 
five months of closure in 2020. On the other hand, 
the jewellery, health & beauty and home goods 
sectors were very resilient, showing the strongest 
recovery and sales growth between the two 
periods of lockdown. 

The government implemented a number of 
economic support schemes to limit the financial 
effect of the pandemic on the economy such as 
partial furlough and state guaranteed loans. 

Rent collection 2020

Some of our tenants were significantly affected by 
this unprecedented crisis and in order to provide 
financial assistance, we granted them favourable 
payment facilities including monthly invoicing and 
short-term rent deferral as well as rent concessions 
for the two periods of closure amounting to  
€3.7 million, representing 14% of our annual rent roll.

Immediately after each lockdown, we opened a 
constructive dialogue with our tenants in order to 
find equitable and fair financial support measures.  
This proactive and business partner oriented 
approach allowed us to quickly reach agreements 
with all of our tenants and also made it possible to 
maintain high rent collection rates throughout 2020 
as follows (excluding concessions granted): 

99%
Q1 

98%
Q3

98%
Q2 

92%
Q4

Leasing

Following the announcement of the first lockdown, 
our leasing activity naturally slowed down. Indeed, 
the uncertainty and the lack of visibility did not 
encourage retailers to consider expansion. 
Following the reopening in May, discussions quickly 
resumed with a good number of retailers, although 
it is clear that they are now paying more attention 
to their store portfolio with some rationalisation. 
The quality and long-term track record of Woluwe 
Shopping remains the main reason why brands 
want to establish and remain there.
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Belgium country report continued

Over the past 12 months, eight new leases have 
been signed and three tenants renewed with  
an average rent uplift of 2.1%. Among these deals,  
we have succeeded in attracting premium brands 
which are not usually represented in shopping 
centres, such as Maje, K-Way and Jott. The beauty 
sector has also been strengthened by the transfer 
of Rituals to a larger unit, allowing the brand to set 
up its new flagship store format in Brussels. Two 
new restaurant operators entered Woluwe this year 
which will strongly reinforce our food offer. A few 
other negotiations have recently been completed 
with new tenants who will open during the first half 
of 2021 including Histoire d’Or and Medi-Market.

Valuation and the retail property market

Data from Cushman & Wakefield confirms that 
investment volumes in the Belgium retail market 
were down by 30% in 2020, mainly due to retail 
transactions being postponed or put on hold due 
to the pandemic. However, 2020 recorded some 
notable transactions mainly in retail parks and 
high street locations, including the acquisition of 
Shopping Park Olen by Immo Corporate for

€70 million and the building let to Primark in 
Chaussée d’Ixelles (Brussels) acquired by  
Union Investment for €40 million.

The December 2020 valuation decreased by  
1.2% over six months and by 6.0% over 12 months, 
mainly driven by a slight increase in yield in June 
and a downward adjustment in ERVs in December. 
Overall Woluwe Shopping is valued at a net initial 
yield of 4.2%. The valuation does not yet fully reflect 
the future and profitable extension for which there  
is strong initial tenant interest.

Projects

This year we focused on the planning application 
process for our mixed-use extension project 
which includes 7,800m2 of additional retail space 
on two levels, 100 apartments and two levels 
of underground parking. The file was declared 
complete by the Brussels Region in March 2020, 
the impact study officially began in June and this 
first phase of instruction should be completed 
during the second quarter of 2021. We therefore 
expect to obtain our final permit during the first  
half of 2022.

Woluwe Shopping was refurbished at the end of 2019.
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The project will focus on retail sectors that are 
currently under-represented in Woluwe and will 
provide more retail space for food & beverage, 
sport and will also strengthen the fashion sector, 
which remains Woluwe’s main attraction for its 
wealthy customers.

Outlook

We are expecting the retail sector to remain under 
pressure during the first half of 2021 with reduced 
footfall and sales, particularly following the third 
lockdown at the end of March. This pressure should 
gradually diminish with the lifting of restrictions and 
the on-going vaccination programme in Belgium.

The solid fundamentals of Woluwe Shopping: 
prime location, excellent accessibility, and a densely 
populated and wealthy catchment, mean that 
Woluwe remains well positioned to take advantage 
of the expected rebound in retail sales and will keep 
attracting new retailers to fulfill customers’ needs 
and expectations.

Woluwe Shopping
Woluwe-Saint-Lambert

Eurocommercial acquired Woluwe 
Shopping in 2018. Since it opened 
in 1968, it has always been the 
best known shopping centre in 
Belgium and remains one of the 
most successful thanks to its solid 
fundamentals: prime location, 
excellent accessibility, and a 
densely populated and wealthy 
catchment.

Belgium portfolio

Catchment 1.6m*

Occupancy** 99%

Visitors 6.2m

Total lettable area 47,000m2

Shops 130

* 	 Within 20 minutes.

** 	Calculated by floor area.
Woluwe Shopping gallery.

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor 
numbers which are for 2019.
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France country report

€965.3m
Property value 

-4.4%
Valuation change  
(12 months) 

6.0%
Average uplift from 
relettings & renewals 

11*

Number of properties

510
Number of shops 

42.9m
Number of visitors 
 

280,746m2**

Gross lettable area

Property locations
1	� Passage du Havre 

Paris

2	� Val Thoiry 
Greater Geneva (Ain)

3	� Les Atlantes  
Tours (Indre-et-Loire)

4	� Centr’Azur 
Hyères (Var)

5	� Chasse Sud 
Chasse-sur-Rhône (lsère)

6	� MoDo 
Moisselles (Val d’Oise)

7	� Les Portes de Taverny 
Taverny (Val d’Oise)

8	� Grand A  
Amiens (Somme)

9	� Shopping Etrembières 
Greater Geneva  
(Haute-Savoie)

10	� Les Trois Dauphins  
Grenoble (lsère)

11	� Les Grands Hommes 
Bordeaux (Gironde)

8
6 1

7

3

2
5

4

9
10

11

*	 As at 31 December 2020, before the disposal of Les Trois Dauphins.

**	 Also includes parts of shopping centres not owned by Eurocommercial.

Last year we saw very strong rebounds 
in footfall and retail sales after both 
lockdowns and we expect to see these 

positive trends repeated in 2021.

Pascal Le Goueff  
Director, Head of Eurocommercial France
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COVID-19 and retail performance

The announcement of a strict lockdown on  
16 March 2020 severely impacted upon the 
country’s economy and particularly the activity of 
shopping centres with the closure of non-essential 
shops. This lockdown put severe pressure on 
retailers in several sectors, especially fashion. 

However, the date of reopening on 11 May saw 
a vigorous recovery in both footfall and sales in 
our shopping centres, with uninterrupted monthly 
increases in turnover until November 2020, the 
beginning of the second lockdown. All our centres 
performed very well during this period, particularly 
the suburban hypermarket-anchored centres 
where people were living and working at home and 
generally avoiding city centres and public transport. 

The second lockdown lasted for the month of 
November, following which the reopening of  
non-essential retail in December was again followed 
by a strong bounce-back in consumption with a 
turnover increase in our centres of 4.9% compared 
to December 2019, outperforming the CNCC index 
(-2.4% during the same period).

The bounce-backs were marked in the home 
goods, electronics, sport and DIY sectors, while 
fashion and restaurants performed below their 
usual levels.

Rent collection

For the first lockdown, the government appointed 
a mediator to facilitate negotiations between 
landlords and tenants, although no agreement was 
reached. We therefore decided to implement our 
own strategy and to offer a rent free period of three 
months for small tenants and a 50% rent free period 
during the lockdown for other tenants. 

For the second lockdown, the government provided 
landlords with a tax credit of 50% against a rental 
discount on November rent for tenants with one to 
250 employees, and 50% tax credit on a maximum 
of two thirds of the November rent for tenants with 
between 250 and 5,000 employees.

After discussions and negotiations with all of our 
tenants, we have collected the following percentage 
of invoiced rent (excluding concessions granted):

99%
Q1 

91%
Q3

92%
Q2 

88%
Q4

Leasing

Although a few brands in the fashion sector went 
into receivership, some have already been acquired 
by other retailers or investors (e.g. Camaïeu and 
La Halle). While the pace of our negotiations have 
been slower, we have continued to implement our 
leasing strategy which consists of strengthening the 
restaurant and health & beauty sectors, diversifying 
our offer with the installation of medical practices 
and welcoming new brands.

The new Blackstore at Les Atlantes.
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France country report continued

We have signed two leases with the Agapes group, 
which will establish two restaurants on a total area 
of 1,600m² in a building currently under construction 
on a plot of land adjacent to our shopping centre in 
Etrembières. We also signed a lease with a medical 
practice in MoDo and Blackstore, a new sportswear 
brand of the Intersport group has opened in  
Les Atlantes.

Over the past 12 months the leasing team has 
carried out 32 renewals and relettings which have 
generated an increase in rent of 6%.

Valuation and the retail property market

December 2020 valuations showed a decrease of 
1.3% over six months and 4.4% over 12 months. 
Most of the six month decrease was due to an 
upward yield shift in our retail park at Chasse, and a 
slight increase in yield for the office part of Passage 
du Havre. Suburban and provincial shopping centre 
values remained stable and the overall net initial 
yield for the portfolio stands at around 5%.

2020 saw several important transactions including 
the sale by Unibail-Rodamco-Westfield of shares in 
a portfolio of five shopping centres for more than  
€1 billion, reflecting a yield of 4.8%, and an acquisition 
through a sale & leaseback of 20 medium-sized  
DIY stores by a Batipart/Covea joint venture from 
the operator ADEO for more than €200 million.  
In Lille, the department store Le Printemps has 
been sold to the SCPI Notapierre for approximately  
€100 million, reflecting a yield of 4.6%.

At the end of the year the market was also animated 
by the sale of several Monoprix portfolios (food 
operator – Casino group) including a transaction 
with a price of €120 million, reflecting a yield  
of 4.2%.

Disposal and projects

We have sold Les Trois Dauphins, a multi-use 
building of 16,800m² located in Grenoble to  
Crédit Agricole group for a price of €34.4 million, 
reflecting a net initial yield of around 6.2%.

In Bordeaux, the renovation of Les Grands 
Hommes was completed and Regus installed 
its “Signatures” concept on the first floor with 
encouraging results for the months following the 
opening. Our restaurant project at Etrembières 
is underway and on schedule to open in the first 
semester of 2022.

The permit application for our retail park in Les 
Atlantes has been granted and pre-leasing is 
underway. In Val Thoiry, a competitor has appealed 
against our planning authorisations. We expect a 
decision from the court of appeal in Lyon in the  
first semester of 2021.

Outlook

The strong bounce-back in consumption in our 
centres after the two periods of closure in 2020 was 
a very positive signal and endorses our acquisition 
strategy to focus on centres whose catchment 
areas have strong local purchasing power.

Although further trading restrictions in France 
continue to affect our business in 2021, we are 
confident that the transformation currently taking 
place in the retail industry, especially in the fashion 
sector, will see the emergence of new concepts and 
the arrival of new brands in our centres that will be 
popular with our customers.

Above
Shopping Etrembières’s future restaurants project.

Left
Regus Signatures concept at Les Grands Hommes.
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France portfolioFrance portfolio

Passage du Havre
Paris

Val Thoiry
Greater Geneva 
(Ain)

Les Atlantes
Tours 
(Indre-et-Loire)

Centr’Azur
Hyères 
(Var)

Located in central Paris, the 
Passage du Havre sits at the 
heart of the Haussmann-
Saint Lazare shopping 
district, with excellent 
transport links. The property 
incorporates offices and 
residential apartments.  
The gallery recently had 
renewed façades and 
entrances. Retail tenants 
include: Fnac, Sephora, 
Nature & Découvertes, 
Rituals, Normal, Courir  
and Maisons du Monde.

The leading shopping 
centre in the Pays de 
Gex, Val Thoiry is easily 
accessible from Geneva in 
a prosperous Franco-Swiss 
area. It is anchored by 
Leroy Merlin, Decathlon and 
Migros and benefits from a 
strong merchandising mix 
with brands appealing to  
its international catchment.

Situated alongside the A10 
autoroute outside Tours, 
Les Atlantes has a large 
catchment of 358,000. 
Les Atlantes is the leading 
shopping centre in the 
area with 67 stores and 
restaurants and is  
anchored by Carrefour  
and an adjoining IKEA.

Located on the Côte d’Azur 
coast road in Hyères, south 
of France, this popular 
local shopping centre first 
opened in 1993. Centr’Azur 
has a large and varied retail 
offer and is undergoing 
improvements to its access 
and car park.

Catchment 7.4m*

Occupancy** 99%

Visitors 11.5m

Total lettable 
area

23,881m²

ECP ownership 11,941m²

Shops 40

* 	 Within 30 minutes.

** Calculated by floor area.

Catchment 272,000

Occupancy** 99%

Visitors 3.7m

Total lettable 
area

35,867m²

ECP ownership 25,593m²

Shops 68

Catchment 358,000

Occupancy** 100%

Visitors 5.4m

Total lettable 
area

40,556m²

ECP ownership 22,976m²

Shops 67

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 405,000

Occupancy** 99%

Visitors 2.8m

Total lettable 
area

24,640m²

ECP ownership 24,640m²

Shops 56

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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France country report continued

Chasse Sud
Chasse-sur-Rhône
(Isère)

MoDo
Moisselles 
(Val d’Oise)

Les Portes de Taverny
Taverny 
(Val d’Oise)

Grand A
Amiens 
(Somme)

Located on the banks of 
the Rhône, between Lyon 
and Vienne, and alongside 
the autoroute du Soleil 
(A7), Chasse Sud is a new 
generation retail park and 
shopping gallery. It features 
a strong fashion mix, 
Decathlon, Boulanger  
and a diverse food 
offer including a Casino 
hypermarket. 

Located to the north of Paris 
close to the Francilienne ring 
road, the centre is anchored 
by the leading Leclerc of  
Val d’Oise and is situated  
in a strong catchment 
of upper-middle class 
inhabitants. The centre 
benefits from a diversified 
merchandising mix.

Situated alongside the 
A115 autoroute in Taverny, 
an attractive and growing 
municipality in suburban 
Paris, the shopping centre 
has a wealthy catchment. 
Important road access 
works are in progress and 
will be followed by the 
construction of an Olympic 
swimming pool (2024).

Located alongside the 
Amiens ring road to the 
east of the city, the property 
features strong national 
and international brands 
including H&M, New Yorker 
and Pandora. Grand A is 
the dominant shopping 
centre within the Amiens 
conurbation.

France portfolio continued

Catchment 162,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 4.4m

Total lettable 
area

52,981m2

ECP ownership 52,981m²

Shops 49

* Calculated by floor area.

Catchment 417,000

Occupancy* 95%

Visitors 4.0m

Total lettable 
area

26,588m2

ECP ownership 11,252m²

Shops 58

Catchment 332,000

Occupancy* 99%

Visitors 3.6m

Total lettable 
area

30,543m2

ECP ownership 5,671m²

Shops 50

Catchment 190,000

Occupancy* 97%

Visitors 3.4m

Total lettable 
area

22,800m2

ECP ownership 11,164m2

Shops 59

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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Shopping Etrembières
Greater Geneva 
(Haute-Savoie)

Les Trois Dauphins 
Grenoble 
(Isère)

Les Grands Hommes
Bordeaux
(Gironde)

The centre occupies a 
strategic and prominent 
position to the south of 
Geneva close to the Swiss 
border. Major road works 
have significantly improved 
access to the centre. 
Construction of a building 
for two new restaurants is in 
progress with an expected 
opening in 2022.

This mixed use building  
is situated in the heart  
of Grenoble and benefits 
from its location in a densely 
populated area.

Located in a prime position 
in a prestigious retail district 
in central Bordeaux,  
Les Grands Hommes is a 
mixed use building with a 
new Signature concept  
by Regus.

Catchment 417,000

Occupancy* 94%

Visitors 1.9m

Total lettable 
area

17,360m2

ECP ownership 8,906m²

Shops 48

BREEAM In-Use certified.

* Calculated by floor area.

Occupancy* 100%

Total lettable 
area

16,826m2

ECP ownership 16,826m2

Shops 4

Catchment 593,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 2.1m

Total lettable 
area

5,530m2

ECP ownership 2,665m2

Shops 15

SOLD

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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Italy country report

€1,580.2m
Property value 

-3.7%
Valuation change  
(12 months) 

16.6%
Average uplift from 
relettings & renewals 

8
Number of properties

748
Number of shops 

62.2m
Number of visitors 
 

402,532m2*

Gross lettable area

Property locations
1	� I Gigli 

Florence (Tuscany)

2	� Carosello, Carugate,  
Milan (Lombardy)

3	� Fiordaliso, Rozzano,  
Milan (Lombardy)

4	� Collestrada 
Perugia (Umbria)

5	� II Castello 
Ferrara (Emilia Romagna)

6	� Curno 
Bergamo (Lombardy)

7	� Cremona Po 
Cremona (Lombardy)

8	� I Portali 
Modena (Emilia Romagna)

1

2
3

4

5

6
7

8

*	 Also includes parts of shopping centres not owned by Eurocommercial.

The challenges posed by the COVID-19 
pandemic clearly highlighted the 
importance of good and effective 

teamwork, of well structured organisation 
and of assets with underlying  

strong fundamentals.

Salvatore Occini  
Co-Director, Eurocommercial Italy

This financial year has been a very 
busy one. We finalised the extension 

and refurbishment projects in Curno, 
Cremona Po and I Gigli. We also achieved 
significant improvements and results in 
the implementation of our ESG strategy.

Carlo Romagnoli 
Co-Director, Eurocommercial Italy
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COVID-19 and retail performance

Italy was one of the first European countries to 
be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, leading 
the government to implement a strict lockdown 
policy. As a consequence, our shopping centres 
were partially closed for a period of over two 
months, until mid May. After the reopening and 
the very encouraging turnover and footfall results 
until the end of October, the COVID-19 second 
wave hit and the Italian government put in place 
a regional colour-coded restriction system with 
weekly updates to prevent another nationwide 
full lockdown. The colour-coded regional system 
helped reduce the negative impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic in some of our shopping centres. 
In general, the Lombardy region was the most 
impacted one, with some more stringent restrictions 
also being applied at times in Tuscany and Emilia 
Romagna. 

The Italian government also put in place a series 
of relief packages to provide some support to the 
economy. This financial support included tax credits 
to tenants of 30% or 60% of the rent paid during 
the lockdown periods, the payment of furlough for 
employees of companies affected by the pandemic, 
and a cash-back of 10% of amounts spent during 
certain periods through credit or debit card 
payments other than online. 

We implemented several measures to assist our 
tenants. Firstly, we reduced costs to a minimum 
during the lockdown period and further reduced the 
service charge budgets for the year, so as to reduce 
tenants’ costs. We gave rent concessions for a total 
amount of €10.9m (equal to almost two months of 
rent) for the year 2020. We expect some more rent 
concessions for 2021 will be required. Most tenants 
have also been offered the possibility of paying 
monthly in advance instead of quarterly in advance 
until the end of Q2 2021. 

The economic effects of the pandemic have 
been significant for all our tenants who will need a 
convalescence period during 2021 to fully recover.  
In general, the entertainment and food & beverage 
suffered most turnover loss due to closures. 
Fashion and shoes were also badly affected 
while hypermarkets, health & beauty, electronics 
and home goods performed better. Between 
lockdowns, turnover recovered to 90% of the  
2019 levels during the summer. 

Fortunately the vaccination campaign is progressing 
well. This should allow the government to gradually 
reduce restrictive measures and, hopefully, the 
recovery will be similar to the one experienced after 
the first COVID-19 wave.

Rent collection 2020

The discussions with our tenants on how to recover 
from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have 
been very professional and constructive as tenants 
realised that, notwithstanding the contractual 
provisions, Eurocommercial treated them as 
partners and was ready to take its share of the 
financial burden. 

The collection rates (excluding concessions 
granted) for 2020 were as follows:

100%
Q1 

92%
Q3

98%
Q2 

89%
Q4
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Italy country report continued

Leasing

Following an initial period when tenants were 
understandably hesitant to enter into new lease 
agreements, leasing activity improved during 2020 
and 132 leases were renewed and 52 new leases 
were signed, showing the underlying strength of 
the rental market and the continued strong interest 
of retailers to secure and keep representation in 
our shopping centres. The total rent uplift on those 
transactions was 16.6%.

This year we also completed several extension 
and refurbishment projects which led to the arrival 
of new international tenants including Starbucks, 
North Face, Nike and Adidas, while existing tenants, 
including Primark, Inditex, H&M, Abercrombie,  
JD Sports, increased their presence, further 
improving the merchandising mix and the 
attractiveness of our shopping centres.

Valuation and the market

According to CBRE there were only a few retail 
transactions in the Italian market and there were 
virtually no comparable transactions that the 
valuers could use as references. In this uncertain 
climate, the independent valuers considered the 
resilience shown by our shopping centres, the low 
vacancy levels and the strength of tenant demand 
as illustrated by the renewals and relettings. Overall, 
valuations decreased by 0.5% over the six months 
and by 3.7% over the year. The main reasons for the 
decline were a slight increase in net yields and lower 
inflation projections. A modest increase in net rental 
income, also due to the realised extensions and 
refurbishments, also helped partially compensate 
for the movement in yields.

Projects

2020 was a very busy year for I Gigli (Florence). 
After the opening of the food hall at Ai Banchi del 
Mercato Centrale and the new Primark and Zara 
stores, we carried out a series of new projects to 
further increase the attractiveness of the shopping 
centre and diversify its merchandising mix. A new 
open terrace was completed at the end of July, 
providing the existing food court and Mercato 
Centrale with much needed extra space. Works for 
the restructuring of the old Bazar and Toys shop 
into 14 new units (including JD Sports, Adidas 
and Nike) were finalised by the end of November 
2020. The new walkway “Il Cammin de’ Gigli” 
connecting the two main piazzas on the first floor 
was completed before Christmas, increasing the 
retail and food & beverage offer and introducing 
new services including an impressive new themed 
play-area, a barber shop and co-working facilities.

We were also active in Curno, Milan, where the  
new food hall opened in November 2019 for 17 new 
restaurants including Signor Vino, Cioccolati Italiani, 
Doppio Malto, Old Wild West and KFC.

Le Cucine di Curno food hall at Curno.
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In Cremona, the new retail park opened in 
November 2019 with tenants including Brico Io, 
Burger King and a new Decathlon store which is  
proving to be a real attraction for a wider catchment. 

The new 6,675m² Primark unit at Fiordaliso, the 
only one in the city of Milan, and an enlarged 
H&M opened in time for Christmas 2019. The new 
external hypermarket at Fiordaliso, connected to 
the shopping centre through a renewed common 
entrance, opened at the beginning of March 2021. 
The area of the current hypermarket is being partly 
demolished and converted into a new multilevel  
car park and around 7,000m² of new shops.  
The pre-leasing of the units is being finalised to  
new important retailers including, JD Sports, 
Game 7 and Adidas which will further strengthen 
Fiordaliso’s position as the dominant shopping 
centre to south of Milan.

Outlook

Following to the progress of the vaccination campaign 
currently being implemented, the government’s 
imposed restrictions should gradually be lifted. 

The very good results obtained with the renewals 
and relettings both in 2020 and in the first months  
of 2021 are encouraging and once more highlight 
the resilience of our assets. Hopefully our tenants 
will soon experience a recovery in footfall and 
turnovers to levels in line with the pre-COVID  
period, in a similar way as it happened after the  
first COVID-19 wave. 

Above
Il Cammin de’ Gigli.

Left
The new East entrance at Fiordaliso.
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Italy country report continued

I Gigli
Florence 
(Tuscany)

Carosello
Carugate, Milan
(Lombardy)

Collestrada
Perugia
(Umbria)

Fiordaliso
Rozzano, Milan
(Lombardy)

Located in a strategic 
position on Milan’s ring 
road, the centre offers 
a unique mix of national 
and international retailers 
at the forefront of today’s 
trends and is a very popular 
destination in its catchment. 
Carosello has won several 
awards over the years for  
its marketing campaigns  
and ESG projects.

Fiordaliso is the dominant 
shopping centre to the south 
of Milan with a broad mix of 
exclusive brands. After the 
opening of the first Primark 
within the Milan ring road 
and a brand new Finiper 
hypermarket, the pre-letting 
of 7,000m2 of new retail in 
the former hypermarket 
is being finalised. 
Eurocommercial co-owns 
the centre with leading food 
retailing group Finiper.

Collestrada, located south-
east of Perugia, is the prime 
shopping centre in Umbria. 
With a blend of shops, 
including top brands such 
as Zara, H&M and Media 
World, innovative services 
and a diverse events 
programme, the centre has 
grown in popularity with 
young customers over  
the years.

Italy portfolio

Catchment 1.1m

Occupancy* 99%

Visitors 20.1m

Total lettable 
area

86,399m2

ECP ownership 86,399m2

Shops 138

BREEAM In-Use certified.

* 	 Calculated by floor area.

Catchment 1.2m

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 8.3m

Total lettable 
area

52,778m2

ECP ownership 52,778m2

Shops 116

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 1.3m

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 9.0m

Total lettable 
area

78,759m2

ECP ownership 33,457m2

Shops 131

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 494,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 4.6m

Total lettable 
area

31,120m2

ECP ownership 31,120m2

Shops 51

BREEAM In-Use certified.

As the most visited shopping 
centre in Italy and attracting 
over 20 million visitors a year, 
Tuscany’s leading retail and 
leisure destination I Gigli is 
home to an exceptional mix 
of retailers, restaurants and 
services. The new exterior 
terrace and the conversion 
of the old bazar into a new 
lifestyle destination has 
significantly improved  
the retail merchandising  
mix. The recent opening  
of Il Cammin de’ Gigli now  
links the two main piazzas 
on the first floor.

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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II Castello
Ferrara 
(Emilia Romagna)

ll Castello is the leading 
shopping centre in the 
province of Ferrara and 
offers over 80 stores, 
including the only Zara, 
Bershka and H&M stores in 
the Ferrara region. A recently 
renovated food court 
provides a broad range of 
cafés and restaurants.

Curno
Bergamo 
(Lombardy)

Located in a wealthy 
catchment area west 
of Bergamo, Curno is 
well established in the 
catchment and has recently 
been extended with the 
development of a new 
themed dining area that 
provides 17 food &  
beverage outlets.

Cremona Po
Cremona 
(Lombardy)

Cremona Po is the largest 
shopping centre in the region 
and has firmly established 
its market dominance with 
the addition of two adjacent 
retail parks. It is popular 
with families with its offer of 
shopping and entertainment 
with more than 70 shops,  
10 bars and restaurants,  
a multiplex cinema with  
10 screens and a wide range 
of family-friendly services.

Located close to Modena 
city centre, I Portali is well 
established in its catchment. 
The centre was fully 
refurbished in 2015 and 
investigations are ongoing 
for a possible extension.

I Portali
Modena 
(Emilia Romagna)

Catchment 428,000

Occupancy* 99%

Visitors 4.8m

Total lettable 
area

38,503m2

ECP ownership 17,907m2

Shops 87

* 	 Calculated by floor area.

Catchment 481,000

Occupancy* 99%

Visitors 6.1m

Total lettable 
area

36,566m2

ECP ownership 18,371m2

Shops 88

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 166,000

Occupancy* 91%

Visitors 5.6m

Total lettable 
area

53,477m2

ECP ownership 42,083m2

Shops 87

Catchment 346,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 3.7m

Total lettable 
area

24,929m2

ECP ownership 7,937m2

Shops 50

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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Sweden country report

€901.3m
Property value 

-1.6%
Valuation change  
(12 months) 

4.2%
Average uplift from 
relettings & renewals 

7
Number of properties

475
Number of shops 

23.8m
Number of visitors 
 

275,184m2*

Gross lettable area

1

2
3

4

56

7

Property locations
1	� Bergvik 

Karlstad (Värmland)

2	� Hallarna 
Halmstad (Halland)

3	� Grand Samarkand 
Växjö (Småland)

4	� Valbo 
Gävle (Gästrikland)

5	� Ingelsta Shopping 
Norrköping (Östergötland)

6	� Elins Esplanad 
Skövde (Västergötland)

7	� C4 
Kristianstad (Skåne)

*	 Also includes parts of shopping centres not owned by Eurocommercial.

Our shopping centres have remained  
open throughout the pandemic resulting  

in full rent collection and high levels  
of footfall and sales.

Patrik Sörnell and Jonas Gustavsson 
Co-Directors, Eurocommercial Sweden
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COVID-19 and retail performance

Until mid-March 2020, Eurocommercial was still 
reporting positive like-for-like growth in both retail 
sales and footfall. The COVID-19 period then 
began on 12 March with the announcement 
of the first restrictions on public gatherings 
together with guidelines on social distancing and 
recommendations to work at home, avoiding the 
use of public transport. However, the Swedish 
government was motivated to keep society and  
the economy going and as a result shopping 
centres have remained open throughout the  
whole pandemic period, although trading has  
varied considerably at different times.

Although visitor numbers initially reduced by 
around 30%, our seven provincial shopping 
centres benefited not only from their dominant 
market position in their regions, but also from their 
very strong provision of daily goods, particularly 
hypermarkets and Systembolaget (the state alcohol 
monopoly) which helped to maintain consistently 
high levels of footfall throughout the period.

Footfall and retail sales steadily recovered through 
2020 and reached comparable levels to 2019 
during July, supported by a very strong summer 
staycation in Sweden during which most retail 
sectors showed positive like-for-like sales growth 
including hypermarkets, home goods, electricals, 
health & beauty, books & toys and sport. Fashion 
and restaurants also recovered well during this 
period. After a good early autumn trading, there 
was a marked slowdown from November with the 
implementation of further restrictive guidelines by 
the authorities at a regional and then later national 
level following an increase in the transmission of 
COVID-19 throughout Sweden. This has once again 
suppressed footfall and retail sales going into 2021, 
although our vacancies remain below 2%.

Rent collection 2020

At the start of the COVID-19 period, any requests 
from tenants for a rent reduction were negotiated 
on a case-by-case basis within the guidelines of 
the government rent support initiative that was 
agreed between the Landlords’ Association 
(Fastighetsägarna) and the Retailer’s Association 
(Svensk Handel). This rent support scheme only 
covered Q2 2020 and stated that if a landlord 
offered a qualifying tenant a rent discount of 
up to 50%, then within certain parameters the 
government would refund the landlord half the 
discount. By acting early and fairly with our 
tenants and helped by improving retail sales, 
we have maintained high rates of rent collection 
throughout 2020 and successfully collected the 
following percentages of invoiced rent (excluding 
concessions granted):

99%
Q1 

98%
Q3

97%
Q2 

98%
Q4
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Sweden country report continued

Leasing

We cemented our long-term, professional 
relationships with our retail tenants during the 
COVID-19 crisis, assisting them where appropriate 
not only financially but by being receptive to their 
opinions and requests on issues including monthly 
payment of rent, shorter and more flexible opening 
hours, marketing and general support and advice 
on health and safety in the shopping centres to 
protect their staff and customers. 

The crisis has certainly accelerated the trend 
for larger retail groups to rationalise their store 
portfolios, concentrating on a smaller number 
of profitable units in prime retail locations. H&M 
are the most important of several examples and 
have almost doubled the size of their units in five 
of our centres by opening their full concept stores 
including H&M Home. In three of those locations, 
H&M have already closed their smaller, older city 
centre units leaving the new H&M stores in our 
centres as their only stores serving catchments of 
up to 300,00 people. MQ and Intersport are other 
examples of important national retailers who, having 
gone into administration, have emerged leaner 

and stronger and have remained in our centres 
on the same terms and conditions. Overall, the 
leasing team completed 103 lease renewals and 
relettings over the past year, producing an average 
uplift of 4.2%. There were several important new 
lettings and store openings during the autumn, 
some of them as part of ongoing projects. At Valbo, 
the refurbishment and improved masterplan has 
provided new stores for H&M, New Yorker and 
Hemtex. At Elins Esplanad, following the re-location 
of Cassels last year there were new store openings 
for H&M and Nordic Wellness, a major gym 
operator who have also recently opened in Bergvik. 
Clas Ohlson are an important addition to Ingelsta 
Shopping and opened their new store in  
February 2021.

Valuation and the retail property market

The valuations in Sweden showed a marginal 
decline of 1.1% over six months and 1.6% over  
12 months. Overall, there was a slight increase in 
the exit yields adopted by the valuers, although this 
was compensated by an increase in net operating 
income, which was sufficient to maintain net initial 
yields at around 5% overall.

H&M’s full concept store at Bergvik.
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In their assessment of the retail investment market, 
the valuers identified the sale of Farsta in March 
2020 as being the most relevant reference point. 
Farsta is a municipal centre south of Stockholm 
and at a price of around SEK 4 billion this reflected 
an initial yield of below 5%, despite the tenure 
being leasehold. There also remains good demand 
for retail investments anchored by hypermarkets, 
indeed yields as low as 4.5% have been recorded 
on standalone hypermarket transactions. Retail 
parks also continue to attract buyers with the 
discount retailers in DIY, electrical, sport and 
household all performing well during the pandemic. 
Eurocommercial’s sales of Moraberg and Bronsen 
retail parks were notable examples of retail park 
transactions achieving their latest valuations.

With normal market conditions returning to the 
occupational and investment markets, both valuers 
removed the market uncertainty clauses that were 
used in their previous valuations at the end of  
June 2020.

Disposals and projects

Two properties were sold in separate transactions 
to Serena Properties, a Nordic real estate company 
owned by Balder, the listed Swedish property 
company, Varma, a Finnish mutual pension 
insurance company and investment management 
company, Redito. Moraberg, a 19,000m² retail park, 
located outside Södertälje was sold based on a 

property price of SEK 431 million. Bronsen retail 
park, located outside Norrköping and comprising 
12,800m² of retail units was sold based on a 
property price of SEK 225 million, having recently 
been completely redeveloped by Eurocommercial 
and let to Ekohallen and Elgiganten. 

Eurocommercial will further investigate and analyse 
the final phases of two extension projects at Valbo 
and Elins Esplanad. At Valbo, outside Gävle, 
planning permission exists for an extension of 
around 1,200m² to include a new entrance and  
six shops. At Elins Esplanad, a building permit 
exists for an extension of around 2,700m² which 
could provide a further 14 shop units. Neither of 
these projects are committed and their timing will 
be subject to reaching their pre-leasing targets.

Outlook

The direct influence of COVID-19 continues to 
affect our Swedish business going into 2021 
and before the positive effects of the vaccination 
programme takes hold. There are still pressures 
on the retail sector and its profitability following a 
period of declining sales, but it is a resilient sector 
and is adapting fast to its changing omnichannel 
environment. We remain confident that our strong 
retail tenant base will continue to trade well and 
that dominant shopping centres offering the best 
physical space will outperform the market.

Above
Hemtex’s new store at Bergvik.

Left
Nordic Wellness at Elins Esplanad.
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Sweden country report continued

Hallarna
Halmstad
(Halland)

Hallarna is the dominant 
regional shopping centre 
with 85 shops and a hotel 
and is located alongside 
the E6 motorway outside 
Halmstad, a popular 
tourist destination. A major 
refurbishment and 16,000m² 
extension recently opened 
fully let. Hallarna was 
awarded Best Shopping 
Centre of the year 2019  
by NCSC.

Bergvik
Karlstad 
(Värmland)

Bergvik was refurbished 
and extended in 2015 and 
comprises 70 shops and 
two hypermarkets and 
adjoins an IKEA. Bergvik 
fronts the E18 motorway to 
the west of Karlstad and 
serves a regional catchment 
of around 270,000 people. 
Bergvik was named by 
Market magazine Sweden’s 
best shopping centre in 
2018 and 2019.

C4
Kristianstad 
(Skåne)

C4 comprises a new 
shopping centre of 31,600m² 
and an adjoining City 
Gross hypermarket located 
alongside the E22 motorway 
outside Kristianstad and 
serves a regional catchment 
of 300,000.

Grand Samarkand is  
located in the main external 
retail zone of Växjö.  
The shopping centre was 
recently redeveloped  
to provide around  
65 shops adjoining an  
ICA hypermarket.

Grand Samarkand
Växjö 
(Småland)

Sweden portfolio

Catchment 270,000

Occupancy* 97%

Visitors 3.1m

Total lettable 
area

41,447m2

ECP ownership 41,447m2

Shops 85

BREEAM In-Use certified.

*	 Calculated by floor area

Catchment 270,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 4.2m

Total lettable 
area

48,786m2

ECP ownership 32,561m2

Shops 70

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 300,000

Occupancy* 98%

Visitors 3.1m

Total lettable 
area

39,464m2

ECP ownership 39,464m2

Shops 90

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 240,000

Occupancy* 99%

Visitors 3.3m

Total lettable 
area

37,155m2

ECP ownership 24,723m2

Shops 65

BREEAM In-Use certified.

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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Valbo
Gävle 
(Gästrikland)

Valbo is located on the E16 
motorway outside Gävle and 
is an established regional 
shopping centre comprising 
37,000m² GLA and is let 
to 75 retailers including a 
Coop hypermarket and 
part of the adjoining IKEA. 
A major refurbishment 
and improvement to the 
masterplan was recently 
completed to include new 
stores for New Yorker, 
Hemtex and a full-concept 
H&M.

Ingelsta Shopping
Norrköping
(Östergötland)

Ingelsta is located in the 
main external retail area 
of Norrköping at the city’s 
northern entrance from the 
E4 motorway. Ingelsta was 
recently refurbished and 
extended and comprises  
an ICA hypermarket and  
50 shops.

Elins Esplanad
Skövde 
(Västergötland)

Elins Esplanad provides 
40 shops and an ICA 
hypermarket. Six new stores 
recently opened including 
H&M, Cassels and a  
Nordic Wellness gym. 
Planning approval for a 
further 5,000m² GLA has  
been obtained.

Catchment 250,000

Occupancy* 99%

Visitors 3.4m

Total lettable 
area

54,543m2

ECP ownership 36,953m2

Shops 75

* 	 Calculated by floor area.

Catchment 280,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 3.5m

Total lettable 
area

37,744m2

ECP ownership 37,744m2

Shops 50

BREEAM In-Use certified.

Catchment 240,000

Occupancy* 100%

Visitors 3.4m

Total lettable 
area

26,317m2

ECP ownership 26,317m2

Shops 40

BREEAM In-Use certified.

NB: All figures are for 2020 except for visitor numbers which are for 2019.
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Corporate Governance

In accordance with the Netherlands Corporate 
Governance Code, a broad outline of the corporate 
governance structure of the Company is presented 
in this section, including any departures from the 
Code’s best practices.

The full text of the Code can be found on the 
website www.mccg.nl.

In the following paragraphs the aforementioned 
broad outline is presented. 

General Meeting of Shareholders

The General Meeting of Shareholders has core 
overriding powers on such matters as statutory 
changes, adoption of the annual accounts and 
profit appropriation. It has powers regarding 
the appointment, suspension, dismissal and 
remuneration of members of the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board. 

Shareholders and holders of depositary receipts 
are entitled to attend and to vote at the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. Upon written request by 
shareholders and holders of depositary receipts,  
who solely or jointly represent 10% of the issued 
capital, the Board of Management and the 
Supervisory Board shall be required to convene 
a General Meeting of Shareholders. The notice 
calling that meeting shall specify the items to 
be considered. The Secretary appointed for the 
meeting will take minutes of the proceedings at 
the meeting. The minutes will be signed by the 
Chairman of the meeting and by the Secretary. 
In principle, the minutes will be published on the 
Company’s website within three months after  
the meeting.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board’s primary task is to 
supervise the activities of the Company and to 
provide advice and guidance to the Board of 
Management. In pursuing these responsibilities, 
the Supervisory Board takes the interests of all 
stakeholders into account. Supervision focuses on 
the achievement of corporate goals and strategy. 
In addition, the Supervisory Board supervises 
the proper management of internal risk and 
execution of control structures, the property 
and financial reporting process, and legal and 

regulatory compliance. Finally, the Supervisory 
Board is involved in drawing up the remuneration 
policy of the Company and ratifies the individual 
remuneration of the Board of Management 
members according to the policy and remuneration 
proposals approved by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. Under powers granted to it by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders for the period 
to 30 June 2021, the Board of Management, 
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, is 
authorised to issue new shares up to a maximum 
of 10% of the issued share capital and to determine 
the terms of issue, including the power to limit 
or exclude the pre-emptive rights of existing 
shareholders. Mutatis mutandis the same applies  
to the granting of rights to subscribe for shares.

The members of the Supervisory Board are 
appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders 
from a binding nomination to be drawn up by the 
Supervisory Board. This Board also determines the 
number of Managing Directors and Supervisory 
Directors of the Company. The General Meeting 
of Shareholders determines the remuneration 
of members of the Supervisory Board. With 
the exception of one member, all members of 
the Supervisory Board are independent of one 
another, the Board of Management and any 
particular interest. Pursuant to the Articles of 
Association, the Supervisory Directors retire 
under a rotation scheme. In view of the current 
size of the Supervisory Board (five members), 
each appointment will be made for a maximum 
period of four years. Any proposal for appointment 
or reappointment to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders shall be properly explained. In the 
case of a reappointment, account will be taken of 
the candidate’s performance and functioning as a 
Supervisory Director. The rules and regulations of 
the Supervisory Board stipulate that the maximum 
term of office is 12 years. The amended Code 
provides for the basic principle that Supervisory 
Directors are appointed for two periods of four 
years. Reappointment is possible for a maximum 
term of a further two two-year periods. A resolution 
by the General Meeting of Shareholders to dismiss  
or suspend a Supervisory Director can be passed  
with a simple majority of the votes cast, representing  
more than half of the issued share capital.
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The Supervisory Board meets according to a fixed 
schedule of meetings. In the 18 month period 
under review the Supervisory Board met nine 
times and for over three months held weekly video 
meetings with management to be kept up to date 
in respect of the impact of the COVID-19 virus on 
the business of the Company. Furthermore, there 
are special meetings dedicated to a discussion – 
without the Board of Management being present 
– of the Supervisory Board’s own functioning, the 
relationship with the Board of Management and 
the composition, assessment and remuneration of 
the Board of Management. The Supervisory Board 
profile with which the members of the Supervisory 
Board are expected to comply will be evaluated 
annually and, where necessary, revised.

In the year under review, no business transactions 
took place in which conflicts of interest could have 
played a role. Any business transactions between 
the Company and the members of the Boards are 
published in the Annual Report. The profile, rules 
and regulations of the Supervisory Board and the 
resignation rota for members of the Supervisory 
Board are published on the Company’s website.

Board of Management

The Board of Management (as per 1 November 
2020 consisting of Evert Jan van Garderen, Roberto 
Fraticelli and Peter Mills) is responsible for managing 
the Company and its subsidiaries. It is accountable 
for the pursuit and achievement of corporate goals 
and objectives of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
its strategy and policies. In addition to determining 
strategy and its implementation, the Board of 
Management should optimise risk management 
and control, financing and ensuring the Company 
and its subsidiaries comply with legal and other 
applicable regulatory requirements.

The members of the Board of Management are 
appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders 
from a binding nomination to be drawn up by 
the Supervisory Board. Managing Directors are 
appointed for a maximum renewable period of four 
years. The Board of Management’s remuneration 
is determined in line with the policy set out in 
the Remuneration Report. A key indicator for 

remuneration is based on aligning the Board of 
Management with the interests of shareholders.  
The remuneration of the Board of Management 
will be submitted to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders for approval. The Supervisory  
Board prepares a Remuneration Report annually.  
The report is posted on the Company’s website. 

A resolution by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders to dismiss or suspend a Managing 
Director can be passed with a simple majority of 
the votes cast, representing more than half of the 
issued share capital. The amount of compensation 
that a member of the Board of Management may 
receive on termination of his or her employment 
may not exceed one year’s base salary.

Evert Jan van Garderen, Chief Executive Officer 
Evert Jan van Garderen (59) joined the Company  
in 1994 after experience in a major law firm  
and an international investment group. He held the 
position of Finance Director from 1994 until he  
was appointed Chief Executive Officer in November 
2020. Mr van Garderen, a graduate of Erasmus 
University Rotterdam, is both a Chartered 
Accountant and a qualified lawyer.

Roberto Fraticelli, Chief Financial Officer 
Roberto Fraticelli (49) joined Eurocommercial in 
1998. He was appointed Chief Financial Officer in 
November 2020 and holds the position of Head 
of Italy since 2016. Mr Fraticelli holds a university 
degree in Business Administration from the LUISS 
University (Rome), a degree in Political Science from 
the University of Amsterdam and an Executive MBA 
from the Erasmus University Rotterdam. He is also 
a Chartered Surveyor. 

Peter Mills, Chief Investment Officer 
Peter Mills (62) joined Eurocommercial in 1993 
after experience at major international property 
consultants covering the UK and European 
retail markets. Mr Mills was responsible for the 
Company’s operations in Sweden until he was 
appointed Chief Investment Officer in November 
2020. Mr Mills is a Chartered Surveyor and read 
Land Economy at Cambridge University. 
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Corporate Governance continued

Administrative Foundation

The Company’s shares are listed on Euronext 
Amsterdam and Euronext Brussels in the form of 
registered depositary receipts issued by Stichting 
Administratiekantoor Eurocommercial Properties 
(the Administrative Foundation), each depositary 
receipt representing ten registered shares in the 
capital of the Company, which shares are held by 
the Administrative Foundation. To allow investors 
in the Company to have equal rights, holders of 
depositary receipts are able to exercise voting 
powers as if they were shareholders. The conditions 
of administration govern the relationship between 
the Administrative Foundation and the holders of 
depositary receipts. Furthermore, these holders 
of depositary receipts are entitled pro rata to the 
same distribution of dividends on the number 
of shares corresponding with the depositary 
receipts held. Also, holders of depositary receipts 
can obtain an irrevocable proxy to exercise at 
shareholder meetings the voting powers attached 
to such number of shares as correspond with the 
depositary receipts held.

In accordance with the conditions of administration, 
the voting rights attached to the shares with respect 
to which the holders of depositary receipts for those 
shares do not make use of the power of attorney, 
are exercised by the Administrative Foundation in 
such a way that the Administrative Foundation will 
primarily be guided by the interests of the holders 
of depositary receipts, taking into account the 
interests of the shareholders and the Company  
and its subsidiaries and affiliated companies.  
The Administrative Foundation will normally exercise 
its aforementioned voting rights in favour of all 
resolutions proposed by the Board of Management 
and the Supervisory Board unless such resolutions 
are manifestly contrary to the interests of the 
shareholders and the holders of depositary receipts.

The Board of Trustees of the Administrative 
Foundation currently comprises three independent 
members. The Articles of Association and the 
conditions of administration of the Administrative 
Foundation are posted on the Company’s website  
and the Company and the Administrative Foundation  
comply with Principle 4.4 of the Code and the related  
best practices for issuing depositary receipts.

Proposal for a change of the Company’s 
governance for the winding up of the 
Administrative Foundation 

In its 15 month results 2019/2020 report published 
on 27 October 2020, the Company announced it 
would modernise the corporate governance of the 
Company and that the Board of Management and 
the Supervisory Board would prepare a proposal 
for a change of the Company’s governance for the 
winding up of the Administrative Foundation, to 
allow all shareholders and holders of depositary 
receipts to decide on the matter in the 2021 Annual 
General Meeting. This proposal has been prepared 
and is published today with the Notice and Agenda 
for the 2021 Annual General Meeting.

External auditor

The external auditor is appointed by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. The external auditor 
attends the meeting of the Supervisory Board and 
the Board of Management at which the annual  
and half-year figures are discussed and adopted. 
The Supervisory Board also meets the external 
auditor without the presence of the Board of 
Management. The quarterly, half-year and annual 
figures presented in press releases are discussed 
with the external auditor prior to publication.  
The annual accounts are audited by the external 
auditor and the half-year accounts as at  
31 December 2019 are subject to a review  
by the external auditor.

The General Meeting of Shareholders may 
question the external auditor about their report on 
the fairness of the annual accounts. The external 
auditor will address the meeting in respect of  
this matter.

KPMG Accountants N.V. were reappointed as the 
Company’s auditors by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders in November 2019 for the financial 
year 2020/2021. Due to the extension of the 
financial year of the Company to 31 December 
2020, the reappointment of the Company’s auditors 
for the current and the next financial year will be 
tabled at the 2021 Annual General Meeting.
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Corporate governance best practice

The only principles and best practice provisions of 
the Code with which the Company does not fully 
comply or which require an explanation are:

Principle 1.3 of the Code
There is no separate department for the internal 
audit function, but this function is outsourced to  
a reputable audit firm.

Principle 3.2 of the Code
Where Principle 3.2 of the Code provides that the 
Supervisory Board determines the remuneration 
of the members of the Board of Management, in 
accordance with the Netherlands Civil Code and 
the Articles of Association of the Company, it is 
provided that the remuneration of the individual 
members of the Board of Management is 
determined and adopted by the General Meeting  
of Shareholders.

Provision 4.3.3 of the Code
Members of the Board of Management and the 
Board of Supervisory Directors are appointed to 
and removed from office by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. This is in line with the Code. Pursuant 
to the Articles of Association of the Company, the 
Board of Supervisory Directors has the right to 
make binding nominations for the appointment 
of members of the Board of Management and 
the Board of Supervisory Directors. The Code 
considers as best practice in provision 4.3.3 
that the General Meeting of Shareholders may 
cancel the binding nature of a nomination by an 
absolute majority of the votes cast with a quorum 
requirement of not more than one third of the 
issued share capital. The Articles of Association 
of the Company are aligned with art. 2:133(2) of 
the Netherlands Civil Code and provide that the 
General Meeting of Shareholders may cancel the 
binding nature of a nomination by a two-thirds 
majority of the votes cast, representing more than 
one half of the issued share capital. Also, the 
Articles of Association of the Company provide that 
no new meeting can be convened if the required 
quorum is not met. The Board of Supervisory 
Directors and the Board of Management are of 
the opinion that these deviations from provision 

4.3.3 of the Code will enhance the continuity of the 
Company and contribute to the long-term value 
creation by the Company.

Corporate responsibility

Shopping centres play a major role within the local 
community as places for people not only to shop 
in, but also to relax and interact with each other. 
The Company therefore strives to integrate itself as 
much as possible into its surrounding environment. 
Reference is made to the ESG section of the  
Annual Report. 

The Company holds events in its centres to educate 
and entertain its visitors to enhance their enjoyment 
of the shopping centre facilities. The events are 
often held in conjunction with a local government 
body, charity or corporate sponsors to align it with a 
particular cause. Many of the Company’s shopping 
centres also support local sports teams through 
sponsorship agreements. 

The Company is committed at both the corporate 
and operational level to minimising the impact 
of its business activities on the environment. 
The Company discloses its energy and water 
consumption, waste production and greenhouse 
gas emissions on an annual basis. This information 
can be found on page 48.

Consumption information related to properties 
acquired during the reporting period is included 
in the absolute data from the date the acquisition 
completed but does not appear in the like-for-like 
comparisons until the properties have been owned 
for a full two years. Information related to properties 
disposed of during the reporting period is included 
in the absolute data up until the date the sale is 
completed but is excluded from the like-for-like 
comparisons.
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Corporate Governance continued

The reported energy and greenhouse gas 
performance measures relate to all Company-
obtained energy and water consumed in the 
Company’s properties. Consumption data at 
each property is collected from utility invoices and 
entered into a centralised database. Data was not 
estimated. The advisory firm UpCycle assisted  
the Company in preparing the data in line with  
the EPRA reporting guidelines. 

Renewable energies (bio-gas, water, wind and 
geothermal) are used to a greater or lesser extent in 
all of the Swedish centres, while in France and Italy 
photovoltaic panels have been, and will continue 
to be, installed on properties as part of ongoing 
maintenance and upgrade works. Several centres 
now have facilities to collect rainwater to use for 
irrigation and waste facilities. 

Recycling is carried out in all of the Company’s retail 
properties, and in many instances customers can 
also bring their residential refuse to the shopping 
centres to be recycled. As the properties continue 
to be upgraded and extended, the Company’s 
aim is to introduce more environmentally friendly 
materials and mechanisms to increase energy 
efficiency and minimise waste.

At the corporate level, the Company uses video 
conferencing systems to lower internal travel costs. 
In addition, the offices have recycling programmes 
in place.

The Company employed an average of 94  
full-time equivalent persons during the financial 
reporting period, of whom 16 are residents in  
The Netherlands, 32 in Italy, 27 in France, 11 in 
Sweden and 8 in the UK. 55% of employees  
are female and 45% are male. Of the workforce,  
8 are under the age of 30, 61 are between the  
ages of 30 and 50 and 25 are over the age of 50. 
These facts show how diversity is implemented 
throughout the organisation by differences in 
nationality, age and gender.

The Company understands that its employees are 
its most important asset. To this end, it actively 
encourages and supports employees to further 
their professional training and development, where 
appropriate. The Company prides itself on being a 
good employer, which is epitomised in the lengthy 
average tenure of employment and very low 
personnel turnover.

Organisation, culture and long-term  
value creation

Eurocommercial has offices in Amsterdam, 
Milan, Paris and Stockholm. The French, Italian 
and Swedish teams are responsible for in-house 
functions such as leasing, rent collection, technical 
supervision and administration. The French team  
is also responsible for Woluwe Shopping in 
Brussels.

The Board of Management and Country Directors, 
responsible for the respective countries, keep the 
Supervisory Board of the Company fully informed  
of operations through formal management reports 
and informal discussions as necessary.

Investment in property is a local and long-term 
business. The country teams therefore comprise 
only nationals and residents of the country in 
which investments are made. The teams consist 
of skilled professionals with relevant experience 
who understand the importance of local values 
and practices to avoid errors and mistakes. There 
is a significant number of employees who have 
been employed for more than ten years. Also, the 
remuneration of the local teams is linked to the 
performance of the local property portfolio based 
on rental growth and asset value growth in the 
respective countries.

At the same time an international organisation 
requires high standards of transparency, reporting 
and accountability. The Company is promoting 
clear and open communication and taking 
responsibility. Complying with high standards  
of good business practices is fundamental for  
long-term value creation. A good long-term 
relationship with tenants, local communities and 
governments requires diligent staff who adhere 
to proper business ethics and are fully aware that 
reputational risk for the Company and its employees 
is a very important risk factor which needs to be 
carefully managed. Training of management and 
staff in these areas and cross-country meetings and 
visits by management and staff members therefore 
take place regularly, so that there is good internal 
knowledge sharing and a good understanding  
of how Eurocommercial management and staff  
should act and perform. The Code of Conduct 
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of the Company provides the core rules for 
management and staff to adhere to and provides 
guidance on behaviour and on maintaining the 
Eurocommercial values. During the financial 
reporting period no violation of the Code of 
Conduct has been reported or established.

Every employee under a permanent labour contract 
is entitled to the long-term incentive under the 
Group’s Performance Share Plan, which is clearly 
aimed at linking remuneration to a long-term 
commitment of the individual employee and the 
performance of the Company. It is believed this 
Plan contributes to alignment of management 
and staff with the interests of the Company and 
its stakeholders and underlines the culture in 
the Group that each individual is considered to 
contribute to the success of the Company and is 
therefore also entitled to a long-term incentive.

Remuneration

The remuneration policy for Supervisory Directors 
and Managing Directors, which has been applicable 
in previous years, has been continued. Supervisory 
Directors receive a fixed fee. Managing Directors 
may be entitled to cash bonuses in addition to their 
base salaries. These bonuses, like those of the 
senior managers, are directly linked to the annual 
growth in the Company’s net asset value, dividend 
per share and the annual relative performance 
as per the end of the financial year of the listed 
depositary receipts of the Company compared with 
a peer group of ten listed retail property companies. 
This growth percentage, if any, is used to calculate 
the variable income as a percentage of base salary. 
Since 2012, a Performance Share Plan has been 
in place for Managing Directors, regional directors 
and permanent staff of the Company. Under this 
scheme, conditional performance depositary 
receipts may be granted from time to time, but 
these only vest after three years have lapsed from 
the date of granting, provided certain targets are 
met. After vesting, these depositary receipts are 
blocked for another two years. The remuneration 
policy is set out in the Remuneration Report posted 
on the Company’s website. A summary of the 
Remuneration Report is included in the Report of 
the Board of Supervisory Directors on page 87.
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Risk Management

Internal risk management and control 
systems

The Company has clearly identified its risks, 
comprising strategic risks, operational risks, 
financial risks, reporting risks and compliance  
and reputation risks.

The strategic risks mainly concern the global 
economy, the occurrence of a pandemic, the 
property sector and country allocation, as well as 
the timing of investments and divestments and 
the leverage used. Operational risks include asset 
and tenant selection, performance by suppliers, 
third parties and the Company’s organisation and 
systems, and also the technical condition of the 
properties and risks related to taxation. Financial 
risks comprise interest rate and currency risk as 
well as refinancing risk. The Company operates a 
comprehensive insurance programme for those 
risks which can be effectively and efficiently insured.

The Company has appropriate internal risk 
management and control systems. Key elements 
of the internal control systems are a management 
structure designed to enable effective and collegiate 
decision-making, monthly review of important 
indicators, such as turnover in shopping centres, 
rent collection, vacancy, arrears and doubtful 
debtors, and weekly meetings between the Board 
of Management and the Country Directors and 
senior staff to review each country’s performance 
against budgets and long-term financial plans.

Detailed procedures and responsibilities for 
the various country teams, as well as for the 
segregation of duties and authorisation structures 
have been implemented and maintained. Payment 
procedures are very detailed and strict. Payments 
always require the involvement of the Amsterdam 
head office, where all payments for the Group are 
finally authorised by at least two senior signatories, 

Control systems for Eurocommercial Properties
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as country offices cannot make any payments 
under the procedures in place. Strict procedures 
are also observed for the periodic drawing up of 
monthly, quarterly and annual figures on the basis 
of the adopted policies. The internal management 
reporting system is designed to directly identify 
developments in the value of investments and 
in income and expenses. For this purpose, use 
is made of electronic data processing within 
automated, integrated central information systems. 
There is a back-up and recovery plan in place so 
that data can be restored. IT systems and data 
bases are located at a professional specialised 
external data centre with high protection against 
disruptions and power failure. Professionally 
managing and controlling risks associated with 
safeguarding the continuity, availability, functioning 
and security of its IT systems is of vital importance 
to the Company. The Company invests in further 
digitalising its corporate processes, focusing 
extensively on the security of its data and other 
information, to prevent serious business interruptions  
and cybercrime and to comply with prevailing 
privacy legislation. 

Due to its size, the Company has no internal audit 
department, but has outsourced the internal  
audit function to an audit firm. The Supervisory 
Board discusses the external auditors’ findings  
on the Company’s internal control environment 
with the Board of Management and the external 
auditors. The Supervisory Board supervises the 
internal control framework and procedures and  
the assessment of risks facing the Company and  
its subsidiaries.

Risk management policies

The Company has a long-term investment horizon 
and carefully monitors its exposure to risks deriving 
from its investment policies. Established controls 
are in place covering the implementation of its 
policies and the monitoring of the related results 
and implications. Policies, guidelines, reporting 
systems and segregation of duties have been 
issued and are currently in place to enable the 
above-mentioned controls.

The Company’s management structure and 
corporate strategy are designed to serve  
long-term value creation including maximisation  
of shareholder value while minimising risks to  
the accepted risk appetite.

All major corporate, property and financial 
decisions are discussed and reviewed at regular 
meetings of the Board of Management together 
with senior management comprising the finance 
team, the heads of the Belgian, French, Italian and 
Swedish businesses, the Group Leasing Director, 
the research department, the Investor Relations 
Director and the Group Economist. The team 
reviews the item – be it an acquisition, renovation 
project, property management, leasing, extension/
refurbishment, divestment, fundraising or financing 
issue – against a number of key criteria including 
financial implications, strategic fit and the impact it 
will have on the rest of the Company. The Board  
of Management will normally act upon the 
recommendations of this meeting.

Additional controls have been put in place to  
identify and minimise risk through assigning 
responsibilities to certain individuals and regularly 
reviewing procedures.

During the financial reporting period, the risk 
management policies and any changes were 
reviewed and discussed with the Supervisory 
Board and were approved by the Board  
of Management.

Strategic risk

Global economy/occurrence of a pandemic
Since early 2020, the global economy and 
our business have been heavily impacted by 
the COVID-19 virus. COVID-19 has resulted in 
(temporary) closures of our shopping centres and 
further restrictions for visitors to our shopping 
centres, when open. In all four countries where the 
Company operates shopping centres, the national 
and local governments have taken strict measures 
to limit the spread of the virus. The Company may 
be exposed to an increased risk due to COVID-19 
or other epidemics or pandemics, which are likely to 
have a material adverse effect on the Company, its 
operations, financial position and/or results, financial 
forecast/guidance and share price. 
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Risk Management continued

Factors potentially impacting the financial results 
and the financial forecast/guidance include:  
temporary or total closure of assets, rent concessions,  
the decision by tenants to reduce or cease their 
operations, retailer insolvencies or bankruptcies, 
ongoing local or national operational restrictions, 
such as customer capacity restrictions, ongoing 
closure of assets, cinemas, food courts, restaurants 
etc. and other measures aimed at containing and 
reducing the impact of viruses.

Our strategy has been to be generous to tenants for 
the COVID-19 lockdown periods but to insist that 
once the rent holiday period finishes, normal rent 
obligations under the leases will be met, as indeed 
the vast majority of our tenants have agreed.  
This strategy has helped us to maintain our strong 
relationships with retailers and avoid payment 
difficulties for our tenants.

Evolution of the retail market 
In the countries where the Company operates 
its shopping centres, online shopping has been 
increasing over the past years. The pandemic 
has increased risk concerns on the retail sector.  
As customers need to stay at home to limit 
exposure to COVID-19, footfall in shopping centres 
reduced and reliance on online shopping increased. 
These restrictive measures may force retailers to 
close or go bankrupt, impacting the rental income 
for the Company. 

The Company owns shopping centres which 
have a good mix of shops and a supermarket/
hypermarket for daily shopping needs. It is now 
clear that notwithstanding the greatly increased 
use of online shopping during the lockdowns, 
people are returning to physical shops, particularly 
in provincial and suburban centres with strong 
grocery anchors.

Due to the COVID-19 circumstances, several 
measures have been taken to ensure that our 
assets provide the best conditions for our tenants 
and customers. Our teams have been focusing their 
efforts on making sure that our shopping centres 
are safe places for people to shop, which includes 
regular cleaning and disinfection of all areas, making 
sure alcohol-based hand sanitiser is available 
throughout centres. Health and safety protocols  
have been drafted for each shopping centre to 
comply with official guidelines. In addition, we  
have taken measures to control visitor flows and 
ensure a low density of people present at any  
given time, in line with social distancing guidelines. 
This includes markings on the ground and 
innovative technological measures to ensure the 
best possible experience for our customers.

Country and sector weighting of assets
The Company invests in a relatively predictable 
real estate sector (retail) and in relatively wealthy 
and stable economies (Belgium, France, Italy 
and Sweden) to minimise economic and political 
risk. By limiting the number and types of sectors 
and countries in which the Company operates, 
management can maintain a high level of 
understanding and insight into how the assets 
perform, which in turn reduces risk. However, 
the diversification achieved by investing in these 
countries, both in provincial and major cities, 
reduces risk further, as well as the spread among 
a large number of tenants, with a relatively small 
exposure to any one single tenant (largest exposure 
to one single tenant is 3.7% of total portfolio rent).
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Timing of investments and divestments
Timing is of fundamental importance in all 
investments and divestments, and management  
will take into account the broadest possible 
parameters, whether economic, political or fiscal.

The internal research teams maintain a detailed 
database on the regions in which the Company is 
invested or those areas in which it is considering 
making an investment. Every effort is made to 
research the demographics and economics 
of these areas to evaluate suitable timings for 
an acquisition, extension or divestment. The 
management structure is such that timely and 
efficient decisions can be made on the basis of 
information provided. The Company’s property 
experts’ detailed knowledge of relevant international 
property markets in which they have operated for 
many years also provides experience to help avoid 
serious errors. Data such as monthly retail sales  
of retailers, vacancies, arrears and doubtful  
debtors are also regularly reviewed to assist in 
decision-making.

Operational risk

Asset selection
The Company seeks to minimise risks by investing 
in properties where rents can survive a downturn  
in consumer spending and at a yield that provides 
an adequate return in light of financing costs. 
Management conducts thorough due diligence 
on assets before an acquisition is made, assisted 
by external parties including property consultants, 
lawyers, surveyors, tax advisers and accountants. 
The Company also has an asset rotation 
programme in place, which includes disposal  
of assets in the interest of the Group’s financial 
position and to maintain a robust balance sheet.

Counterparty risks
The risk of the Company doing business with 
parties that are found not to operate in good faith, 
are fraudulent or have a bad reputation. It also 
concerns the risk of our employees being part of a 
fraudulent transaction. The Company only wishes 
to do business with parties of good standing and 
reputation. A KYC check is a standard element 
of the due diligence process for acquisitions and 

divestments, as well as for new lease contracts, 
new suppliers or for entering into new partnerships. 
The Company’s Code of Conduct provides the 
core rules for management and staff exposed to 
counterparty risks.

Tenant selection and credit risk
The creditworthiness of tenants is researched 
thoroughly and bank guarantees or deposits are 
always required in Belgium, France and Italy but  
not in Sweden where this is not market practice. 
The credit risk in Sweden is no different as 
compared to the risk in other countries. Property 
performance is reviewed by analysing monthly retail 
sales and visitor numbers, vacancies and arrears. 
Such information allows the Management Team 
to make prompt judgements about how a tenant 
is performing and its impact on the performance 
of the rest of the centre. The credit risk associated 
with lease debtors is determined through a detailed 
analysis of the tenant’s outstanding debt. The credit 
risk has also been reduced by investing in mature 
markets and by choosing major tenants on the 
basis of their financial strength.

Physical condition of properties
A technical director in each country, in conjunction 
with local centre managers, is responsible for the 
regular review and maintenance of the physical 
condition of individual properties. Maintenance is 
carried out on a regular basis and the Company is 
insured against property damage and consequent 
loss of income that may arise from such events. 
Checks are frequently made to review security, fire, 
health and safety and environmental issues within 
each property.

Property extension/redevelopment risk
Extensions and redevelopments will only proceed if 
planning consent has been received, the financing 
is arranged, the majority of the project is pre-let  
and other commitments have been received from 
anchor tenants. The Company is always guided 
and advised by an external project team but also 
employs in-house specialists. The building works 
are outsourced to a contractor with a sound 
reputation. During the works the Company takes out  
additional property and liability insurance policies.
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Risk Management continued

Taxation
The Company is tax-exempt in Belgium, France 
and The Netherlands and subject to corporate 
income tax in Italy and Sweden. It is difficult to 
assess whether the Company will have to pay more 
taxes in the future due to changes made to the  
tax systems in the countries where the Company 
operates, but it cannot be excluded. 

Financial risk

Credit risk
The Company minimises the risks related to the 
possible default of its counterparties by dealing  
with major financial institutions for all its borrowings, 
interest rate swaps, foreign exchange contracts and 
deposits. The counterparty risk associated with 
these transactions is limited to the cost of replacing 
these agreements at the current market rate should 
an event of default occur. The Company, however, 
considers the risk of incurring losses as a result of 
default remote.

Interest rate risk
As the Company’s policy is to have long-term 
investments, the borrowings used to fund them  
are also long-term (five to ten years but preferably 
for ten years or more). The Company uses fixed 
interest loans, interest rate swaps and other 
financial instruments to manage its interest rate  
risk. It is Company policy to operate a defensive 
interest rate hedging policy to protect the Company 
against increases in interest rates. The Company  
is hedged at an average interest rate of 1.8% and 
only 25% of the total borrowings are at a floating 
rate. An increase in interest rates of 1% would 
therefore only have a limited negative impact of an 
additional annual interest expense of €2.8 million,  
or 2.6%, of the reported direct investment result.

Liquidity risk
In order to reduce liquidity risk the Company has 
adopted a strategy of spreading the debt maturity 
profile of its borrowings and the relative repayment 
dates. Moreover, in some cases the Company  
has at its disposal flexible long-term borrowings 
(which allow no penalty repayments and re-drawing 
of funds up to agreed amounts) and short-term 
committed and uncommitted lines. An analysis of 
the liquidity risk related to future cash flows due  
to interest payments, repayment of borrowings, 
rental deposits and payments to other creditors is 
provided in note 20 (financial instruments) of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Currency risk
The only significant foreign currency exposure  
for the Company is its exposure to the Swedish 
property markets. However, due to SEK loan 
facilities with major financial institutions and 
currency swaps (if applicable), a hedging of the 
foreign currency is achieved up to 40%. The 
remaining exposure is relatively limited compared 
with the total size of the portfolio and will in principle 
not be hedged. Net SEK income may also be 
hedged from time to time by using defensive 
currency derivatives. A weakening of this currency 
by 5% would result, for example, in a decrease of 
shareholders’ equity of only 1.2% and in a decrease 
of only 1.4% of reported direct investment result.

Reporting risk

The Company draws up an annual budget by 
country and individual asset, which is compared on 
a monthly basis with actual results. Furthermore, 
budgets for capital expenditure and liquidity 
forecasts are prepared. Quarterly figures are 
discussed with the external auditor prior to 
publication and then published to the market in the 
form of a press release. The annual accounts are 
audited by the external auditor and the half-year 
accounts are usually subject to a limited review  
by the external auditor.
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Compliance risk and reputation risk

At the corporate level the Company complies with 
the Netherlands Corporate Governance Code 
and the Netherlands Act on Financial Supervision 
(Wet op het financieel toezicht) as it is listed on 
Euronext Amsterdam, which is its home market. 
The Company has a secondary listing on Euronext 
Brussels. All employees are made aware of the 
regulations, and procedures are in place to ensure 
that employees comply with the rules and are 
aware of the high standards of ethics applicable. 
It is very important that any, even small, deviation 
of what is required under these standards could 
trigger that the reputation of the Company  
and its management and staff becomes at risk.  
The Company has an internal code of conduct  
and a whistleblower’s code that all employees  
are required to read, understand and adhere to.  
The Country Directors are also responsible for 
complying with local laws and regulations.

In control statement

The Company has a description of the organisation 
of its business operations (Administrative 
Organisation and Internal Control). During the 
financial period ended 31 December 2020, the 
Company has evaluated various aspects of the 
Company’s Administrative Organisation and 
Internal Control and found nothing to indicate that 
the description of the structure of the Company’s 
Administrative Organisation and Internal Control 
does not meet the requirements as included in the 
Code. Also, there have been no indications during 
the financial period ended 31 December 2020 that 
the Company’s Administrative Organisation and 
Internal Control were ineffective and did not function 
in accordance with the description. The Board of 
Management therefore states with a reasonable 
level of assurance that the organisation of its 
business operations functioned effectively and in 
accordance with the description. It is not expected 
that during the current financial year a major change 

will be made to the design of the Company’s 
administrative organisation and internal control. 
Due to its size, the Company has no internal audit 
department, but has outsourced the internal audit 
function to an audit firm.

Given the nature and size of the Company and its 
operations, inherent internal control limitations exist 
including limited possibilities to segregate duties, 
disproportionate control costs versus benefits, 
catastrophe and collusion risk etc. Absolute 
assurance cannot be provided as a result of  
these inherent limitations.

The Board of Management believes that the design 
of the internal controls for financial reporting provide 
a reasonable level of assurance: (i) to prevent 
material inaccuracies in the financial statements  
of the Company for the financial period ended  
31 December 2020, as included in this Annual 
Report; and (ii) that the risk management and 
control systems as described above worked 
properly in the financial period ended  
31 December 2020.

As required by provision 1.4.3 of the Code 
and on the basis of the foregoing, the Board 
of Management states that: (a) this report 
provides sufficient insights into any failings in the 
effectiveness of the internal risk management 
and control systems; (b) the aforementioned 
systems provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial reporting does not contain any material 
inaccuracies; (c) based on the current state of 
affairs, it is justified that the financial reporting is 
prepared on a going concern basis; and (d) this 
report states those material risks and uncertainties 
that are relevant to the expectation of the Company’s  
continuity for the period of 12 months after the 
preparation of this report. 
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Risk Management continued

Insurance

The Company is fully insured against property 
damage, liability and consequent loss of income 
for the period during which the property is rebuilt 
and relet. Terrorism, flooding and earthquake cover 
is limited by current market conditions, but the 
Company believes it has achieved a reasonable 
balance of risk cover and premium costs.  
The insurance programme is benchmarked  
against its peer groups on an annual basis.

Taxation 

As a tax-exempt quoted Netherlands-based Fiscal 
Investment Institution, all investment income, 
whatever its source, is tax-free at the corporate level 
if it is distributed to shareholders. The Company 
is also tax-exempt in France as a SIIC (Société 
d’investissements Immobiliers Cotée) and in Belgium  
the Company’s subsidiary is subject to the special 
tax regime under which property revenues are 
tax exempt (FIIS/GVBF). In Italy and Sweden the 
Company’s subsidiaries are subject to corporate 
income tax and are in a corporate income tax 
payable position.

Amsterdam, 23 April 2021
Board of Management
E.J. van Garderen
R. Fraticelli
J.P.C. Mills

Responsibility statement

With reference to the EU Transparency Directive 
and Article 5:25c, section 2 c sub 2 of the Act 
on Financial Supervision, we hereby state to 
the best of our knowledge that the financial 
statements for the financial period ended  
31 December 2020 give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
results of the Group, and that the management 
report of the Board of Management includes a 
fair review of the development and performance 
of the business during the financial year and the 
position of the Group at the balance sheet date, 
together with a description of the principal risks 
associated with the Group.

Amsterdam, 23 April 2021
Board of Management
E.J. van Garderen 
R. Fraticelli 
J.P.C. Mills
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Report of the Board of  
Supervisory Directors

To the General Meeting of Shareholders

Financial statements

We are pleased to present the Annual Report of 
Eurocommercial Properties N.V. for the financial 
reporting period ended 31 December 2020,  
as drawn up by the Board of Management. 
The auditors, KPMG Accountants N.V., have 
audited the financial statements and have issued  
an unqualified report thereon. We recommend  
that you adopt the financial statements.

Dividend proposal

We support the proposal of the Board of 
Management to distribute a cash dividend of  
€0.50 per depositary receipt (each representing  
ten shares) and a mandatory scrip dividend of  
one new depositary receipt (representing ten 
shares) for each 18 existing depositary receipts 
(representing ten shares) held for the financial 
reporting period ended 31 December 2020. 

The impact of COVID-19

Since mid March 2020 the Company has issued 
several press releases on the impact of the COVID 
19 restrictions as issued by the national and local 
governments and the impact on its business.  
In these press releases attention was paid to 
among others (temporary) closures of the shopping 
centres, restrictions on client capacity, the impact 
on turnover and footfall, agreement on rent 
concessions, secured rental income and arrears. 

Founder and Chief Executive Mr Jeremy 
Lewis retired

Since the inception of the Company in 1991, its 
founder and Chief Executive Mr Jeremy Lewis has 
been at the helm for almost thirty years making  
an exceptional contribution. Having initiated  
the listing at the Amsterdam Stock Exchange, 
Jeremy successfully launched the Company  
and its investment proposition, growing the 

business before it became self-managed and 
independent of its asset manager, Schroders 
Bank. Jeremy’s outstanding talent also saw the 
Company’s timely shift in investment strategy to 
focus purely on retail property in its four current 
markets, having previously been invested in other 
sectors and European countries. The composition 
of today’s portfolio is the result of Jeremy’s skill 
and vision for which the Company is very thankful. 
Jeremy had a unique capacity to engage and 
inspire talented men and women as illustrated by 
its many long-serving employees. The Supervisory 
Board is very grateful for his professionalism and 
dedication to the Company. Jeremy has so many 
reasons to be very proud of what he has built, 
which is not only a large and successful company, 
but also a family of dedicated and talented people.

Provision of information

During the financial reporting period under review, 
there were nine formal meetings of the Supervisory 
Board which were also attended by the Board  
of Management and the Country Directors  
(the Management Team). In the 18 month period 
under review the Supervisory Board attended  
18 video meetings with the management team in 
the period March to August 2020 to be kept up 
to date in respect of the impact of the COVID-19 
virus on the business of the Company. There were 
another three additional video meetings held in the 
period September to December 2020 to discuss 
the impact of the COVID-19 virus, apart from the 
scheduled Supervisory Board meetings. In addition 
to the extensive information provided in connection 
with these meetings, the Supervisory Board is 
kept informed on a monthly basis of activities and 
financial performance through monthly wide-ranging  
management accounts which contain detailed 
analyses of rental income, rent collection, liquidity, 
costs of maintenance and extensions, interest, 
financing, Company expenses, investment 
developments, relevant markets and various other 
operational and financial items during the month 
under review, set off against budget and previous 
relevant periods. 
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Report of the Board of  
Supervisory Directors continued

Monitoring role

The Supervisory Board fulfils its monitoring 
role through several channels. The monthly 
management accounts are reviewed by all 
members of the Supervisory Board and provide 
a starting point for assessing and monitoring 
performance. These accounts are also regularly 
discussed between members of the Supervisory 
Board and the Chief Financial Officer. Points raised 
as a result of analysing the management accounts 
were discussed in the Board meetings throughout 
the year. 

Among the recurring topics discussed in the Board 
meetings were: 

•	Strategy and risk

•	Property and financial markets

•	Management and financial accounts 

•	Bank covenants

•	Rent collection, liquidity and funding

•	Rent concessions and leasing 

•	Foreign currencies and dividend policy 

•	 �The system of internal controls, remuneration 
levels, IT systems and corporate governance 

The discussions included, inter alia, the impact 
of the COVID-19 virus on the business of the 
Company, rent collection, rent concessions, the 
changes in property markets, valuations and rents, 
the impact of the internet, e-commerce, social 
media and digitalisation in general. Also, marketing 
in the various countries, and the Company’s bank 
loans and bank covenants were addressed and 
monitored during the financial reporting period.  
The Supervisory Board was informed of the liquidity 
of the Company on a weekly basis and about the 
cost savings and the funding of the Company. The 
Board was also informed about the continuation 
of the current strategy of the Company and the 
increased focus on digitalisation. Furthermore, the 
contents of press releases, the Annual Report,  
the Interim Report and the quarterly reports  
were discussed. 

In the two August 2019 meetings held in Paris, 
among the items discussed were the draft audit 
report, the dividend proposal, the draft Annual 

Report, and the year’s budget. The auditors also 
attended the meeting in which the annual results 
were discussed, to present their audit findings. 
There was also a separate meeting with the 
auditors attending, but without the Board of  
Management being present. In the meetings, 
attention was also given to reviewing the proposed 
property extensions and disposals, as well as 
reviewing the Company’s property portfolio and  
its markets. Corporate governance was among  
the items discussed.

In the Board meetings in Amsterdam in November 
2019, the portfolio was reviewed, and the 
Company’s strategy, financial ratios, succession 
planning in respect of management and staff,  
the Annual General Meeting and staff training  
were discussed. 

The Board meeting in February 2020, held in 
Stockholm, was focused on the Company’s 
financing, corporate governance and strategy. 
During the discussion on strategy, the Supervisory 
Board and the Board of Management discussed 
several points, including e-commerce, expansion in 
new countries and sectors, the sale and rotation of 
assets and succession planning. The Company’s 
interim results were also discussed, and the 
auditors attended by video conference to present 
their review report and the review process was  
also discussed with the Company’s auditors.  
The Supervisory Board also visited the Stockholm 
office to meet the Swedish team.

Italy was the first country of the Company’s 
portfolio that went into a lockdown. This took 
place in the second week of March and therefore 
the Supervisory Board started immediately with 
weekly video meetings with the Management 
Team to be kept up to date and discuss the latest 
developments in the four countries the Company is 
investing in. During these weekly video meetings, 
which continued until mid June, in particular the 
safety of staff and customers, the rent collection 
and rent concessions, the COVID-19 measures 
including possible government support, the liquidity 
of the Company and the plans for reopening 
the shopping centres were discussed. After the 
lockdowns the video meetings were held every  
two weeks until mid August. 
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The May 2020 Board meeting was held by video 
conference. During this meeting the Supervisory 
Board addressed the impact of the COVID-19 virus  
on the business of the Company and the lockdowns  
in Belgium, France and Italy, the proposal to extend  
the financial year of the Company to 31 December 
2020, the third quarter’s results, the liquidity 
forecast and results forecast for the period ending 
30 June 2020 and the preliminary budget for 
the period afterwards, as well as an update of 
proposed property disposals and a review of the 
portfolio and the markets. In addition to these usual 
items, the binding nomination for the successor of 
the Chief Executive was discussed, as well as the 
composition of the future Board of Management. 
The Supervisory Board also held an internal 
meeting which was not attended by the Board  
of Management.

The Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of  
18 June 2020 had only one voting item: to adopt 
the proposal to amend the Articles of Association 
of the Company in order to extend the financial year 
of the Company to 31 December 2020. Due to all 
COVID-19 measures the EGM was only attended 
by the Chairman, one member of the Board of 
Management and the Company Secretary and 
holders of depositary receipts voted only by proxy.

The August 2020 Board meeting was also held by 
video conference. Among the items discussed were 
the 12 months report, the dividend, the forecast 
for the period ending 31 December 2020 and 
the preliminary budget for the next financial year. 
The auditors also attended the meeting in which 
the results were discussed, to present their audit 
findings. In the meeting, particular attention was 
given to the reporting in respect of rent collection 
and rent concessions. Also the Extraordinary 
General Meeting of Shareholders to be held in 
October 2020 and the disposals, the dividend 
and corporate governance were discussed. 
The Supervisory Board also held a separate 
meeting which was not attended by the Board of 
Management but was attended by the auditors.

The October 2020 Board meeting was held by 
video conference and the Board mainly discussed 
the press release with the fifth quarter results, 

the dividend, the disposal programme and the 
expected lockdowns due to the second wave of  
the COVID-19 virus. 

The Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
of 29 October 2020 adopted unanimously the  
proposal to reappoint by way of a binding nomination  
Mr Evert Jan van Garderen as member of the 
Board of Management and to succeed Mr Jeremy 
Lewis as Chief Executive of the Company. Due to 
all COVID-19 measures only the Chairman, one 
member of the Board of Management and the 
Company secretary attended the meeting and 
holders of depositary receipts voted only by proxy.

The last Board meeting of the financial reporting 
period was held mid December 2020. The 
continued lockdown in Italy and the reopening  
of the shopping centres in Belgium and France 
were discussed as well as the outlook for 2021.  
In addition, the stricter measures as ordered by  
the Swedish government were discussed.

Supervisory Directors also attended by video 
conference closing meetings with the local auditors 
and closing meetings to prepare the 12 months 
accounts for the financial period ending 30 June 
2020 between management and KPMG (and local 
KPMG auditors) held in the month of July. 

All Supervisory Directors attended each meeting 
held during the financial reporting period, with the 
exception of the August 2019 meetings, which one 
member was not able to attend. There have been 
no conflicts of interest.

Advisory role

There has been frequent contact between 
Supervisory Directors and the Management Team, 
through formal and informal meetings, telephone 
calls and written communication. The national 
expertise of Supervisory Directors proved relevant in 
advising the Management Team on country-specific 
matters, in particular in respect of the COVID-19 
impact in the respective countries. Furthermore,  
the Supervisory Board advised on matters relating 
to governance, international financial and economic 
trends such as interest rates and inflation.
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Report of the Board of  
Supervisory Directors continued

Employer’s role

During the financial reporting period, the 
Supervisory Board also concentrated on monitoring 
the updating of the Company’s succession planning 
and reviewed the Company’s plans for succession 
and career development for senior management. 
As a result of these activities, the Supervisory Board 
announced in May 2020 the binding nomination 
of Mr Evert Jan van Garderen to be reappointed 
as member of the Board of Management and to 
succeed Mr Jeremy Lewis as Chief Executive of the 
Company in the Extraordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders in October 2020.

Stakeholder and relationship management

The Supervisory Board established that the 
Company has remained in intensive contact with 
retailers to keep the Company’s shopping centres 
in line with tenants’ needs. The Company actively 
addresses changes in customer behaviour and 
the resulting strategic consequences for further 
developing and expanding the shopping centres. 
This policy has resulted in a well-managed tenant 
mix and high occupancy. Through roadshows 
(partly by video conference), investor conferences 
(in some case also by video) and one-on-one 
meetings, the relationship with the Company’s 
shareholders has been maintained and 
strengthened.

Professional training

During the year, Supervisory Directors participated 
in seminars and courses provided by the big four  
audit firms and major law firms and other institutions.

Supervisory Board education and 
functioning

The Supervisory Board has engaged in a number 
of activities relating to education and representation. 
These activities included following formal education 
programmes, contacts with professional service 
industry and sector associations, pre COVID-19 
country visits and visits to shopping centres and 
various other individual activities.

Diversity

The Netherlands Corporate Governance Code 
requires the Supervisory Board to draw up a diversity  
policy. For the Supervisory Board this policy was 
included in the profile of the Supervisory Board  
and was published on the Company’s website.

Corporate governance

In accordance with the recommendations of 
the Netherlands Monitoring Committee of the 
Corporate Governance Code, a broad outline 
of the corporate governance structure of the 
Company is presented in the Report of the Board of 
Management. In this Report, the Company reviews 
various corporate governance items in compliance 
with the Committee’s recommendation.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of Mr Persson 
(chairman) and Mrs Attout. The Audit Committee 
had three meetings with the auditors of the 
Company as well as two meetings with the auditors 
of the Company in the absence of the Board of 
Management. During those meetings, the Audit 
Committee discussed the report of the auditors,  
as well as the Annual Report and the Interim  
Report and the 12 months report as per 30 June 
2020. The KPMG audit plan was also discussed. 
The Audit Committee reviewed the need for an 
internal audit function and recommended to the 
Board of Management to consider outsourcing 
this function. The audit firm BDO was engaged 
to perform the internal audit function. Although 
the COVID-19 circumstances delayed the 
implementation of the internal audit work, BDO 
has been able to examine the Administrative 
Organisation and Internal Controls of the Company 
and an Internal Audit Charter and internal audit  
plan for the next years has been agreed. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The committee consists of Mr Steins Bisschop 
(Chairman) and Mr Croff. Remuneration of the 
Management Team was discussed in one  
meeting on the basis of the draft updated 
Remuneration Report. The final 2020 Remuneration 
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Report will be posted on the website of the 
Company when this Annual Report is published. 
The combined Nomination/Remuneration 
Committee had numerous contacts and meetings 
regarding various aspects of succession in the 
Board of Management and the Supervisory Board. 
This resulted in the binding nomination in May 2020 
of Mr Evert Jan van Garderen to be reappointed 
as member of the Board of Management for a 
period of four years and to succeed Mr Jeremy 
Lewis as Chief Executive of the Company in the 
Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders in October 
2020.

Summary remuneration report

The purpose of the remuneration policy is to 
attract, motivate and retain qualified executives 
and staff who will contribute to the success of the 
Company. The remuneration policy aims to reward 
management and staff for their contribution to the 
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
The Supervisory Board proposes the remuneration 
policy, and any material adjustments to it, at the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders based on 
recommendations of the Board of Management. 
The Supervisory Board recommends to the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders decisions on all 
aspects of the remuneration of the members of  
the Board of Management, within the scope of  
the remuneration policy. The Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders is invited to approve both 
the remuneration policy and the remuneration  
of the members of the Board of Management.  
At the end of each financial year, the Supervisory 
Board reviews and discusses the remuneration 
of the members of the Board of Management. 
The level of remuneration for the members of the 
Board of Management and other members of 
the Management Team reflects the differences in 
responsibilities of the members, as well as their 
individual performance.

The Company’s remuneration package for 
employees and members of the Board of 
Management comprises the following elements: 

•	Base salary – total annual gross fixed income 
including holiday allowance

•	Short-term variable – annual performance-related 
gross cash bonuses

•	Long-term incentives through a performance 
share plan

Pension and other benefits 

Variable cash bonuses may be granted each year in 
addition to the base salary. Variable cash bonuses 
for Directors and members of the Management 
Team are directly linked to the annual growth in the 
Company’s net asset value, dividend per share and 
the annual relative performance as per the end of 
the financial year of the listed depositary receipts 
of the Company compared with a peer group of 
ten listed retail property companies. There is no 
minimum guaranteed bonus and variable cash 
bonuses are capped at one year’s base salary.  
There are also claw-back possibilities for the Company.

Performance shares granted under the 
Performance Share Plan are also linked to 
the aforesaid metrics, are capped as well to a 
maximum of six months base salary and there is 
no minimum guaranteed number of performance 
shares. Mr Mills has joined a defined benefit 
pension scheme, which is limited by the applicable 
earnings cap. Mr Fraticelli and Mr van Garderen 
joined a defined contribution scheme with current 
annual premiums being capped using a maximum 
pensionable salary.

Supervisory Directors receive a fixed compensation 
only. The remuneration policy for Supervisory 
Directors and Managing Directors has been 
continued during the financial period under review.
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It is proposed for the financial year 2021 to maintain 
the remuneration of the Supervisory Directors 
unchanged at €47,000 for each member and at 
€61,000 for the Chairman and to maintain the  
base salaries for the members of the Board  
of Management, which implies €475,000 for  
Mr van Garderen, €508,000 for Mr Fraticelli and 
GBP 400,000 for Mr Mills. The General Meeting  
of Shareholders to be held on 8 June 2021 is  
invited to approve the proposed remuneration of 
Supervisory Directors and the members of the 
Board of Management.

Composition of the Supervisory Board 

In the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held 
in November 2019, Mrs Karin Laglas was appointed 
as an independent member of the Supervisory 
Board for a period of four years.

Mrs Brigitte Carrière retired from the Supervisory 
Board at her own request for personal reasons 
on 1 November 2020. We are thankful for her 
very valuable contribution to the business of the 
Company during her six years of membership  
of the Board. 

All members of the Supervisory Board are 
independent except for Mr Carlo Croff as his 
firm also acts as the Italian legal counsel to the 
Company. The profile, role and responsibilities of 
the Supervisory Board are laid down in specific 
rules and regulations which are posted on the 
Company’s website. At 31 December 2020, the 
Supervisory Board was composed as follows:

1. Bas Steins Bisschop (71), Chairman, of Dutch 
nationality, was appointed as member of the 
Supervisory Board in 2014 and reappointed in 
2018 for a period of four years. As “advocaat” 
he practised law from 1975 until 2019 in The 
Netherlands and abroad. He is also a (em)  
professor of Corporate Law and Corporate 
Governance at Maastricht University and  
Nyenrode Business University.

2. Emmanuèle Attout (61), of Belgian nationality, 
was appointed as a member of the Supervisory 
Board in 2018 for a period of four years. She was 
a former senior audit partner of PwC Brussels until 
she retired in 2014. Mrs Attout is a non-executive 

board member of several (listed) companies and 
she is a co-founder and director of the Belgian 
NGO “Women on Board”, whose aim is to promote 
women in Boards of Directors. 

3. Carlo Croff (65), of Italian nationality, was 
appointed as a member of the Supervisory Board 
in 2013 for a period of four years and reappointed 
in 2017 for another period of four years. He is a 
senior partner of the leading law firm Chiomenti 
Studio Legale in Milan, Italy which he joined in 1984. 
Following his additional degrees at Cambridge and 
Harvard Universities, Mr Croff has had extensive 
experience advising Italian and international clients 
on legal matters related to banking and real estate.

4. Karin Laglas (62), of Dutch nationality, was 
appointed as a member of the Supervisory Board 
in 2019 for a period of four years. She is currently 
Chief Executive Officer of the largest Dutch 
affordable housing investor Ymere, active in the 
greater Amsterdam area. She is a Supervisory 
Board member of Royal De Vries Yachtbuilders 
(part of Feadship), Supervisory Board member of 
Brink Groep and Supervisory Board member of 
Utrecht University. 

5. Jan-Åke Persson (71), of Swedish nationality, 
was appointed as a member of the Supervisory 
Board in 2013 for a period of four years and 
reappointed in 2017 for another period of four years. 
He was a former senior partner of Ernst & Young 
AB in Malmö, Sweden, until he retired in 2008.  
Mr Persson has had an extensive professional career 
advising major international and Swedish groups. 

Rotation scheme

Under a rota devised by the Supervisory Board, each  
Director will retire by rotation every four years. This 
rotation scheme for the next few years is as follows:

2021: Mr Croff and Mr Persson could be re-elected 
for another two years.

2022: Mr Steins Bisschop could be re-elected 
for another two years and Mrs Attout could be  
re-elected for another four years.

2023: Mrs Laglas could be re-elected for another 
four years.
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Change in corporate governance

Administrative Foundation
In its 15 month results 2019/2020 report published 
on 27 October 2020, the Company announced it 
would modernise the corporate governance of the 
Company and that the Board of Management and 
the Supervisory Board would prepare a proposal 
for a change of the Company’s governance for 
the winding up of the Administrative Foundation, 
to allow all shareholders and holders of depositary 
receipts to decide on the matter in the 2021 Annual 
General Meeting. This proposal has been prepared 
and is published today with the Notice and Agenda 
for the 2021 Annual General Meeting.

Conclusion

We look back on an unprecedented year which 
had many challenges for the Company and 
its Management Team and staff. We take this 
opportunity to express our gratitude to the 
Management Team and all staff for their efforts 
during the financial reporting period. 

Amsterdam, 23 April 2021

Board of Supervisory Directors

1. B.T.M. Steins Bisschop (Chairman)  
2. E.R.G.M. Attout 
3. C. Croff 
4. K. Laglas  
5. J.-Å. Persson

1

3

5

2

4
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Statement of adjusted net equity* 

Statement of consolidated direct, indirect and  
total investment result*
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EPRA performance measures* continued
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EPRA performance measures* continued
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated financial statements continued
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Consolidated statement of financial position
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Consolidated financial statements continued

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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KPMG Accountants N.V., a Dutch limited liability company registered with the trade register in the Netherlands under number 33263683, is a member firm of the global organization of 
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 

 

To: the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Eurocommercial 
Properties N.V. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2020 included in the annual report   

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

— the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Eurocommercial Properties N.V. as at 31 December 2020 and of its result and its 
cash flows for the 18 months then ended, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code. 

— the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Eurocommercial properties N.V. as at 31 December 2020 and of its result for the 
18 months then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

What we have audited 
We have audited the financial statements 2020 of Eurocommercial Properties N.V. (the 
Company) based in Amsterdam. The financial statements include the consolidated financial 
statements and the company financial statements. 
The consolidated financial statements comprise:  
1 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020; 
2 the following consolidated statements for the 18 months ended 31 December 2020: the 

statement of profit or loss, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows; and 

3 the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

The company financial statements comprise: 
1 the company balance sheet as 31 December 2020; 
2 the company statement of profit or loss for the 18 months ended 31 December 2020; and 
3 the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 
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Basis for our opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 
We are independent of Eurocommercial Properties N.V. in accordance with the ‘Verordening 
inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant 
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the 
‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).  
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Audit approach 

Summary 

Materiality  
— Materiality of EUR 15 million 
— 1% of Net Assets 
— Materiality for results from continuing operations before tax : EUR 7.5 million 
 

Group audit 
— Full scope audit of all significant components performed by KPMG auditors 
— 100% of investment property 
— 100% of rental income 
 

Key audit matters 
— Valuation of investment property  
— Acquisition and disposal of investment property 
— Going concern and liquidity risk
 

Opinion 
Unqualified opinion 

Materiality 
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements 
as a whole at EUR 15 million (30 June 2019: EUR 20 million). The materiality is determined with 
reference to net assets. We consider net assets as the most appropriate benchmark because the 
investors consider this to be an important indicator of the company’s value. Materiality 
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significantly reduced compared to last year due to the negative revaluation of investment 
property mainly as a result of the economic consequences of COVID-19.  
 
In addition, we applied a materiality of EUR 7.5 million for results from continuing operations 
before tax. Results from continuing operations before tax is an important measure of the 
performance of the company’s current portfolio, excluding the impact of changes in market value 
of investment property and derivatives and the result from the disposal of investment property. 
  
We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our 
opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons. 
We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of EUR 500 thousand 
which are identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller 
misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds. 

Scope of the group audit 
Eurocommercial Properties N.V. is at the head of a group of components. The financial 
information of this group is included in the financial statements of Eurocommercial Properties 
N.V. 
Our group audit focused on the significant components. The Group manages its investment 
property through its operating companies in France, Belgium, Italy and Sweden. Each of these 
operations is significant in the context of the Group’s financial statements and therefore we have 
used KPMG audit teams in each country to perform an audit of the financial information of the 
operating companies in these countries. The audits performed in these countries covered the 
entire investment property portfolio and the related net property income.  
Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and 
extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for operating companies and issued audit 
instructions to local auditors. As group auditor we were involved in the full-scope audits 
performed by local auditors of the subsidiaries. 
Our involvement included, amongst others, the following 

— issuing audit instructions to subsidiary auditors prescribing the scope of the audit 
procedures to be performed, our risk assessment, materiality to be applied and reporting 
requirements; 

— participation in planning discussions with subsidiary auditors; 

— attending conference calls during the audit with respect to relevant audit matters; 

— attending virtual closing meetings at the subsidiaries to discuss relevant audit findings 
with the subsidiary auditor and country management; 

— follow up on reported audit findings; 

— discussions on reporting of component auditors with country management; and 

— review of the audit files of all significant components to verify the audit work by subsidiary 
auditors has been carried out in accordance with our instructions. 
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In view of restrictions on the movement of people across borders as a consequence of COVID-
19, and also within significantly affected countries, we considered changes to the planned audit 
approach to evaluate the component auditors’ communications and the adequacy of their work. 
According to our audit plan, we originally intended to visit the components in countries France, 
Italy, Belgium and Sweden to review selected component auditor documentation. As this was not 
possible given the restrictions mentioned we have obtained remote access to the audit 
workpapers of the component auditors to perform our file review. We consider these alternative 
communications as sufficient for us to evaluate and conclude on the appropriateness and 
adequacy of the component auditor’s work. In addition, due to the inability to arrange in-person 
meetings with such component auditors, we have increased the use of alternative methods of 
communication with them, including through written instructions, exchange of emails and virtual 
meetings. 
For the remaining components not in scope we performed analytical procedures in order to 
confirm that our scoping remained appropriate throughout the audit. 
As operating companies prepare their financial information for consolidation purposes based on 
local accounting standards, the EU-IFRS adjustments are prepared and processed at group 
level.  

These adjustments and related disclosures relate mainly to: 

— the valuation of investment property at fair value; 
— the valuation of derivatives at fair value; 
— accounting for minority interest; 
— deferred income taxes; 
— equity accounting for the group’s share in joint ventures. 

At group level we have performed, amongst others, audit procedures on: 

— the financial statements of the parent company; 
— the EU-IFRS adjustments mentioned above; 
— the going concern assumption; and 
— the consolidation process and the consolidated financial statements. 

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group components, together with additional 
procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the financial statements. 
The audit coverage as stated in the section summary can be further specified as follows: 

— 100% of investment property; and 
— 100% of rental income. 
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Our focus on the risk of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations 

 
The objectives of our audit with respect to fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations 
are: 
With respect to fraud: 

— to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due 
to fraud; 

— to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud, through designing and implementing appropriate audit 
responses; and 

— to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud identified during the audit. 
 

With respect to non-compliance with laws and regulations: 
— to identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements due to 

non-compliance with laws and regulations; and 
— to obtain a high (but not absolute) level of assurance that the financial statements, taken 

as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error when 
considering the applicable legal and regulatory framework. 
 

The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and non-compliance with 
laws and regulations lies with the Board of Management, with oversight by the Supervisory 
Board. We refer to chapter ‘Risk management and internal controls’ of the Annual Report where 
the Board of Management included its risk assessment and the Supervisory Board report where 
the Supervisory Board reflects on this assessment. 
 

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to 
financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and bribery and corruption. We evaluated 
the fraud risk factors to consider whether those factors indicated a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud. 
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In addition, we performed procedures to obtain an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
frameworks that are applicable to the Company and we inquired the Board of Management and 
the Supervisory Board as to whether the entity is in compliance with such laws and regulations 
and inspected correspondence, if any, with relevant licensing and regulatory authorities. 
 
The potential effect of the identified laws and regulations on the financial statements varies 
considerably. 
 
Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial 
statements, including taxation and financial reporting (including related Company legislation). We 
assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on 
the related financial statement items and therefore no additional audit response is necessary. 
 
Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences 
of non-compliance could have an indirect material effect on amounts recognized or disclosures 
provided in the financial statements, or both, for instance through the imposition of fines or 
litigation. We identified anti-money laundering laws and regulations as an area most likely to 
have such an indirect effect. 
 
In accordance with the auditing standard we evaluated the following presumed fraud risks that 
are relevant to our audit: 

— revenue recognition, in relation to rental income; and 
— management override of controls. 

 
We rebutted the presumed fraud risk on revenue recognition in relation to gross rental income as 
there is limited perceived pressure on management and limited opportunity. Additionally, there is 
little judgement involved as the revenue related to rental income is contractually agreed.  
 
We communicated the identified risks of fraud throughout our team and remained alert to any 
indications of fraud and/or non-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication 
from the group to component audit teams of relevant risks of fraud and/or non-compliance with 
laws and regulations identified at group level. 
 
In all of our audits, we addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including 
evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by management that may represent a risk of 
material misstatement due to fraud. We refer to the key audit matters ’valuation of investment 
property’, that are examples of our approach related to areas of higher risk due to accounting 
estimates where management makes significant judgements. 
 
We communicated our risk assessment and audit response to management and the Audit 
Committee of the Supervisory Board. Our audit procedures differ from a specific forensic fraud 
investigation, which investigation often has a more in-depth character. 
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We performed the following audit procedures (not limited) to respond to the assessed risks: 
— We evaluated the design and implementation of internal controls that mitigate fraud risks.  
— We determined high-risk criteria to select high risk journal entries and evaluated key 

estimates and judgements for bias by the company, including retrospective reviews of prior 
period's estimates. Where we identified high risk journal entries, we performed additional 
audit procedures. These procedures also included testing of transactions back to source 
information. 

— We assessed matters, if any, reported through the company's incident/whistleblowing and 
complaints procedures and the results of management's follow up to such matters. 

— With respect to the risk of bribery and corruption across various countries, we evaluated the 
company's controls and procedures such as due diligence procedures on third parties. We 
considered the possibility of fraudulent or corrupt payments made through third parties and 
use of agents in connection with transactions, obtaining permits, etc. 

— We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. 
— We considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated whether any 

findings or misstatements were indicative of fraud or non-compliance. If so, we re-evaluated 
our assessment of relevant risks and its resulting impact on our audit procedures. 

— We obtained audit evidence regarding compliance with the provisions of those laws and 
regulations generally recognised to have a direct effect on the determination of material 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 
We do note that our audit is based on the procedures described in line with applicable auditing 
standards. In addition to the requirements of the auditing standards we have performed the 
following additional procedures: 
— Evaluated the accessibility of the whistle blower hot line; and  
— Included an element of unpredictability by conducting a public news research  
 
Our procedures to address identified risks of fraud and related to non-compliance with laws and 
regulations did not result in a key audit matter. 
 
We do note that our audit is not primarily designed to detect fraud and non-compliance with laws 
and regulations and that management is responsible for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to errors or fraud, including compliance with laws and 
regulations. 
 
The more distant non-compliance with indirect laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the 
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited 
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with any audit, there 
remained a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 
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Our key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit 
matters to the Audit Committee. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all 
matters discussed. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
Compared to the previous reporting period the key audit matter with respect to Liquidity Risk has 
been added. 
 
Valuation of investment property

Description 
Investment property amounts to €3.8 billion and represent 92% of the Group’s total assets as 
at 31 December 2020.  
Investment property is valued at fair value; therefore, the Group has to make estimates and 
use assumptions to determine those fair values. The fair value is based on appraisal reports 
by independent appraisers, as explained in notes 1 and 13 to the financial statements. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has influenced the availability of reliable market information. 
Independent appraisers in Sweden have determined there was a sufficient level of market 
evidence upon which to base opinions of value as at the valuation date. A number  of external 
valuation reports for properties in Belgium, France and Italy include a material valuation 
uncertainty statement due to the lack of relevant market information. This is applicable to 
approximately 55% of the balance sheet value of Investment property as at 31 December 
2020.  For these properties there is a lower level of certainty and more caution should be 
applied to the valuations than would be the case under normal market conditions. The Group 
evaluated the impact of the uncertainty statements on the valuations and the associated 
disclosures on valuation uncertainties. 
Due to the significance of investment property, representing 92% of total assets, high 
dependency on estimates and assumptions and the estimation uncertainties, we consider this 
a key audit matter. 
 

Our response 
With involvement of KPMG auditors in the Netherlands, Italy, France, Sweden and Belgium, 
we performed the following procedures: 

— assessment of the valuation process with respect to the investment property as at  
31 December 2020, including an evaluation of the design and implementation of 
related internal controls and test of details; 

— local audit teams verified whether lease data provided to the appraisers is consistent 
with the property management systems, considering the impact of COVID-19 on future 
Net Operating Income estimates, and whether any significant changes have occurred 
since providing the data to the appraisers; 

— assessment of the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external appraisal 
firms; 
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— involvement of our property valuation experts to verify the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodology and determine the mathematical accuracy of the valuation 
model; 

— additionally, our property valuation experts verified the appropriateness of key 
assumptions in the valuation process, which consists of estimated rental values and 
yields/discount rates. This includes an assessment of the historical accuracy of the 
assumptions in previous periods, our understanding of the market and market 
developments and a comparison of assumptions and movements therein with publicly 
available data; 

— assessment of the impact of the material valuation uncertainty statements of the 
investment property valuations and related disclosures; 

— discussion of the results of the valuation process and our findings and observations 
with management and the appraisal firms; and 

— evaluation of the adequacy of the related disclosures in note 1 and 13 in relation to the 
requirements of EU-IFRS, including the adequate disclosure of the material valuation 
uncertainty statements in the applicable independent external valuation reports. 

Our observation 
Overall, we consider that the assumptions and related estimates within the valuation of the 
investment property are reasonable and we determined that the related disclosures are 
adequate. 

 

Acquisition and disposal of investment property

Description 
As part of the normal course of business acquisitions and disposals take place. Acquisitions 
and disposals of investment property are significant transactions which are subject to error due 
to the nature of these transactions. Transactions often involve a variable consideration (earn-
outs, rental guarantees, etc.) and are structured as asset deals or share deals (depending on 
tax considerations). In addition to the risk of error, a potential fraud risk is flagged in relation to 
possible illegal payments and use of agents in connection with transactions, obtaining permits, 
etc. 
We selected the following transactions based on size and complexity: 
— Acquisition: Contribution in kind of Inno department store to Woluwe, the Belgian Shopping 

centre, representing a value of EUR 67 million which was completed in exchange for 
shares resulting in a minority shareholder. 

— Disposal: 50% sale of the property Passage du Havre as it is a partial sale. 
Given the size and complex nature of these transactions we consider the accounting for these 
acquisitions and disposals of investment property to be a key audit matter. 
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Our response 
With the involvement of KPMG component auditors in France and Belgium, we performed 
audit procedures in respect of the acquisitions and disposals of investment property to ensure 
these transactions are accurately accounted for. These procedures included obtaining an 
understanding of the purchase or sales contracts and related cash movements, gaining an  
understanding of the variable considerations in the contracts and testing of the accounting 
entries to record the initial purchase or result on disposition. 
In respect of fraud risks related to transactions with investment property, local auditors 
obtained an understanding of management’s anti-fraud controls (for example, counterparty 
due diligence, four-eyes principle, procurement procedures for development/construction 
contracts). 
At group level, we also inspected minutes of Board meetings in which these transactions are 
discussed to verify that the governance around the transactions is appropriate and the 
required approvals are obtained. Due to the complexity of the Woluwe transaction we 
performed additional procedures, such as inquiry with the management’s legal expert, to 
understand the nature of the transaction and the related accounting treatment. 
Finally, we verified whether the disclosures in Notes 1 and 13 to the financial statements in 
respect of investment property transactions are in conformity with EU-IFRS. 

Our observation 
Overall we assess that the results of our procedures on the acquisitions and disposals of 
investment property and the related disclosure in the financial statements  are adequate. 

 

Going concern and liquidity risk

Description 
As part of the preparation of the financial statements IFRS standards require management to  
annually assess its ability to continue as a going concern and appropriately disclose the results 
of its assessment in the financial statements. This assessment includes the possible effects of 
the negative net working capital of EUR 160.1 million and COVID-19 on the Company’s 
liquidity. This going concern assessment has been set forth in note 1b. The COVID-19 
pandemic is an unprecedented challenge for the Company, and poses significant levels of 
uncertainty and pressure on the (forecasted) liquidity of the Company. The resulting market 
circumstances impacted valuations, investment markets as well as the discussions with 
financing institutions to secure liquidity and funding of the Company. Management prepared a 
financial and liquidity risk analysis covering the period up to 30 June 2022 addressing, 
amongst others, future compliance with financing conditions as well as the financing and cash 
requirements to ensure continuation of the Company’s operations. Based on this analysis 
management concluded that there is no material uncertainty to continue as a going concern. 
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Our response 
We considered the going concern and liquidity risk in planning and performing our audit. Our 
procedures included: 
— We considered management’s going concern assessment including COVID-19-related 

sources of risk for the company’s business and financial resources compared with our own 
understanding of the risks. 

— We evaluated whether the assumptions were realistic and achievable and consistent with 
the external and/or internal environment and other matters identified in the audit. We 
applied professional scepticism in this challenge and considered potential management 
bias. 

— We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s cash flow forecasts including a 
base/worst-case scenario and stress-testing on debt covenants. 

— We challenged management’s plans for future actions, and verified the reliability and 
relevance of data used. 

— We inspected supporting documentation such as contracts and underlying calculations. 
— We evaluated of the adequacy of the disclosure about liquidity risk and the related going 

concern assumption as set forth in note 1b to the financial statements 

Our observation 
We found management’s assumptions appropriate and related going concern and liquidity risk 
disclosures in note 1b to be adequate.  

Report on the other information included in the annual report  
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report 
contains other information. Additionally, other information includes the remuneration report. 
Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information: 

— is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and 
— contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained 
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other 
information contains material misstatements.  
By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less 
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.  
The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including 
the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Engagement 
We were engaged by the General Meeting of Shareholders as auditor of Eurocommercial 
Properties N.V. on 3 November 2015, as of the audit for the financial year 2015/2016 and have 
operated as statutory auditor ever since that financial period. 

No prohibited non-audit services 
We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the 
EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities. 

Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements 

Responsibilities of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board for the 
financial statements 
The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the  
financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 
Furthermore, the Board of Management is responsible for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Board of Management is responsible 
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial 
reporting frameworks mentioned, the Board of Management should prepare the financial 
statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Management  
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative  
but to do so. The Board of Management should disclose events and circumstances that  
may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the 
financial statements.   
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.  
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 
may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our 
opinion.  
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in 
the appendix of this auditor's report. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
Amstelveen, 23 April 2021  
KPMG Accountants N.V. 
 
 
 
H.D Grönloh RA 
Partner 
Appendix:  
Description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
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Appendix 

Description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and 
independence requirements. Our audit included among others: 

— identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
the risk resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

— obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control; 

— evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Management; 

— concluding on the appropriateness of the Board of Management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going 
concern; 

— evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures; and 

— evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We are solely responsible for the opinion and therefore responsible to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the financial statements. In this respect we are also 
responsible for directing, supervising and performing the group audit.  
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We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional 
report to the audit committee in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific 
requirements regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities. The information included in this 
additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor’s report. 
We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board we determine the key audit matters: 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the 
public interest. 
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